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JROM  THE Faraway

NEearey. 1937. Oil on
canvas.—Bleached-white ant-
lers branching from the dark
skull fill most of the picture
space. A range of low hills
oceupy what would he the
foreground except that they
are drawn in distant per-
spective—a  faraway desert

landscape  over which  the
) : ;

deer’s skull presides neither

symbolically nor realistically,

an image not susceptible to
interpretation, an ()'Keeffe,
Years ago, she said she had
no theories to  offer. Her
painting, she said, was “like a
thread that runs through all
the reasons for all the other
things that make one's life.”

Georgia O'Keeffe, who
is cighty-six, spends almost
no time thinking about the
past. “You’d push the past
out of your way entirely if
you only could,” she said to
me one morning last fall,
sitting in the open patio of
her house near the Ghost
Ranch, in the New Mexican
high desert, seventy miles
northwest of Santa Fe.
What interested her at the
moment were the wild pur-
ple asters that
abundantly at this time of
the vear, ‘when there has been enough
rain. It was largely because of the pur-
ple asters that after lunch she asked Juan
Hamilton, her young friend and assist-
ant, to take us to the Monastery of
Christ in the Desert, a seventeen-mile
trip over barely navigable dirt roads.
Although the asters at the monastery
were less plentiful than she had remem-
bered them, she spent a pleasant hour
chatting with the Benedictine monks
and admiring the chapel, built in 1965
by George Nakashima and furnished as
austerely as her own house, with split-
log benches, wood carvings by a local
artist, and a gory wooden crucifix in
the Spanish manner. Miss O’Keeffe
had visited the monastery several times,
most recently for the dawn service last
Easter, and the monks were pleased to
see her. On the drive back, houncing
of her
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seat

imperturbably in the rear
Volkswagen bus, she said that it would
be a very simple thing for her to con-
vert someone to Catholicism. “It has
great appeal,” she said. “Not for me; of
course—but I can see the appeal.’

Her voice is quiet and yet clearly

She

audible, was dressed entirely in
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THE ROSE IN THE EYE
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Georgia O’Keeffe

white—a white jacket of some durable
material, a full skirt of the same stuff,
white shoes. Jerrie Newsom, the wom-
an who takes care of her and, in Miss
O’Keeffe’s words, “keeps me alive,”
told me that when people ask whether
Miss O’Keeffe has only one dress, she
explains that “Miss O’Keeffe has a
hundred dresses, but they’re all alike,
except that some are black instead of
white.” The dress suits her, in any
case. A slight, immaculate woman with
white hair tied back in a smooth knot,
she is as handsome today as she was at
twenty-nine, when Alfred Stieglitz be-
gan his famous multiple portrait of her,
now in the National Gallery, in Wash-
ington—a portrait that eventually in-
cluded some five hundred photographs.

During the drive back from the
monastery, she told me how she had
discovered the Ghost Ranch. “I’d been
staying down around Alcalde, cast of
here, for several summers in the nine-
One
was trying to teach me to drive said he
thought I’d like
better than any I'd seen,

T

me up het Lt was

teen-thirties. day, the boy who

knew place he
ind he Enwu“ﬂﬂ

operating as a ui\lli-'

L E S

LOOKED PRETTY FINE

ranch then, Before that, it
had been a working ranch.
I think the story is that a
family was murdered there,
and that from time to time
a woman carrying a child
appears in the original
house—that’s the ghnsr.
Well, I came back a few
days later, alone, and asked
if I could stay. The owners
said that I could stay the
night but that unless some
other guest failed to show
up I'd have to leave in the
morning. That night, a
family moved out—the son
had  developed  appendici-
tis—and I moved in. That
in 1934, and I’ve been
coming up here on the pla-
teau L'VL'I‘_\' summer f-i"cc
then. T knew the minute I
got up here that this was
where 1 would live.” She
bought her own house,
which is about two miles
from the ranch, in 1940,
Some years ago, the Ghost
Ranch was acquired by the
Presbyterian Church, which
now uses it as a conference
center. Miss O’Keeffe has
given the Presbyterians a
sufficiently wide berth. “You know
about the Indian eye that passes over
you without lingering, as though you
didn’t exist?”” she said. “That was the
way I used to look at the Preshyterians
at the ranch, so they wouldn’t become
too frfL’ndl)n”

Although she owns a larger and
more comfortable house in the village
of Abiquiu, sixteen miles south of the
ranch, Miss O’Keeffe has always felt
more at home up on the plateau. The
solitude, the stillness, and the harsh,
dry, splendid landscape are more her
world. Animal skulls and bleached
antlers hang on the walls of her patio,
and rocks picked up on her walks and
camping trips spill in profusion over low
tables and shelves. A few years ago,
when Miss (’Keeffe and several others
were going down the Colorado River—
a week in a pontoon boat, slecping
under the stars every night—nher friend
Eliot Porter, the photographer, found a
particularly beautiful stone, which Miss
(’Keeffe very much wanted for her
collection. Porter said he was keeping
it for his wife. Matters were a trifle
for a time, but then, a few
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weeks later, the Porters came to Miss

O’Keeffe’s house for dinner and pre-
sented her with the stone. “When she
wants something, she makes people
give it to her,” Stieglitz once remarked.
“They feel she is fine and has some-
thing other people have not.”” Not that
she wants many possessions. “I like to
have things as sparse as possible,” she
told me. “If you have an empty wall,
you can think on it better. I like a
space to think in—if you can call what
I do thinking.”

Miss O’Keeffe sometimes feels that
she ought to sell the Abiquiu house and
live permanently at the ranch, “Last
year, Jerrie and T were here into De-
cember,” she said. “Being up here is
one of the best things I know. There is
nothing in this house that I can get
along without.”

1IGHT CoMING oN THE Prains, No. IT.
1917. Watercolor—An impression
of endless dark space under a vault of
sky. A narrow, ragged beam of white
near the bottom suggests the horizon, but
not specifically; in O'Keeffe's work, na-
ture is not so much analyzed as medi-
tated upon, the result being an abstrac-
tion that does not look abstract. When
she painted “Light,” O'Keeffe was living
on the wide, windswept plains of north
Texas, teaching school. “That was my
country,” she wrote in 1919. “Terrible
winds and a wonderful emptiness.”

There is little to indicate why
O’Keeffe should have felt at home in
such a landscape. She was born and
‘brought up in the gentler, wheat-farm-
ing country of southern Wisconsin, the
second of seven children in a moderate-
ly well-to-do family. “My mother’s and
my father’s families had farms that
adjoined, and eventually my father
bought my mother’s property,” she
told me. “They raised all kinds of
things there, even tobacco. I can still
see the enormous loads of hay coming
into the barns in the evening—I’ve
never seen loads of hay like that any-
where else.” On rainy days, their
mother used to read aloud to her older
brother, who had weak eyes. O’Keeffe
always listened, even after she had
learned how to read herself. Her fa-
vorites were stories about the Old
West, “My memories of childhood are
quite pleasant,” she said to me, “al-
though I hated school.” Until she was
twelve, she went to a small rural
school near her home. For a while,
she and two of her
into the town of Sun Prairic once a
week for private lessons in drawing
and painting. Today, she says she can’t
couldn’t

sisters also went

remember a time when she
read music (although she
member taking music lessons), and it

doesn’t

has sometimes scemed to her that sh

might have become a musician. The
family was not a terribly close one, and
she rarely played with her brothers or
sisters. One day when she was ten, she
told her friend Lena, the daughter of
the woman who did the family’s wash-
ing, that she was going to be an artist.
“I have no idea where that came
from,” she said. “I just remember say-
ing it.”

Because the harsh Wisconsin win-
ters seemed to be undermining Mr.
O’Keeffe’s health, the family moved in
1902 to Williamsburg, Virginia. Geor-
gia was sent away to hoarding school
at the Chatham Episcopal Institute
Chatham Hall today—where she was
far from a model student. “I’d go for
long walks in the woods, which wasn’t
allowed, T wouldn’t read my French
lesson aloud to myself three times, as
we were told to do, and in class when
the teacher asked whether T had done

41

it I would say no—that I didn’t have
the time for that. T always had enough
demerits to be expelled if I got one
more. And I never did learn to spell.
My friend Doris Bry says now that
I’ve ruined her spelling because I mis-
spell with such confidence.”

She was going to be an artist. After
graduating from Chatham, she entered
the Art Institute of Chicago, but a seri-
ous bout with typhoid the following
spring caused her to withdraw, and
she spent a long convalescence at home.
In 1907, she enrolled in the Art Stu-
dents League, in New York, where she
won a prize for a still-life painting and
a scholarship to the League’s summer
school at Lake George. O’Keeffe re-
members that at the League she was
ceverybody’s pet. Her hair, which had
only just started to grow in after her
illness, was short and curly—a rare
phenomenon at the time. Any number

“Sure yow're a loser. But yow're a darn good loser.”
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of fellow-students wanted to paint
O’Keeffe, whose strong, clean features
and intensely expressive hands and eyes
would so fascinate Stieglitz a few years
later. She disliked posing, and has oc-
casionally said that her unwillingness to
put others through such an ordeal ruled
out any interest she might have taken
in painting the human face or body.
There was never any question about
her talent. But the slick, academic imi-
tations of European styles then being
taught at the League by William M.
Chase, Kenyon Cox, and others soon
lost all interest for her. “I began to
realize that a lot of people had done
this same kind of painting before I came
along,” she told the art historian Kath-
arine Kuh in 1962, “It had been
done, and I didn’t think I could do it
any better.” O’Keeffe decided to give
up painting, and for the next four years
she did not paint. Instead, she went to
Chicago and became a commercial de-
signer, drawing lace and embroidery
for advertisements. In the summer
of 1912, however, home on a visit
to her family, who had moved from
Williamsburg to Charlottesville, she
was persuaded by one of her sisters to
register for Alon Bement’s summer
art class at the University of Virginia.
Bement was a disciple of Arthur Wes-
ley Dow, the head of the Faculty of
Fine Arts at Columbia University’s
Teachers College. A brilliant art edu-
cator, Dow had known and worked
with Gauguin in France; he was also a
friend of Ernest F. Fenollosa, the great
Orientalist, through whom he had
developed a profound appreciation of
Chinese and Japanese painting. As
(’Keeffe said after studying with Dow
himself, “This man had one dominat-
ing idea: to fill a space in a he_nut]fu]
way.” Bement taught according to
Dow’s principles of design, which for
O’Keeffe proved eventually to be a
way out of the dead end of academic
realism. Bement invited her to come
back the following summer—and for
the three summers after that—to teach
with him at the University of Virginia,
and at Bement’s urging she went to
New York in 1914 to study with Dow.
Until then, she had been carning hf_l'
living as an art supervisor in the public
schools of north Texas.

“T¢ came about because of a girl I
had known at Chatham Institute,”
O’Keeffe told me. “The girls there
all thought I was pretty strange, and
I thought they were pretty strange,
mainly because we spoke so differently.
There was one girl named Alice Be-
retta, from Laredo, Texas, who hated

me—or so I was told. Well, when [

heard that, I bet some of the others

v
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SPRING TRAINS

In spring one notices the trains more,

in their unaging childhood:

the rust-red boxcars, the blue-black coal scuttles on wheels,
stopped a long time, then imperceptibly moving

through the new green lash
of the willows. . . .

T think they will go by the windows of lonely peaked houses
where someone smudged and beautiful

draws one hair back over the seashell of her ear;

and I think they go to the night I once woke to,

dark peaks swinging from side to side of the sky,

and the rapids beneath, shades paler than the snow,

while the Mormon evangelist wheezed in the next chair;
and sometimes I think they go to a secret mountain

in the center of West Virginia

made of coal so black it is everywhere a mirror,
and you never know the moment of passing through.

that T could get her to like me, and T
went to work on Alice. After we left
Chatham, we corresponded. She began
teaching school in Amarillo, and when
the art teacher there left, she suggested
that they hire me, and they did. T was
hugely excited about going to Texas, be-
cause of all those stories that Mother had
read to us. Texas was the great place
in the world as far as T was concerned.

“T got very interested in teaching,”
O’Keeffe went on. “Later, I became
head of the art department of the
normal school in Canyon, about twen-
ty miles away. What I enjoyed was
teaching people who had no interest
in becoming artists, Dow’s teaching
had been based on the idea that the
same principles applied no matter what
sort of work you were doing—pot-
tery, making wallets, anything. He
thought everybody had to use these
principles in everything he did. Dow
gave us exercises in the arrangement
of color and shape, dark and light,
smooth and rough, and so forth. One
of his exercises was to take a maple
leaf and fit it into a seven-inch square
in various ways. Of course, when I
got to north Texas there was nothing

—ALAN WILLIAMSON

like a leaf to use. The only tree around
was the locust, and its leaves were
too small to do anything with., There
was just nothing for the children to
use, and they were too poor to go
out and buy an orange. I’d get them
to draw a square and put a door in
it somewhere—anything to start them
thinking about how to divide a space.
Pretty soon, I got so interested in
teaching I wondered why I should be
paid for it.

“And then, of course, I liked every-
thing about Texas. I didn’t even mind
the dust, although sometimes when I
came back from a walk I'd be the
color of the road. Oh, the sun was hot
and the wind was hard and you got
cold in the winter—I was just crazy
about all of it. I remember one morn-
ing I got up very early to catch a bus
from Amarillo back to Canyon—I sat
up in front with the driver, because the
smell of whiskey and cigars in back
was too awful—and we saw the most
extraordinary sunrise. When we got
to Canyon, I thought maybe that was
something I could paint. It was really
what started me painting again. T
worked in watercolor, because I never
had the time for oils.”

Although much of the new work
looked wholly abstract, it was always
based on something she had seen in the
landscape. The “Light Coming on the
Plains™ series had its origin in what she
often saw in the very early morning,
before the sun rose. “The light would
begin to appear, and then it would dis-
appear and there would be a kind of
halo effect, and then it would appear
again, The light would come and go
for quite a while before it finally came.
It was the same with the trains. You
could see the morning train coming a
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“Charisse, are we

long way off, and then it would dis-
appear, and then you’d see it again,
closer. The country was so flat, but
there were slight depressions in it, and
things would drop out of sight. Any-
way, my teaching schedule was usually
arranged so that I had two hours a day
to myself, and that’s when I used to
paint. Tt was a good time for me. I
was getting very interested in what was
mine.”

apiaToR  BuiLping—NiGHT, NEW
R York. 1927, Oil on canvas.—A tall
black office building with a brilliantly il-
luminated tower and patterns of dark
and lighted windows, part of the precise
nighttime geometry of Manhattan. Col-
ors as intense as neon. On the left, on
top of another building, a big electric
sign spells out the words “ALFRED
StieGLITZ.”

They met for the first time in 1916.
O’Keeffe, of course, had often visited
the Stieglitz gallery at 291 Fifth Ave-
nue. had seen her first Matisses and

Picassos there, and had certainly over-

= iy - -~
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too sophisticated to order some Girl Scout cookies?”

heard Stieglitz talking to other visitors
in his voleanic style, preaching the cause
of modernism and upholding the artist’s
integrity against the multiple corrup-
tions of the age. But they did not ac-
tually meet until the spring of 1916,
when O’Keeffe, learning that Stieglitz
had hung a group of her recent draw-
ings in his gallery without her knowl-
edge or permission, came to make him
take them down. Stieglitz was not even
there the first time she appeared—he
was on jury duty. She returned a day
or so later and confronted him indig-
nantly. O’Keeffe, who has grown ex-
ceedingly tired of this story over the
years, will say only that he managed
to talk her out of removing the draw-
ings. “He was a good talker” is the
way she puts it.

The drawings, which came before
the first Texas watercolors, were the
earliest fruits of her decision, in 1915,
that everything she had painted up
one or

until then was influenced by

mother of her teachers, and that from

then on she would paint only what
was in her head. “I hadn’t thought
before about doing what was in my
head,” she told me. “I hadn’t even
known anything was there. But when
I began to think about it, it seemed
very simple.” The series of charcoal
drawings that she did soon after this
decision were for the most part abstrac-
tions based on forms in nature.
O’Keeffe sent a group of the drawings
to her friend Anita Pollitzer, in New
York, but asked her to show them to
no one else. O’Keeffe had met Miss
Pollitzer in Arthur Dow’s course at
Columbia. She was currently the sec-
retary of the New York branch of the
National Woman’s Party—“a very
lively little person,” in O’Keeffe’s de-
scription, “who used to carry every-
thing under one arm——books, sketch
pad, notes, brush and comb—and who
usually had some paint on her face or
in her very long hair.” Miss Pollitzer
took the drawings straight to Stieglitz,

who looked at them and made his
g — ¥

Vg

ool o B




P

= o Ay

FOR STUDY PURPOSES ONLY. NOT FOR REPRODUCTION.,

The Museum of Modern Art Archives, NY

Collection:

Series.Folder:

Tomkins

[l.LA.41

ADU
3-D SHORIS

44

famous remark “Finally, 2 woman on
paper.” He kept them for several
months, and then exhibited them the
following spring, along with work by
Charles Duncan and René Lafferty,
g A vear after that first meeting, Sticg-
litz. gave her a one-man show——her
first—at 291. (P’Keeffe was in Texas
at the time, teaching, but when she
heard that her show would be the last
ever held at 291—the building was
to be torn down—she took all her
money out of the bank and came East
to sce it. The show had been disman-
tled before she arrived, but Stieglitz re-
hung it for her. Before she went back
to Texas, he also photographed her
for the first ime. The following spring,
Sticglitz offered to pay her living ex-
penses for one year, so that she could
devote herself entirely to painting,

- UPSTAIRS  ‘te g

and that summer O’Keeffe resigned
from teaching and came to New York
to live. She became a member of
Sticglitz’s inner circle, which included
the painters  John Marin,  Arthur
Dove, Marsden Hartley, and, later
on, Charles Demuth and the photogra-
pher Paul Strand. “I met a great many
people,” O’Keeffe said, recalling those
days. “There was Steglitz’s circle, and
there was also the circle around the
Stettheimer sisters—Florine, the paint-
er, and Ettie, the writer, and Carrie,
who built the doll house that they
and their friends decorated, Whenever
Florine finished a painting, she would
nvite everybody in for tea. Nothing in
her house looked as though it had ever
been used. Once, I made this comment
about a red cushion, and Florine said
very indignantly, ‘I sit on it every day!””

e
st (

Another time, I remember, T was sit-
ting there just behind the new paint-
ing, and Marcel Duchamp was in a
chair facing me. I finished my tea,
and Duchamp got up from his chair
and took my teacup from me with
the most extraordinary grace—with a
gesture so elegant that Pve never for-
gotten it.

“Demuth was very elegant, to. He
was also more amusing than any of the
other artists I knew. He had diabetes,
and he would come to New York
from Lancaster, Pennsylvania, where
he lived in a house that had been in his
family since the seventeen-hundreds,
and would eat and drink ecverything
he wasn’t allowed to eat and drink,
and get quite sick. In my memory, he
is the only artist who was any fun to
be with. We were always going to do
a large picture together—a
flower painting—but we never
did. He had a clubfoot, and
the effort of walking must
have been terrible for him—
his collar wilted ¢ven on the
coldest days, The first time we
met him, he was ill and very
thin, and his cars stuck out
from his head like horns, He
always had lunch or dinner
with Stieglitz and me when he
came to town, and we always
enjoyed it.”

When Steglitz  and
O’Keeffe hug;ln their life to-
gether, in 1918, she was thirty
and he was fifty-five. He had
been married; she had not.
In addition to being the great-
est living photographer—the
man who had managed al-
most singlehanded to  revo-
lutionize the medium and
to force its recognition as a
legitimate means of produc-
ing art—he was the center of
the modern-art movement in
America. He often described
his exhibition  galleries—first
291 and Jater the Intimate
Gallery and An  American
Place—as laboratories for ex-
periment  rather than places
where pictures were sold, and
not infrequently he refused
to sell to people whose motives
he mistrusted. “Steglitz liked
the idea of a group,” O’Keeffe
said. “He wanted something
to come out of America—
something really important—
and he felt that you couldn’t
do that alone.” O’Keeffe, for
her part, did not like groups
ind was never comfortable in
them. For almost thirty years,
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- she lived without complaint the kind of

life that Sticglitz’s public role demand-
ed. (They were married in 1924.)
“I never knew how many there would
be for dinner,” she said. “It seemed
as though anyone who was around the
gallery in the late afternoon would
come back afterward.” During those
years, living on the thirticth floor
of the Shelton Hotel and later in an
apartment near the East River on
Fifty-fourth Street, she managed, in
spite of interruptions, to get a con-
siderable amount of painting done.
In the summer, they went to Lake
George, where the large and somewhat
contentious Stieglitz clan came together
in a house filled with Victorian furni-
ture and knickknacks. “There would
be from fifteen to twenty people at the
table, and four times as much food as
anyone could eat,” O’Keeffe recalls.
“It was hard for me to work there,
because I can never bear to have people
around me when 'm working, or to let
anybody see what ’'m doing or say
anything about it until it’s finished.
Stieglitz never could understand that.
Stieglitz did almost all his own pho-
tographic work in the sum-
mer. In the winter, people
were his work.”

Dozens of the people
Stieglitz knew and influ-
enced have tried to write
their impressions of him,
but O’Keeffe feels that
no one has come close to
describing him accurately.
“Stieglitz was a very con-
tradictory person,” she said
last fall. “For example, he
would start out in the
morning saying one thing,
and by noon he would be
saying the exact opposite,
and then in the evening he
would have changed his
mind again. He thought
aloud, you see. He could
become very enthusiastic
about someone’s work and
then forget about it. But he
said everything with such
conviction that people al-
ways believed him. He had
such power with
Stieglitz used words in a

“'()]'(IS.

unique, almost violent way,
which nobody has ever been

when [ really knew I was right T could
often wear him down. I seldom argued
with him, though. He was the sort of
person. who could be destroyed com-
pletely if you disagreed with him. Ac-
tually, for someone who moved in the
world as widely as he did, Stieglitz was
something of a child. You had to hu-
mor him a good deal. When T was first
with him, his breakfast every morning
would be exactly six picces of zwieback
and a cup of cocoa made with water—
and that would be all he had until six in
the evening, There had always been
too much food at his family’s; I think
he reacted against that by never eating
enough,

“The relationship that Stieglitz and
I had was really very good, because it
was built on something more than juse
emotional needs. Each of us was really
interested in what the other was doing.
I think what he did in photography was
one of the great documents of the pe-
riod. Of course, you do your best to
destroy each other without knowing
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it—some people do it knowingly and
some do it unknowingly. But if you
have a real basis, as we did, you can get
along pretty well despite the differ-
ences.”

In a letter to the Sws’s art eritic,
Henry McBride, during the nineteen-
twenties, (’Keeffe described her own
“particular kind of vanity.”” She did not
in the least mind being ignored, she
wrote, “but I don’t like to be second or
third or fourth,” and added, “I like be-
ing first, if I'm noticed at all. That’s
why I get on with Stieglitz. With him,
I feel first. And when he is around, and
there are others, he is the center and I
don’t count at all.” And some years
later, again to McBride: “I see Alfred
as an old man that T am very fond of—
growing older—so that it sometimes
shocks and startles me when he looks
particularly pale and tired. ... Aside
from my fondness for him personally,
I feel that he has been very important
to something that has made my world
for me. I like it that I can make him

able to reproduce. It was
:Lpp:el]ing to me the way
he could tear somebody
to pieces—and that person
would accept it because it
was Stieglitz talking.

“His mind was quicke:
than mine, of course, but

“Nolo contendere.”’
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SEND FOR OUR BOOKLET, "YOUR KEY TO BERMUDA’

| The furhitt;}z for all seasons. “‘iplrane

Tropitone# Furniture Co., Inc.

Saltspray. Sun. Snow. Unruly kids, Nothing can mar the classic
lines of your Aegean furniture. It has a super-tough finish over
rustproof, héavy-gauge aluminum frames. And the heavy vinyl
lacing is uniquely secured. Takes just about anything. Aegean
is only one of five distinctive Tropitone lines of casual
furniféire. All are designed for comfort. And elegance.

exciting colors. Send 25¢ for a complete brochure and a listing
of your nearest dealer.

Sarasota, Florida 33578
Ana, Calif. 92705

feel that I have hold of his hand to~
steady him as he goes on.”

BLAL‘K Iris. 1926. Oil on canvas.—
The first of O’Keeffe's paintings
of greatly enlarged flowers appeared
in 1924, To many people, the swelling
forms and mysterious dark voids bore
unmistakably sexual overtones, and any
number of critics in discussing them
made heavy use of Freud. O’'Keeffe was
offended. She had painted the flower
image big, she later wrote, so that peo-
ple would “be surprised into taking time
to look at it” and would then perhaps see
it as she did, in all its miraculous shape,
color, and texture. “Well,” O'Keeffe
wrote, [ made you take time to look at
what I saw, and when you took time to
really notice my flower you hung all your
own associations with flowers on my
flower, and you write about my flower as
if I think and see what you think and see
of the flower—and I don’t.”

Although O’Keeffe’s work has been
extravagantly praised from the very
outset of her career, she has not been
overly impressed by what critics have
found to say about it. Attempts to un-
cover the sources of her imagery fill her
with amazement. “Sometimes I know
where an image comes from, some-
times not,” she told me. “T think Ar-
thur Dove was that way, too. Often, a
picture just gets into my head without
my having the least idea how it got
there. But I’'m much more down-to-
carth than people give me credit for.
At times, I’'m ridiculously realistic.”

After a pause, O’Keeffe continued,
“I’ll tell you what went on in my so-
called mind when I did my paintings of
animal skulls, There was a lot of talk
in New York then—during the late
twenties and early thirties—about the
Great American Painting, It was like
the Great American Novel. People
wanted to ‘do’ the American scene. I
had gone back and forth across the
country several times by then, and
some of the current ideas about the
American scene struck me as pretty
ridiculous. To them, the American
scene ‘was a dilapidated house with a
broken-down buckboard out front and
a horse that looked like a skeleton, I
knew America was very rich, very
lush. Well, I started painting my skulls
about this time. First, I put a horse’s
skull against a blue-cloth background,
and then I used a cow’s skull. T had
lived in the cattle country— Amarillo
was the crossroads of cattle shipping,
and you could see the cattle coming in
across the range for days at a time. For
goodness” sake, T thought, the people
who talk about the American scene
don’t know anything about it. So, in a
way, that cow’s skull was my joke on

\merican scene, and it gave me
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pleasure to make it in red, white, and
blue.”

To the critics, of course, O’Keeffe’s
skulls signified death, with overtones of
crucifixion, O'Keeffe did not think of
them that way at all. ““The bones,” she
wrote in the catalogue for one of her
New York exhibitions, “scem to cut
sharply to the center of something
that is keenly alive on the desert even
tho’ it is vast and empty and untouch-
able—and knows no kindness with
all its beauty.” When she painted
desert flowers with a skull (“Summer
Days,” 1936), she says, there was no

S —

I sell Acorns. Very special Acorns. symbolism intended. Nor was there
The most livable year-round and vacation homes on the market. in “Horse’s Skull with Pink Rose”
| can show you 30 different Acorn models, each designed to be (1931). O’Keeffe explained to me
. “more house" for you. By featuring open areas, decks and glass, that she had a collection of artificial

we provide living space that is efficient and more interesting.
We build in engineering quality, and we build in flexibility. Room
for options and changes, so the house will be more yours than
ours. And you can enjoy all the excitement, economy, and low
maintenance costs that distinguish Acorn contemporary houses.

flowers, which the Spanish people in
her part of the country used for funeral
decorations. “I was looking through
them one day when someone came to
the kitchen door,” she said. “As I

] I'll put you in touch with our nearest builder-dealer to guarantee :

’ your Acorn home will go up as smoothly as we've planned it to went to answer the daor, I ?t"CIf a pink
~ anywhere in the East. rose in the eye socket of a horse’s skull.
We all work hard to make buying a home uncommonly easy And when I came back the rose mhth;
and fun for you. No hassling.No agonizing. Homes manufactured cye lf’ﬂf“d pretty ﬁlne, 80 {, thought
by Acorn are better homes. I'm proud to sell them. would just go on with that.

: S S2 b conplals Throughout her career, in a kind of

i A ehuring % hierern madeis. counterpoint to the precise, stripped-
&~ ACORN STRUCTURES, INC. down realism of her more familiar

Dept. Y41 + Box 250, Concord, MA 01742 = Phone (617) 369-4111

work, O’Keeffe has continued to paint
abstract or semi-abstract pictures, Ab-
straction, of course, was very much in
the wind when she first began going

gWM,WWMW;“MW to exhibitions at 291.1 Ar;hur Dovbe
: ‘ ; : é/ was painting in a style of pure ab-
i W/W MWM(V%MW%/AWW W’ straction by 1910—whether Dove,
i WMWW&&%# wm in America, or Wassily Kandinsky, in
Munich, got to pure abstraction first
is a matter of critical dispute. O’Keeffe
doesn’t really know how she came
to her own form of three-dimensional
abstraction, characterized by strongly
modelled forms and intense, luminous
color. “What happens is that you pick up
ideas here and there,” she told me.
“If you mention any particular source,
it gives that too much emphasis.” Her
work, in any case, was nothing like the
flat, lyrical abstractions of Kandinsky
or other Europeans. Brancusi, on see-
ing O’Keeffe’s painting, said, “There
is no imitation of Europe here; it is a
force—a liberating free force.”

In recent years, several critics have
come to sece O'Keeffe as an impor-
tant precursor of much contemporary
American art. Eugene Goossen sug-
gested in a 1967 article that O’Keeffe’s
work is in the true line of a native
American aesthetic tradition, which was
rudely interrupted by European influ-
ences as a result of the Armory Show,
— —I1in 1913, but which reémerged during
A rancieco Lthe late nineteen-forties in the explosion

NEW YORK: 979 THIRD AVENUE. SHOV
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of Abstract Expressionism. O’Keeffe
is also seen as having anticipated the
more recent color-field abstraction of
Kenneth Noland, Ellsworth Kelly,
and others. She herself is particularly
interested in Kelly, whose paintings,
composed for the most part of flat,
unmodulated areas of pure color, are
nevertheless based, like O'Keeffe’s, on
natural shapes. “Sometimes I’ve thought
one of his things was mine,” she said
last fall. “Pve actually looked at one
of Kelly’s pictures and thought for a
moment that I’d done it.”

URPLE Hirts NEar Amiquivu. 1935.

Oil on canvas—"T climbed way up
on a pale-green hill and in the evening
light—the sun under clouds—the color
effect was very strange—standing high
on a pale-green hill where I could look
all round at the red, yellow, purple
formations—miles all around—the color
all intensified by the pale grey-green I
was standing on.”"—Q'Keeffe, letter to a
friend.

Georgia O’Keeffe and Rebecca
Strand, an artist who was married to
the photographer Paul Strand, spent
the summer of 1929 in Taos. They
stayed in one of the houses there that
belonged to Mabel Dodge Luhan, the
rich woman who had married an
Indian from the Taos pueblo, and
who liked to be surrounded by artists
and writers. It was the same house
that D. H. Lawrence and his wife,
Frieda, had lived in for a summer.
O’Keeffe had fallen in love with New
Mexico in 1917, when she passed
through Santa Fe with her younger
sister Claudia on a vacation trip to
Colorado. “From then on, I was al-
ways trying to get back there,” she
has said, “and in 1929 I finally made
it.”

Stieglitz continued to spend his
summers, as usual, at Lake George,
but from 1929 on he did so without
(’Keeffe. The separations were pain-
ful for both of them. O’Keeffe was
torn between her obligation to Stieglitz
and her obligation to her work. In
the high, wild desert country of New
Mexico, she felt very close to something
that she had been trying to reach in
painting. “Lake George is not really
painting country,” she remarked last
fall, “Out here, half your work is done
f(ll' \'nll.” ()n&'t‘, ()’l\‘r\'ﬁ»t‘ ‘illggt'hlud
in a letter to Mabel Dodge Luhan that
she sometimes Immtt it necessary to

help Stieglitz by not getting in his way,
and that this was why she came West
in the summer. But the problem was
obviously more complex. “Th lifk
culty in getting out here was enormous,
but [ came,” she told me quietly

T'hat summer of 1929, she painted

il T

|
|
{
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Bermuda gives you

a little more when you
stay at one of these
special resorts.

Sometimes these specially Bermudian resorts are hard to get into,

but they’re worth the wait. They offer you the congenial atmosphere of a
private club—small enough to make your welcome personal, large enough
to give you the finest accommodations, cuisine, service and carefree fun.
Have a little more Bermuda next time, at any one of them.

Horizons in Bermuda.

Atop a hill overlooking

Coral Beach. Luxurious

old Bermuda mansion

with elegant cottages.

Large pool, tennis courts, golf,
marvellous ocean swimming —
and the mood is relaxing.
Representative:

Robert F. Warner, Inc.,

630 Fifth Ave., New York,

JU 6-4500.

Cambridge Beaches.
Charming cottage colony

with white beaches and pool.
Excellent cuisine, calypso
entertainment. Fishing,

sailing, tennis.

Representative:

R. R. Hotel Representatives, Inc.,
1270 Ave. of Americas, New York,
PL 7-4666.

Lantana Colony Club.
Beautiful cottages and
clubhouse on the Great
Sound. Choice cuisine.
Private beach, pool, tennis,
sailing, all water sports.
Representative:
David B. Mitchell,
217 East 49th St.,
New York,
371-1323.

Glencoe.

Sailboats at the door, in
lovely Salt Kettle inlet. Dine
on cove terrace. Sail, swim,
water ski, fish at this
informal waterside inn.
Representative:

David B. Mitchell,

217 East 49th St,,

New York,

371-1323.
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Cristal dArques from France.
Because the French believe what you drink from
is as important as what you drink.

To the French, joie de vivre is
not merely drinking something
beautiful. It's drinking from some-
thing beautiful. And so they bring
us Cristal d’Arques. Frenchlead crys-
tal with clarity. And strength. And
sparkle. Designed in France. Crafted
in France. With the full lead content

(24%) of the world’s great crystal.
And the ring of aSt. Germain church

bell. Now, when wehave something

beautiful to drink, we’ll have some-
thing beautiful to drink it from.
Shown: New Line Wine.Villandry

OnThe Rocks. $15 the set of 6.

*cristal d'Arques

GENUINE LEAD CRYSTAL

by J. G. DURAND

53 Us\ﬂn reques

Vt talc
Millville, N.J. Sold in all bett

the country around Taos, working di-
rectly from nature. “In the evening,
with the sun at your back, that high,
sage-covered plain looks like an ocean,”
she said, “The color up there—the
blue-green of the sage, and the moun-
tains, and the wild flowers—is a differ-
ent kind of color from anything I'd
ever seen, There’s nothing like it in
Texas, or even in Colorado.” Much
to Mabel Dodge Luhan’s annoyance,
O’Keeffe spent only one summer in
Taos. She had discovered the country
to the west—the Rio Grande Valley,
near the little village of Alcalde. “It
was the shapes of the hills there that
fascinated me,” she said. ““The reddish
sand hills with the dark mesas behind
them. It seemed as though no matter
how far you walked you could never
get into those dark hills, although T
walked great distances. I've always
liked to walk. I think I’ve taken a bath
in every brook from Abiquiu to Es-

| panola. Irrigation ditches are fine for

bathing, too. They’re just wide enough
to lie down in. I found I could work in
a place for two days before anyone
bothered me. After two days, people
would turn up and be curious, and
then ’'d move on somewhere else. If
I hadn’t finished, I would come back
in a week and spend two more days.

Blassport's

Card-Carrying Knit,

a marvelously adaptable and
packable dress that wraps to
do superb things for the figure.
In a special blend of acetate
and cotton to wear from now
on. A very Montaldo look

in black or beige printed
with green, white and

red playing cards.

Sizes 6 to 16. $54.

Please add 75¢ for handling.

. montaldos

Charlotte, Winston-Salem, Greensboro, Durha 5
Richmond, Virginia * Denver, Colorado Springs, Coforad c « St. Louis,

Missouri
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I was painting what I saw, as best I
could. Sometimes I succeeded, some-
times not.”

It may be assumed that O’Keeffe
also wanted to keep a certain distance
between herself and the Taos art colo-
ny. She rather liked Mabel Dodge Lu-
han—was amused by her, even when
Mabel was at her bullying worst, Ma-
bel and Dorothy Brett, the painter,
and Frieda Lawrence, who had settled
near Taos after D. H. Lawrence died,
in 1930, carried on a running three-
cornered feud. They had all idolized
Lawrence, and each considered herself
in some way his true muse—a situation
that reached lunatic heights during
their protracted squabble over Law-
rence’s ashes. To prevent Mabel from
stealing and scattering the ashes (as she
claimed Lawrence had wished), Frieda
finally had them mixed with a ton of
concrete and formed into a block.

“Frieda was very special,” O’Keeffe
recalls. “I can remember very clearly
the first time I ever saw her, standing
in a doorway, with her hair all frizzed
out, wearing a cheap red calico dress
that looked as though she’d just wiped
out the frying pan with it. She was not
thin, and not young, but there was

something radiant and wonderful about
her. They were a funny crew over in
Taos. They’d have terrible fights, and
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Come, make friends and memories
on an S.S. Prince George Alaska Cruise.

A cruise on Canadian National's
S.S. Prince George through the Inside
Passage to Alaska is 8 days of sheer
splendour. An unforgettable blend of
shipboard romance and camaraderie.
Gourmet dining and wining. Fiords
and mountains and glaciers and
totem poles and gold rush towns all
spread out before you as you sail
north from Vancouver to Ketchikan,
Juneau and Skagway, with calls at
Wrangell and Prince Rupert on the
way back.

Room 113, CN Station,
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|
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|
|
1150 Station Street, Vancouver, B.C. V6A 2X7 I
|
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This year, the Prince sails from
Vancouver, B.C. every 8 days from
April 26 to October 3. Regular fares
start as low as $390 (Canadian funds)
including accommodation and all
meals. And there are discounts up to
30% on early and late season sailings.

So come, this year, make friends
with Alaska . .. and the Prince. But
please book early through your Travel
Agent or Canadian National Pas-
senger Sales Office.

The S.S. “Prince George" is registered in

C‘\j Canadian National Railways

CN Passenger Sales and Services

Please send me your Alaska Cruise folder.

not speak to one another for days. But
there weren’t that many interesting
people around, so sooner or later they
would make up. Mabel could be pretty
mean, of course. She had the ability to
paralyze a whole room. She would in-
vite a lot of people to her big house and
seat them around in a circle, and they
would be so intimidated by her that no-
body would say a word. And then the
next day Mabel would go on about
how everyone in Taos was so stupid.
Mabel and Tony Luhan really met
their match in each other, I always
thought. Tony stayed top of the heap,
and he did it through silence. Some-
times he'd get mad at Mabel and fling
his blanket around him and say he was
going to go to the puehlo. Mabel al-
ways worried that he’d decide not to
come back. But the time Mabel went
East to have an operation, Tony lay
like a log across her bed for days, miss-
ing her. They needed each other—no
doubt about it,

“One summer, Mabel was going
away on a trip, and she invited me to

| come and use her studio. T thought that

might he nice for a few days, so I went,
but T stayed only one night. The next
day, I went over to the Sage Brush Inn,
near Taos. Well, Mabel came back
early from her trip, and demanded that
I return and stay with her. T explained
that T couldn’t work all day and then
be with people in the evening—it just
wasn’t possible—but T said that if I
had a day when I wasn’t working T
would call her up and come over, I did
call her one day, and Mabel said, ‘Oh,
no, you can’t come. Tony’s invited
the peyote singers here, and we have
too many people already.” Later that
afternoon, Tony came to the inn to
pick me up. T told him what Mabel had
said, and Tony came into my room and
sat down in a rocking chair in the
corner, ‘I go to lot of trouble, get peyo-
te singers,” he said. ‘She no invite my
friend, T not go.” And he didn’t. He
sat there all evening, rocking in that
chair, Mabel was furious.”

O’Keeffe and Tony Luhan were
great friends. Tony used to take Re-
beeea Strand and her on camping trips
to Mesa Verde, Inscription Rock,
the Canyon de Chelly, and other
places. (Mabel had periods of minding
and periods of not minding, accord-
ing to (V'Keeffe.) On oceasion, Tony
cven confided to her his deep feelings
about his wife. Mabel, for her part,
was @ great but rather frustrated ad-
mirer of Sticglitz. “She had known
Sticglitz long before I did, and she al-
ways wanted to get him out there,”
(’Keeffe told me. “He never came,




il vV

e i

FOR STUDY PURPOSES ONLY. NOT FOR REPRODUCTION.

Collection:

Series.Folder:

The Museum of Modern Art Archives, NY Tomkins

I1.A.41

60

The Father
of All Scotch

Now you can enjoy the true taste of Scotch as Scotch began:
The Unblended Taste of the Original. The Glenlivet 12-year-old.

In 1824, when all Scotch was straight, unblended Scotch, The
Glenlivet became the first distillery in Scotland granted a govern-
ment permit to distill. Since then, its consistency, purity of flavor,
delicate bouquet, mellow body and subtle lightness have made it
prized above all.

The Light Heart

of All Great Blends.

If your favorite 12-year-
old Scotch has “blended” on
its label, you may already
have had a hint of us.

For we'rein most of them,
including Chivas Regal.

But now, in limited
quantity and at a premium
price, The Glenlivet will be
available on its own.

Beware!

An old Scottish
tradition allows many
straight scotches to append
the word “Glenlivet” to
their name. But, if LA
you thirst for the .
original, remember
one thing: only
one Glenlivet is
The Glenlivet.

The,.
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which was just as well. He was such
a worrying person—he had the sort
of mind that wouldn’t have let me
drive five miles to market without
worrying.” (His anxietics might have
been understandable. Around Taos,
O’Keeffe’s difficulties in learning to
drive a car were legendary.)

Every fall, O'Keeffe returned to
New York and to Stieglitz, who re-
mained very much the center of her
life. After his death, in 1946, she spent
three more winters in New York, set-
tling his estate and dividing his ex-
tensive art collection among six differ-
ent institutions, including the National
Gallery, the Art Institute of Chicago,
and the Metropolitan Museum. Stieg-
litz had wanted his collection to be kept
together in New York, but she had al-
ways told him that she thought it had
to be divided, and he left the decision
up to her. In 1949, she moved to New
Meszico for good.

Lack Rock with Brug, No. V., 1971,
Oil on canvas.—The smooth,
rounded rock form fills the canvas, near-
ly touching the edges at either side. Black
rock, white ground, blue sky—three sim-
ple colored shapes, The painting hangs on
the end wall of O'Keeffe’'s studio in
Abiquiu. “T felt that I'd done what I
wanted to do in it,” she said. “I don’t
always get what I try for, you know.”

The Abiquiu house was in ruins
when O'Keeffe bought it in 1945, She
had had her eye on the place for
years—ever since she drove by in a car
one day and saw, through a break in
the adobe wall, an enclosed garden and
a tumbledown house. The man who
owned it said he planned to put up a
motel there but would sell for six thou-
sand dollars. Too much. A few years
later, the man died and left the prop-
erty to the Catholic Church; O’Keeffe
was told that she could have it for less,
but by this time she was in the process
of buying the house at Ghost Ranch.
Then the war came, and gas rationing,
and only one trip to town a week to
buy fresh vegetables, and she began to
think again about the walled-in garden
at Abiquiu. It took three years to re-
build the house and make it livable.
The place was roofless and crumbling
to dust. All available building supplies
in the arca were still going to the
atomic facility at Los Alames, and it
was almost impossible, she says, to buy
a nail. By 1949, though, when she
moved West for gnml, the ;\hiqllill
house was ready.

“P’ve never wanted to make it look
Spanish, or Indian, or anything like
that,” she told me. “I wanted it to be
my house.” There is more furniwure
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-
than at the Ghost Ranch, but not
much. O’Keeffe Jives mainly in the
studio, a long white room that used to
be the stable, with wide windows over-
looking the Rio Chama Valley. The
best of her hi-fi systems is in the studio,
and so is a large proportion of her
record collection, which runs to in-
strumental music from the sixteenth
through the nineteenth century. (Mon-
teverdi is a favorite.) Two of her own
paintings hang here—a 1950 abstrac-
tion in blue, black, and white, and the
1971 “Black Rock.” The only other
work of art in the room is a print
by Hiroshige—a snow scene in three
panels—which she keeps covered with
a cloth against fading. Large work-
tables take up one end of the room,
with martters of current interest in neat
piles all over them-—magazines and
books, reproductions, correspondence, a
photograph clipped from a newspaper
of a Viking ship with a prow that rises
to an extraordinary curling peak. The
floor is carpeted in white.

In Abiquiu, O’'Keeffe hecomes man-
agerial. She confers at length with the
cook and with her sister Claudia, who
presides over the well-irrigated garden
that provides all the fruit, vegetables,
and corn for both houses; she answers
the telephone and attends to corre-
spondence. Since her big 1970 retro-
spective exhibition at the Whitney Mu-
seum, there has been an increase in
correspondence with museums and gal-
leries that want her to lend paintings,
which she does rarely and only un-
der the strictest conditions. In the art
world, her reputation now is as high as
it has ever been, or higher, and her
prices have always been impressive. (In
1927, Stieglitz sold an O’Keeffe lower
painting for three thousand dollars and
another painting for six thousand.) Re-
cently, and through no cfforts of her
own, she has become something of an
idol to the new generation of feminists,
whose tactics sometimes cause her to
wonder how they can hope to accom-
plish much, “jumping around .th:\l
wav.” But then O’Keeffe herself has
never had much trouble accomplishing
what she wanted to accomplish. “Deal-
ing with Georgia is very easy, provided
you do exactly what she wants,” a mu-

seum director said last fall.

She has contributed generously to
her adopted village. For some years, she
has helped needy children get [lll'lljl;j]\
school. She has built a gymnasium
for the village, and has given funds
to improve the water system. Except
fnl‘ ()‘K\‘l"ﬁ:\., llh' ~Ilvl'«|\'-|!n11 and
the Catholic priest, the population of
Abiquiu is Spanish-American and In-
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GORDON MAKES THE DIFFERENCE

The Bold and the Beautiful . . . o make you feel that way! In bold and

beautiful colors, bright for spring. Safari shirt-jacket in our Chamden blend,
tailored with a difference. Contour-waist pants in seersucker plaid. Both in
50% polyester, 50% cotton. Sizes 6-18. The shirt-jacket about $25;

the pants, about $24.

7”alvaf? i puts the knit polo shirt under all. 100% nylon.
Sizes 34-40; about $16.

At LORD & TAYLOR., all stores; THE TALBOTS, all stores; REGENSTEINS, Atlanta;
SURREY SHOP, Menlo Park, Calif.; JOHN DOUGLAS, all stores;
or for the store nearest you, write

ciates, 1410 Broadway, New York 10018.

SLIGHLTY HIGHER IN THE WEST
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There is a splendid hotel on a marvelous comer of Park Avenue
where everything's coming up roses and crystal and git,

The great f the ge
Park Avenue at 56th Street, New York, N.Y. 10022. (212) 421-0900.

For reservations, see your travel agent or call Loews Reservations Inc. (LRI toll-free in your area.

r--------------------------1

If you long for the good life, come to Austria, the most European
country. In this jewel of a vacationland, two thirds the size of New York
State, you can find all the marvelous experiences you came to Europe for.

There is history. Austria has more castles and palaces to visit than
any comparable area in Europe.

There are ballets, operas and concerts—a cultural season that goes
full tilt 12 months a year. :

There is scenery. Snow-covered Alps. Mountain lakes. Lush forests
and medieval cities—citadels of the arts.

There is good eating. Austria’s gracious restaurants are known
the world over. The elegant and the rustic. Come to Austria. Mozart,
Beethoven and Johann Strauss lived there and loved it. YouYwill too.

Austrian g
National Tourist O
545 Fifth Avenue,
New York, N.¥. 10017

Please send me the
new colorful brochure
about Austr,

dian. “When I first moved here, the.
children had nowhere to go when it
got dark,” she told me, “They’d play
out in the street in front of the can-
tina until sundown and then some-
times they would come in here to see
me. After a time, I took to sending
them in my car when they had games
with other schools. Once a week, I sent
them to the movies in Espanola. The
boys used to talk a lot about having
a gymnasium, and eventually I had a
gymnasium built, Now those same boys
are grown up and have children of
their own.” A man who knows and
likes O’Keeffe and who lives in an-
ather Spanish-American village some
distance away, insisted years ago on
giving her two large and aggressive
blue chows for protection. She came
to adore the dogs but has never felt
any need for their protective qualities.
“I find the Spanish-American people
very gentle and immensely polite,” she
says.

The sitting room at Abiquiu is fair-
ly luxurious by O’Keeffe’s standards,
There are three comfortable chairs, a
built-in adobe bench with cushions, and
a glass-topped table, which she likes be-
cause, as she says, “it looks as though
it almost didn’t exist.” The end win-
dow faces the garden, and its wide
sill holds some of the choicest rocks
from her collection. On a low table
against the wall are art books and a
small oil by Arthur Dove—an abstrac-
tion called “Golden Sunlight.” Her
own “Sky Above Clouds,” one of the
series that grew out of her travels by
jet plane, fills the wall at the far end.
A delicate black Calder mobile hangs
near the fireplace. It is a cool night—
cool enough for a fire in the rounded,
hivelike little fireplace, where the pifion
logs stand up on end and are ignited
by pifion shavings.

“I think Dove came to abstraction
quite naturally,” O’Keeffe says, reflec-
tively. “It was his way of thinking.
Kandinsky was very showy about it, but
Dove had an earthy, simple quality that
led directly to abstraction, His things
are very special. I always wish I’d
bought more of them, And all the peo-
ple Dove influenced, who are better
known now than he is! The Muscum
of Modern Art never gave him a really
important show—I don’t know why.
Dove used to paint a lot of small pic-
tures, little landscapes, that didn’t look
particularly distinguished at first, but in
them he would get the feel of a particu-
lar place so completely that you’d know
you’d been there.”

O’Keeffe has often said that she does
not much like pictures. When she

=
o
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travels, as she has done extensively

WINE TALK

by Austin,Nichols

Chateai La Garde produces a fine
red wine in a district better known
forits whites.

Ifour man in Graves didn’t know the
district so well, he might have trouble
finding Chateau La Garde. But this
smalland well-hidden estate is precisely
the kind of chateau he tries to discover.

For although Graves is best known
for its white wines, La Garde (owned
by the Bordeaux firm of Eschenauer)
quietly produces one of the area’s rich-
estreds. Itis a full-bodied claret with a
hint of the goiic de terrair, the “earthy
taste, for which red Graves are famous.

At Austin, Nichols, we go out of our
way to select wines like Chateau La
Garde red. That's just part of what
makes us the world’s leading importer
of fine Bordeaux chateau wines.

P rry S
T ke ~ NS
TN NICHOUS X

since Stieglitz’s death, she spends little
time in museums or galleries. The
heights of Machu Picchu, the Lipiz-
zaner horses of the Spanish Riding
School, in Vienna, the ruins of Angkor
Wat—these are the sort of thing she
goes to see, and she is never disap-

pictures I look at,” she said, with an
amused smile, “I’'m very critical. T
don’t seem to have the kind of pleasure
I know a lot of other people have in
pictures. That’s why I was so surprised

because everything there was so excit-
ing to me, Maybe the fact that the pic-
tures had not been cleaned had some-
thing to do with it.

“It’s funny to me that I enjoy Goya
so much,” she went on, after a mo-
ment. “One of the first things I ever
bought was a reproduction of a Goya
in the Metropolitan—I hope it’s still
considered a Goya. Tt’s a portrait of a
man in knee breeches. Goya seems so
foreign to me, and yet I enjoy him as
much as any other Occidental artist.
His prints—a lot of them, anyway—
show some pretty terrible things, things
that usually make me squeamish. But
not the way Goya does them. Of
course, my favorite is Chinese painting.
P’d still say it’s the best that’s been
done.”

She got up to put some more wood
on the fire, When she was in her thir-
ties, she said, she was troubled with
arthritis, but it had disappeared vyears
ago; she thought the secret was in
keeping warm enough. “Now I haven’t
a creak. I suppose that’s remarkable.”

The conversation turned to the
number of letters she gets these days
from young artists and would-be artists
who want to see her and show her
their work. O’Keeffe does not believe
in giving advice, “‘Go home and
work.” That's all I can tell anyone,”
she said. “You can’t help people that
way. I think one of my best times was
when nobody was interested in me.
That may have come from my not be-
ing the favorite child in the family, and
not minding that I wasn’t—it left me
very free. My older brother was a
favorite, and I can remember compar-
ing myself to him and feeling I could
do better. In my case, I never cared
anything at all what other people
thought. T always knew I could earn a

pointed. “But T mentally destroy the ||

when I went to the Prado in 1953— |

N

us here:
' &
Jordan Marsh
Miami, Florida
The Denver
Denver, Colorado
Bullock’s
Los Angeles, California
F. & R. Lazarus
Columbus, Ohio |
H. & S. Pogue Company
Cincinnati, Ohio
Higbee Company
Cleveland, Ohio
William Hengerer Company
Buffalo, New York
Strouss
Youngstown, Ohio
Frost Bros,
San Antonio, Texas
Battelstein’s, Inc.
Houston, Texas
Selber Bros., Inc.
Shreveport, La.

Stewart & Company
Baltimore, Maryland

5 A N s g ol

Maas Bros,
Tampa, Florida

:The
Tasteseter
Colleetion
Sigma Marketing, Ine.

225 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10010

living doing something else besides
p.‘;im‘fn;\ so [ wasn’t worried. T could
just do what I wanted to do, and
i 1{“\]:\" Nave to care \J\;I.” ]“'\'Pi\'
thought. Oh, if I'd followed people’s ad-
vice it would have been ?m;n less. That

-
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dorado
del”’'Mar

HOTEL AND COUNTRY CLUB
P. 0. BOX A, DORADO, PUERTO RICO
Cable: INTINCO Telephone: (809) 796-1515

£l A Robino-Ladd Co

THE ONe ISLaND resort
WwHere you can keerp
ftHe room you pay For.

To begin with, Dorado del Mar is a beautiful resort village in Dorado, Puerto Rico;
complete with hotel, villas, sandy beach washed by an emerald ocean, elegant
dining, and a new, government-supervised casino for action. Plus a challenging
18 hole golf course (considered by many the best in Puerto Rico), tennis courts,
and 2 large swimming pools. With historic old San Juan just half an hour away.

Our rates are commensurate with the luxury . . . and on a par with other
resorts in the Dorado beaches area. But there’s one important difference: if you
like Dorado del Mar enough to return . . . we're sure you will . . . you can actually
buy the hotel room, instead of just spending enough to buy it.

It's a new concept. We call it a CondoHotel . . . and Dorado del Mar is the
first CondoHotel in Puerto Rico.

As in any condominium purchase, you make a down payment and pay clos-
ing costs (less than you'd imagine). Here's the difference: you may use your room
up to 7 weeks a year; the rest of the year, it goes into a rental pool. Of all rents
collected, a percentage goes to you.

Write for complete information. And maybe next time you visit the islands
... you'll keep the room you spend enough money to buy.

This is neither an offer to sell nor a solicitation for an offer to buy. Such an offer may be made only by
Prospectus and at Dorado, Puerto Rico. Not available to residents of any State where prohibited by law.

Dorado del Mar Hotel & Country Club
P. O. Box 5227, Wilmington, Delaware 19808

Please send complete information on Dorado del Mar CondoHotel.

Nameé ———— ——— —— . . et
Address — S e i . See
oty ———————— — . bl i

State — e e Zip
for information call toll free 800/441-9377 anywhere in US.A

man Bement gave me some very good
advice. He told me things to see and
do, and he was very helpful. But if
I’d really done in painting what he
wanted me to do, nobody would ever
have thought anything about me.
“The truth is I’ve been very lucky.
Stieglitz was the most interesting cen-
ter of energy in the art world just
when I was trying to find my way. To
have him get interested in me was a
very good thing. My going to Texas
was lucky, and, of course, my finding
this place. And then, somehow, what [
painted happened to fit into the emo-
tional life of my time—does that sound
right to you? Often, I’ve had the feel-
ing that I could have been a much bet-
ter painter and had far less recognition.
It’s just that what I do seems to move
people today, in a way that I don’t
understand at all. Now and then when
I get an idea for a picture, I think,
How ordinary. Why paint that old
rock? Why not go for a walk instead?
But then I realize that to someone
else it may not seem ordinary.”
O’Keeffe was silent for a time, gaz-
ing at the bare adobe wall beyond the
fireplace. “I just think that some peo-
ple are very lucky,” she said.
—CaLviN TomMKINS

THERE'LL ALWAYS BE AN ENGLAND
| From the London Times ]

A girl aged 16 is to appear at Duns
Sheriff Court, Berwickshire, in March
accused of ill-treating prawns, a charge
brought under the Protection of Animals
(Scotland) Act, 1912,

Eleanor Donoghy, a fish worker, of
Springdale, Tweedmouth, Northumber-
land, is alleged to have ill-treated prawns
by putting them on a hotplate at a fac-
tory and watching them jump about be-
fore they died.

Entering a plea of not guilty at the
court today Mr. Robert Mackay, her
solicitor, challenged the relevance of the
case on two grounds. He claimed that
to be relevant the charge must refer to
animals. Under section 13 an animal was
classed as any domestic or captive ani-
“lill«

Prawns were not mentioned., Under
another section the Act refers to birds,
fish and reptiles in captivity. If a prawn
was a fish he believed the word “cap-
tivity” meant being kept alive in an
aquarium. After referring to the Stand-
ard Natural Book he was convinced a
prawn was not a fish but an insect.

Sheriff James Paterson said if this
were so, the prosecution could have grave
difficulties. Mr. Hamish Stirling, pro-
curator fiscal, said the charge referred
to the cruel ill-treating and torturing of
animals. The question might be whether
a prawn was an animal.

Sheriff Paterson said he would want
to hear expert evidence from a zoologist.
He fixed the trial for March 8.
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: FROM Tk FARAWAY NSARBY, 1937. O0il on cenves, -- Blesched white
entlers brenching from the derk skull fill most of the picture spoce.
A renge of low hills occupy what would be the foreground except that
it is drown in distent perspective, » ferswey desert lendscespe over
which the elk's skull presides neither symbolically nor reslisticslly,
an imege not susceptible to interpretetion, an C'Keeffe. Years ago
she selid she had no theories to offer, !ler peinting, she seid, wes
"1ike & threesd thet runs through sll the reasons for 211 the other

things that meke one's life."

Georgie O'Keeffe, who 1s eighty-six, spends almost no time
thinking about the pest. "You'd push the pest out of your wey en-
tirely if you only could," she said to me éne day last fall, sitting
in the open petio of her house ot Ghost Rench, in the New Mexicen
high desert seventy miles northwest of Ssnte Fe. What interested

her st the moment were the wild purple ssters thet grow in such profusion
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at‘{hﬁ{ time of the yesr, It woes lergely becsuse of the purple asters

thet she esked John Hemiltony the young men who had recently become her

new secﬁ‘m 6&:';“%”"_;%1 assistant to take us out in her

Volkswagen bus to the lMonestery of Christ in the Desert, @ seventeen-mile
‘i‘iﬁiﬂby barely nevigeble dirt roasds, Although the asters at the

monastery were less plentiful then she hed remembered them, she spent

& pleessnt ‘our chetting with the Dominicen monks snd edmiring the

chapel, budlt in 1965 by liekeshime end furnished s spersely es her

own house with split=lot benches, woodcervings by & locel ertist, and

& gory wooden crucifix in the Spenish menner. Miss O'Keeffe had

visited the monsstery seversl times, most recently for the dswn service

last Baster, and the monks were very plecased to see her. On the drive

back, bouncing imperturbebly imn the resr seat, she seid that it would

be @ very simple thing for her to convert someone to Catholicisms

"It hos greast appeal," she ssids "Not for me, of course -- but I

con see the appeal."

Her vidice is quiet and yet clesrly eddible. She was dressed
entirely in white =- & white jocket with pockets, & full skirt of the
aamé durable meteriel, white shoes. Jerrie lewsom, the Spesnish-Americen
women who cooks for her znd takes cere of the house, told me thet when
people ask whether Miss O'Keeffe hes only one dress, she expleins that
wiiss O'Keeffe hes @ hundred dresses but they'fe 2ll slike, except some
are black instead of white." The dress suits her in sny ceses A slight,
{mmaculate women with white heir tied beck in 2 smooth knot, she is as
hondsome todsy as she wes ot thirty, when Stieglitz begen his fomous
multiple portrait of her thet would eventuslly include nearly five hundred

photogrephs, end which no one is sllowed to look at, in the letropolitan
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Husoum, without her permission. O'Keaffe's personsl correspondence with
Stieglitz, whom she merriod in 1924, hes boen sesled until the year 2020,
By this a2nd other meens she preserves her privecy.

During the drive back from the lonastery she told us how she had
discovered the Ghost Hench. "I'd been steying down sround Alcslde, eest
of here, for seversl summers in the nineteen thirties, One dey, the
boy who wes trying to tesch me to drive ssid he knew of @ place he thought
I'd likey end he brought me up here. It wes opersting #s a dude ranch
then, being run by the seme people who started the Bishop's Lodge in
Tesuques Before thet it hed been » working renche Zmx I think the
story iiﬁ/thst 8 femily hed been murdered there, end from time to time
a women cerrying e child esppesrs in the originsl house =-- that's the
ghosts UWell, I ceme beck & few doys lateryslone, and assked if I could
stay. The owners said I could stey the night, but thet unless some
other guest feiled to show up I'd heve to lesve in the mornings Thet
night. o fomily moved out =- the son developed appendicitis =- end I
moved in, £:43 S i deen here eovery summer since then,
I knew the minute I got up on this plasteau that this wes where I lived."

She bought her own house, which is sbout a mile from the rench
itself, in 1940, A few years sgo the Ghost Rench wes sold to the
Presbyterisn Church, which now uses it os @ conference cenger, Iliss
'Keeffe has given the Fresbyteriens a sufficiently wide berth. "You
know about the Indien eye that pesses over you without lingering, es
thought you didn't exist?" she sedds "Thet wes the wey I used to look
at the Fresbyterisns et the rench, sof they wouldn't become too friendly."

Although she owns & lerger ond more comforteble lhiouse in the village
of Abiquiu, sixteen miles esst of the ranch, lliss O'Keeffe has always felt

more at home up here, The sclitude, the stillness, snd the harsh, dry,
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splehdid londscope ere more her world, Animsl skulls end blésched
entlers heng on the walls ofrthecg;;% patio, skemgxwikk end rocks
: amge (Quging e
— picked up on her wafksAagill in profusion over low tables and shelves.
[®)) il duwerik 60 s
A few yeers ogo, own the Colorado River
== ten deys in & pontoon bost, sleepin: under the stars every night ==
ev-
friend Lliot Porter, the photogrepher, found @ perticulsrly
besutiful stone that O'lLeeffe very much wented for her collections
Porter said he wes kceping it for hisc wifes lFetters were a trifle
touchy for e time, but then 2 few weeks loter the Porters came to
0 Leolle's house \ bsg?nIED
\Woﬁ'—ﬁ)inner and presente he stone, to—olléwwifery 'llhen she
wente something she mekes people give it to her," Stieglitz once re-
markede "Thoy feel she is fine ond has something other people have
nots" Not that she wants many possessionss "I like to heve things
@s sporse as possible," she told me., "If you have an empty wall you

can think on it better. I like 2 spece to think in -- if you @en

21l whe () nking,." /
e c;é;;@EL gﬁﬁ&ﬁgiq, Aoindes Al oy bY % f;4§(;>

sad

A

sosg—oi—poliins the Abiquiu house and bt the rench. "Lest
year Jerrie and I were here into December," she said. "Being up here

is one of the best things 1 know, There is nothing in the house that

I cen get elong without,"

LIGHT COMING ON THE PLAINS, NC. II. 1917, Wstercolors = An
impression of endless derk spece under & vsult of skys A norrow,

regged besm of white near the bottom suggests the horizon but not

specificelly; in O'Keeffe's work nature is not so much enslyszed as

meditated upon, the result being on ebstrascttion thet does not loolk

T e o
ks : “_‘. 1 lll'al “l',-
i caiell g A g
11 .b . il
PR - b 48
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abstrect, Wheng she peinted it, O'leeffe hed been living for two
Yeers on the wide, windswept plains of north Texss, teaching school.
"Thet wes my country," she wrote in 1919, "=- terrible winds end @

wonderful emptiness,"

There is little to indicete why she should have felt at home
in such » landscepe, <{he wes born end brought up in the gentler
wheat-farping country of southern Wisconsin, the second of seven
children in @ well-to-do femily. "My mother's end my fether's fomilies
had forms thet sdjoined," she told me, "end eventuslly my father bought
my mother's property. They reised 21l kinds of things there, even

toboccos I can still see the enormous loasds of hey coming into the
barns in the evening -- I've never seen 1oadzqzi_ha ik:)azﬁzaif:;ak
v»-he::'ta.“;I %oir mother used to read eloud to W&m
/ %I/ O'Keeffe lrowed—tlisy—one slways listenec‘-) oven after she had
learned how to read, herself, Her fovorites were stories about the
old Weste.
"My memories of childhood ere quite plesssent," she said, “"although
I hated school.," Until she wos twelve, she went to the locel school
in Sun Prg§g§33q98¥iggffs snd two of her sisters also went into the town
of Madison once a week for privote lessons in drawing pnd music -- todey
she seys she cen't remember 2 time when she couldn't road music, 2nd it has
sometimes seemed to her thet she migh hove become & musiciens The family

wes not @ terribly close one, snd she rarely played with her brothers or

sisters. One day, when she wee ten, she told her friend Lena, the doughter

of the women who did the femily's washing, thet she wes going to be en
ertist, "I have no ides where thet ceme from," she said. "I Just
=~ DS = = =
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remember saying it,"

Caunt) My,
e @ hersh Wisconsin winters seemed to be undermining\ﬁma O'Keoffe's

.@122&3

heelth, a@ the femily move %o Williemsburg, Virginis, Georgie

was sent awey to boarding school ot the Chathem Lpiscopal Institute,
where she wes for from e model student. At the convent school in
Medison thet she hed sttended for a yeer before they moved, she had
been comperstively well-behaved, but at Chathem she devoted & lot of
thought and energy to bresking the rules, "I'd go for long wolks in
the woodsy which wesn't elloweds I wouldn't reed my French 1easSi°¥g
myself@ three times, s we were told to do, ond in class when the

" teacher asked whether I hod done,gz I would sey no, that I didn't have
the time for that, I slweys hed enough demerits to be expelled if I
got one more, And I never did les n to spells. My friend Doris Bry
seys now thet I've ruined her spellinpg becsuse I misspell with such
confidence."

She was going to be an srtist, After gradusting from Chetham she
entered the Art Institute of Chicagv@serious bout with typhoid
the following spring ceused her to withdrsw, and she spent & long con=
valescence st home. In 1907 she enrolled in the Art Students Lesgue in
New York, where she won a'ﬁﬁiis/for still life snd & scholarship to the
League's summer school at Loke George. O'Keeffe romembers that st the
Leszue she wos everybody's pete. IHer heir, which hed only just started

o grow in ofter her illness, wes short end curly, & rere phenomenon at
the time, Any number of fellow students wented to peint C'Keeffe, whose
strong, clesn fesatures and intensely expressive hends end eyes, & few
years later, would so fescinete Stieglitz. She disliked posing, snd hes
occesionally seid thet her unwillingness to put others through such an

ordo: nled out any interest she might heve token in peinting the humen
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face or bodys There wes never any question about &h;gﬂi. talent,

e But the q;;;;;? 8lick, academic imitstions of Luropesn styles then being
teught ot the Lesgue by Williem M, Chese, Kenyon Cox snd others soon
lost 211 interest for her, "I begen to realize," she E%iq:53t3}958513“
Kuh in 1962,"thet o lot of people hed dome this kind of pointing before
I come slongse It hed besn done and I didn't think I could do it eny
better," O0'Keeffa decided to give up peinting, end for the next four
years she did not peint,

She went to Chicego 2nd beceme 2 mommercisl designer, drawing

lace ond embroidery for sdvertisements., In the summer of 1912, however,
home on & visit to her family who hed moved from Willismsburg te
Cherlottesville, she was persuaded by one of her sisters to g register ~

for Alon Bement's summer art cless at the University of Virginie.

Bement wos & disciple of Apthur Wesley Dow, the head of the fine arts

depertment ot Columbis University's Teachers College, and, sccording

to Lloyd Goodrichy "one of the few sophibticeted imerigen art educators

of the time." Dow had known snd worked with Csuguin in Frence, and

he wes @lso @ grest sdmirer of Chinese ond Jeopsnese peintinge. As

O'Keeffe would sey after studying with Dow himself, "This msn had one

sl

dominating ides: to fill space in a besutiful wa%i" Bement teught
according to Dow's principles of design, whic /pro

ed to be for 0'Keeffe

/ 2 way out of, the dead-end of scademic reslism.

‘fg—- 2 AOI& at he-feturmed the following summer =- snd
for 6;2 twe summers ofter thet -- to teech with him et the University

of Virginis, and ot Bement's urging she went to liew York inm 1914 to study
with Dowe In the meonwhile, she esrned her living #s sn srt tescher in
the public pechools of north Texes.

" [J{_’. X ;
'& come sbout beceuse of o girl I hed known et Chathem Institute,"
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O'Keeffe told mes, "The girls there eoll thought I wes pretty strange
end I thought they were pretty strsnge, meinly beceuse we spoke so
differently. There wes one girl nemed Alice Peretta, from Laredo,
Texesy who hoted me, or so I wes told, Uell, when I heard thst, I
bet some of the others thet I could get her to like me, ond I got to
wotk on Alice. After we left Chethem we correspondeds She began
teaching school in Amerillo, snd when the srt tescher there left she
suggested thet they hire me, and they did. I wes hugely excited about

going to Texas, begausy

Whe great place in the world so fer s I wes concerned,

"I got very interested in itesching," 0'Keeffe went on. "After two
yeers in Amerillo I beceme heed of the art depertment of the normel
school in Cesnyon, sbout twenty miles sweys. UWhet I engoyed wes tesching
people who had no interest in becoming artists. Dow's tesching hed been
based on the ides that the seme principles epplied no metter what sort
of work you were doing -- pottery, meking wellets, snything. He thought
everybody had to use these principles in everything they did. Dow gave
us exercises in the orrengement of color and shape, derk and light,
smooth and rough snd so forthe One of his exercises wes to toke a maple
leaf ond fit it into & seven-inch squsre in verious waeys. Of course,
when I got to north Texss there waes nothing like a leaf to use. The only
tree around was the locust, osnd ils leaves were too small to do enything
withe There wes just nothing for the children to use, snd they were too
poor to go out and buy sn orange. I'd get them to drew & squere and
put & door in it somewhere == enything to start them thinking about how
to divide @ spaces FPretty scon I got so interested in teeching I won-
dered why I should be peid for 1ili ite

"And then of course I liked everythin: ebout Texese I didn't even
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mind the dust, elthough sometimes when I ce e back from & welk I'd be
the color of the roesds Oh, the -un wes hot, snd the wind wes hapd,
and you got cold in the winter == I wes just cresy sbout all of its I
remember one morning in Cenyon, I got up very esrly anahiigﬁi'tnxi

to teke me for & drive == I sat up in front with the driver becsuse
the smell of whiskey end cigers in back wes too awful =- and we saw
the most extraordinery sunrise. When we got beck to town I thought
maybe thet wos something I could psint. It wes reelly whet started me
peinting sgein. I worked in watercolor, b csuse I never haed any time
for oils."

Although much of the new work looked wholly abstract, it wes slways
based on something she had seen in the lendscepe. The LIGHT COMING ON
THE PLAINS series ceme out of what éﬁs%‘iilsau‘iin the very earhy morn-
ing, before the Sun rose. '"The light would begin to sppesr, end then
it would diseppesr and there would be @& kind of helo effect, @nd then
it would sppesr egein, The light would come and go for quite g while
before it finelly come, It wes the seme with the treins. You could
see the morning trein coming, # long wey off, and then it would dis-
eppear, ond then you'd sece it agein closer. The country wes so flat,
but there were slight deprescions in it and things would drop out of
gight, Anywey, my tesching schedule was ususlly grrenged so thet I hed
two hours & doy to myself, ond thet's when I used to peint, It was &

good time for me. I wes getting very interested in whet wes mine."
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RADIATOR BUILDING e NIGHT, DEW YORK, 1927, 0il on cenvaes, == A tall

iiiiéélguilding with its brillisntly illuminsted tower end its petterns

of derk end lighted windows, part of the precise nighttime geometry of
dop 0

Henhetten, Colors intense @5 neons On the lem-&'another o2

building, @ big electric sign spells out the words "ALFRED STIEGLITZ."

They met for the first time in 1916. O'Keeffe, of course, had often
visited the Stieglitz gellery at 291 Fifth Avenue, hed seen there the
Rodin drowings, the first Cezennes snd lMatisses snd Picesses to be shown
in Americe) hed almost cerdsinly overhesrd Stieglitsz telking to other
visitors in his volecenic tylo.W the cause of modernism and
upholding the srtist's integrity spsinst the multiple corruptions of
the ages DBut they did not actuslly meet until » spring dey in 1916
when O'Keeffe, leerning thet Stieglitzf hsd hung @ group of her recent
drawings in his gellery without her knowledge or permission, came teo
maoke him teke them down, Stieglitz wes not even there the first time
she ceme down == he wes on Jjury dutye She returned a day or so later
end confronted him indignently, U'Keeffe, who hes grown exceedingly
tired of this story over the yeasrs, will say only thet he monaged to

telk her out of rembving the dreswings. "He wes @ good telker," is the

way she puts it,

/ her head (everythlng she had done before that, she decided showed the in-
aizkaztmxm;mdzmtxzmmmmmwwm;mmm
fluence of one or another of her teachers_,,J

xosmbesmeby{ "I hadn't thought before obout doing whet wes in my head,"

she told me. "I hadn't even known snything wes there, But when I began

o think sbout it, it seemed very simple." The series of charcoal
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drewings thet she did in the fsll of 1915, following this decision,
were for the most pert sbstrections besed on forms in nature, O0'Keeffe,
who was teaching just then st o small college in South Cerolins, sent
@ group of the drewings to her friend inite Pollitzer in New fork, with
instructiens to show them to no omes liss Pollisterf had studied at
the Art Students Lesgue with O'Keeffe., 5he wes currently the secretary
of the New York brench of the Nationsl Women's Perty == "g very lively
little person," in O'Keeffe's description, "who used to casry everything
under ong arm =- books, sketch psd, notes, brush snd comb == snd who
usually had some peint on her faece or in her very long hair." She took
the drawings streight to Stieglitz, who looked st them and msde his
fomous remark, "At lest 2 women on psper," kept them for seversl months,
end theon exhibited them the following spring sleng with work by Charles
Duncen &nd Rend Laffertys By this time O'Keeffe wes bock in New York,
studying with Dow at Teachers Colloges
A yeor leter, Stieglitz Baove her 2 one=womsn show == her first ==
at(2912 O'Meeffe wes in Texss ot the time, teaching, but when she heerd
thot had show wenld be the lest ever hadd st 297 == the building wan poting
to be torn down == she toock 21l her money out of the benk and ceme easst
to see its The show had been dismentled before she arrived, but Stieglits
rehung it for her., IHe slso photogrvphed her for the first time, before
she went back to Texss, The following summer, Stieglitz offered to pay
her living expenses for one yesr so thet she could devote herself entirely
to peinting., O'Keeffe resigned from teaching end ceme .o New York to live,.
She becsme @& member of Uise :tig%ffgfqbircle. which included the
peinters John Marin, Charles lUemuth, frth:;' Dove, end M;rsden lertley,
the ?hotogruphers FPeul Strand end Feul Hevilendy end the critiecs Cherles

Caffin end Morius de Zosyes. "I met & grest meny people," O'Keeffe xmmmkiuct

= e PRI S W= T
5 LTSI _j'__,‘_,h-_'r v
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said, recelling those deyss "There wes Stieglitz's circle, snd there
wes also the circle sround the Stettheimer sisters == Florine, the
peinter, and Ettie, who wrote poetry. Whenever Florine finished a
peinting she would invite everybody in for tes. Nothing in her house
gxmx looked as though it hed ever been useds Once I mede this comment
sbout & red cushion, end Florine seid very indignently, 'I sit on it
every dayl' Another time, I remember, I wes sitting there just behind
the new peinting, and lMarcel Duchomp wes in e chair focing me. I
finished my tes end Duchemp got up from his cheir and took my teacup
from me with the most extrsordinery grece -- with & gesture thet was
so elegent I've never forgotten it.

"Demuth wes very elegant, too. He wes slso mbre smusing then eny
of the artists I knew. He hed diobetes, snd he would come to New York
from Lancester, Pennsylvenis, where he lived in & house thst hed been
in his fomily since 1745, ond he would eet everything he wesn't allowed
to eaty 2nd get quite sick. In my memory he is the only ertist who
was gny fun to be with. We were alwsys going to do & picture together,

\S.Iiﬁ!&i-ﬁﬁiﬂﬁiﬂs' but we never did, He had a club foot, snd the effort
of welking must have beon terrible for him == his collar wilted even on
the coldest doyse. His ears stuck out from his head like horns. Ve
s#lweys hed lunch or dinner with him when he ceme to town, snd we always
enjoyed it."

When Stieglitz snd O'Keeffe were merried in 1924, he wes sixty
and she wes thirty-seven., He had been married beforej she hed not.

In eddition to being the greestest living photogrepher =- the men who
hed mensged almost singlehendedly to revolulionize the medium and to

force its recognition es & legitimete mesns of producing ort ~- he wes

= " a e °£§3£]d“5°£§bed
the center of the modern movement in America, : his
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exhibition gelleries -- first '291' end leter the Intimete Gellery and
An Americen Floce == as leboretories for experiment rather than pleaces
where pictures were so0ld, @nd not infrequently he refused to sell to
people whose motives his mistrusteds "Stieglitz liked the idea of a
groupy" O'Keeffe soid, "He wented something to come out of Americs,
something reelly importsnt, snd he felt thet you couldn't do that slone."
O'Keeffe, for her part, did not like groups end wes never comfortable in
theme For more then twenty yesrs she lived without complsint the kind

of life that Stieglitsz's public role demended, "I never knew how many
there would be for dinner," she saids "It seemed as though anyone who
was sround the gellery in the lete efterncon would come beck wfterwards."
During those years, living on the thirtieth floor of the Shelton Hotel
eand lster in an spertment neer the Lest River on fifty-fourth street, she
managed in spite of interruptions to get @ considersble smount of peint=
ing dones In the summer they went to Lske George, where the lerge and
somewhat contentious Stieglitz clen come together in & house f£illed with
Victorisn furniture snd knicknacks. "There would be from fifteen to
twenty people ot the teble, and four times s much food @s anyone could
eat," O'Keeffe recslls., "It wes herd for me to work there beceuse I

con never bear to hsve people around me when I'm working, or to let eny-
body see what I'm doing or sey enything sbout it until it's finished.
Stieglitz nevef could understend thate. Stieglitsz di%ﬁgfi his own work in
the summere In the winter, people were his work.,"

Dozens of the people he knew snd influenced have tried to write
their imprescions of Stieglitz, but O!'XKeeffe feels that no one hes come
close to describing him eccurately. "Stieglitz wes @ very contradictory
person,"” she seid lest fell, "For exemple, he would steart out in the

morning seying one thing, and by noon he would be saying the exact opposite,

end then in ‘he evening he would heve chenged his mind ageins Iile thought
aloud, you see. ll@ could become very enthusiestic about someone's work,
P R T iy e T . ¥
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anqrthen forget 2ll sbout it., But

(”* B L

he ssid everythin, with such conviction that people slways believed
hims, He had such power with words, Stieglitz used words in unique,
8lmost violent wey, that nobody'aiﬁ ever been able to reproduces It
wes appalling to me the way he could tesr somebody to pieces == and
thet person would accept it becouse it wes Stieglitz tellking,

"His mind wes quicke;f then mine, of course, but when + really
knew I was right I could often wesr him down, I seldom srgued with

him, though, He wes the sort of person who #ould be destroyed com=-

pletely if you disegreed with him, e R

53tﬁ61131, for someone-who corried on in the world as much es he did,
Stieglitz wes something of & child. You had to humor him a good deal,
When I wes first with him, he ate for breskfest every morning exsctly
six pieces ofw/and @ cup of cocos mede with water == snd thet
would be 81l he hed unti! six in the evening. There hed always been
too much food et his family's; 1 thibhk he reascted ageinst that by
never eating enough,

"The relationship Stieglitz and I hod wes reelly very good because
it was built om something more then just emotion2l needs. DBoth of us
were reslly interested in whet the o her wes doings I think what he
did in photography wes one of the grest documents of the period. Of
course, you do your best to d:stroy esch other without knowing it ==
some people do it knbwingly end some do it unknowingly. But if you

have 2 resl besis, a5 we did, you cen get slong anyway."

In & letter to the ew York Sun's art critic, Henry McBride, during
the nineteen twenties, O'Keeffe wrote sbout her own "perticuler kind of

venity." OShe did net in the lesst mind being ignored, she wrote, "but

I don't like to Lo second or third or fourth, I like being first, if
I'm noliced @ 11« Thet's why I get on with Stieglits, With him I
T e
d i T
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feel first, &nd when he is around, and there ere others, he is the
center eand I don't count at s11,"

ind @ few yoors later, sgoin to MeBride: "I see Alfred @s sn old
man thet I em very fond of =- groving older -- so that it sometimes
shocks and startles me when he looks perticulaerly pele end tireds..
Aside from my fondness for him personslly I feel tha. he hes been
very important to something thet hos mede my world for mee I like
it thet I can meke him foel thet I have hold of his hend to steady

him as he goes on."

BLACK IRIS, 1926. 0il on convas, == The first a of her
peintings of grestly enlarged flowers appesred in 1924, the some yeer
she merried Stieglitz. To meny people the m swelling forms
and mysterious derk voids bore unmistakesbly sexusl overtones, and J
any number of critics, in discussing them, mede heavy use ofw

==s:i;:22. O'Keeffe wos offondeds She hed peinted the flower image
bigy o6 she leter exploined, so thet people would "be surprised into
teking time to look st it," end would then perhsps see ih as she did
in ell its mirsculous shespe, color, snd texture, "Well," O'Keeffe
~¥iﬁiﬂiq¢/"1 made you teke time to look at whet I saw snd when you took
time to really notice my flower you hung ell your own essociations with

flowers on my flower ond you write asbout my flower as if I think and see

what you think snd see of the flower == and I don't,"
Although O'Keeffe's work hes been extravegently praised from

the very outsef of her cereer, she hes not been overly impressed by

whot critics have found to say about it, Attempts to uncover the true

—_— i = g .>p,,|‘
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sources of her imegery fill her with apezement, "Sometimes I know
where on imsge comes from, sometimes not," éﬂ%liuﬂat "I think Arthur
Dove wes thet way, too. Often & picture just gets into my head with-
out my having the least ides how it got theres But I'm much more
down=to=garth then people give me credit fors, At times, I'm
ridiculously reslistic.

"I'11l tell you what went on in my so~colled mind when I did my
paintings of snimel skulls," she seid, after » pesuse. "There wes s
lot of telk in New York then =- during the lete twenties and eanly
thirties == sabout the Grest Americen Peintings It wes like the Great
Americen lovel. People wanted to 'do' the Americen scenes I had
gone beck snd forth across the country seversl times by then, end
some of their ideas sbout the Americen scene struck me as pretty

To them the American scene was a broken-down buckboard and a
e ridiculous. ‘& T T nd 4 A

> < U 4, W 4l A o, A o

decayed house.
I knew Americe wes very vrich, very lush, Well, I started peinting

my skulls sbout this time. First I put @ horse's skull ageinst @

blue cloth background, ond then I used & cow's skull, I hed lived

in the cettle country =-- Amerillo wes the crossroeds of cettle ship-
pinggkyou could see the cattle coming in for deys at » times For

Goodness sake, I thought, the people who telk sbout the American scene
don't know snythin sbout it. So in & wey thet cow's skull wes my

joke on the Amerifen scene, snd it geve me plessure to meke it in

red, white, ond blue."

To the ecritics, of course, O'Keeffe's skulls signified death,
with overtones of crucifixiones 0'Keeff%:}HhOﬂcfﬁvn—gﬂqh.i—up—'huiis
snd—oainal bonesia—bho—oourss—oi-hor. long.ualksdomche. did not think
of them that wey st all, "The bones," she wrote in the cetalog to omne

Y 1 _
of ho¥ eiﬁiﬁitions, "sgem to cut sharply to the center of something
n
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that is keenly slive on the desert even though it is vest and empty
end untouchsble -~ and knows no kindness for a1l its besuty." When
she peinted desert flowers with a skull (SUMMLR DAYS, 1936), she says,
there wes no symbolism intended. O'Keeffe expleined to me that she
hed & collection of artificisl flowers, which the Spenish people in
her part of the country used for funerscl decorstions. "I wes looking
through them one day," she ssid, "when someone csme to the kitchen
doors 4As I went to snswer the door I stuck 2 rose down in the eye
socket of a skull. And when I ceme back, the rose in the eye looked
pretty fine, so I i thought I would just go on with that."
Throughout. her csreer, in 2 kind of counterpoint to the precise,
stripped=-down realism of her more femilisr work, O0'Keeffe has continued
to psint asbstrect or semi-sbstract picturess Abstraction, of course,
wes very much in the wind when she first begen going to exhibitions
at '291.' Arthur Dove wes peinting in 2 style of pure abstraction
by 1910 =~ whether Dove, in Americe, or Wessily Kendinsky, in Munich,
got to pilire sbstraction first ib 2 metter of criticsel disputes. O'Keeffe
doesn't reslly know how she ceme to her own form of three-=dimensional
sbstraction, cheracterized by strongly modelled forms and intense,
luminous colore. '"What heppens is thet you pick up idess here and there,"
ghe seides "If you mention eny particuler source it gives that toe much
emphasis." Her work, in any cose, was nothing like the flat, lyrical
abstractions of Kendinsky or other Luropesns. Broncusi, on seeing
C'Keeffe's peinting, sasid, "There is no imitation of HLurope herej it
is e force, @& liberating free force."
In recent years several critics have come to see U'Keeffe as en

important precursor of much contemporery Americen art, Lugene Goossen

suggested in » 1967 srticle thet O'Keeffe's work is in the true line of
¥ = T il .“lil _n ol
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@ native Americen esthetic tredition thet w s rudely interrupted by
suropean influences s 2 result of the Armory Show in 1913, but which
re--merged during the nineteen forties in the explosion of abstract
expressionismes O'Keeffe is slso seen as heving enticipated the more
recent color=-field abstrection of Kenneth Nolend, Ellsworth Kelly,
and others, £She herself is periiculerly interested in Kelly, whose

paintings, composed for the most port of flat, unmodulsted sreas of

pure color, are nevertheless besed, like O'keeffe's, on natursl shepese
"Sometimes I've Q thought one of & his things wes miney" she ssidti l&d c”ﬂ'
"I've actuslly looked at one of Kelly's pictures asnd thought for a

moment thet I'd done it."

PURPLE MOUNTAINS NLAR ABIQUIU, 1935 Oil on convese == "I climbed
way up on @2 pale éreen hill and in the evening light, the sun under
clouds, The color effect waes very strenge, stending on @ pale green
hill whore I could look a8ll around ot the red, yellow, purple formations,
mibdes 21l sround, the colers ell intensified by the psle green I wes

standing on."
(O'Keeffe, lotter to , friend)

Georgls O'Keeffe ond Rebecca Strond, an artist who wos merried to
the photogrepher Faul Strond, spent the summer of 1929 in Teoss They
stayed in ome of the houses there thet belonged to lMabel Dodge Luhen,

& rich bnglishwomen who hed merried sn Indien from the Taos pueblo, and
who liked to be surrounded with artists ond writers. It was the same
house thet D.H. Lawrence and his wife, Friedg, hed lived in the previous
gummer, before going em Lo lMexico. O'Keeffe had fallen in love with

New Mexico in 1917, when she pessed through Sente Fe with her younger
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sister, Claudia, on @ vecetion trip to Colorsdo. "From then on I wes
always trying to get basck there," shd hes said, "end in 1929 I finelly
made it."

Stieglitz continued to spend the summer as ususl at Lake George,
but from 1929 on he would do so without C'Keeffe. The sepsrations
were peinful for them both, O0'Keeffe wes torn between her obligation
to Stheglitz and the obligetion to her work, 3 % ;
country to lew Mexico she felt very close to something thet she hed
be'n trying to reech in peinting, "Loke Gxomgm George is not really

has #0cd
painting country," she ‘rensrled-test-feddy "Out herc) helf your work

is done for you." Once O'Keeffe suggested, in a letter to Habel Daédge
Luhen, that she sometimes found it necessery to help Stieglitz by nct
getting in his wey, esnd that this wes why she ceme west in the summer.
But the problem was obviously more complex. "'he difficulty in getting
out here was enormous,' she lJ w mietly, "but I ceme."

That summer of 1929 she painted the country sround Taos, wor ing
directly from nature., "In the evening," she seid, "with the sun at
your back, thet high, sege-covered plein looks like an oceen, The
color up there, the blue-green of the ssge ond the mountains, and the
wildflowers, is a different kind of color from snything I'd ever seen,

here's nothing like it in Texes or even in Colorddo." MNMuch to Msbel
Dodge 's ennoyonce, O'Keeffe spent only one summer in Taos. She had
discovered the country to the west, the Rio Chems walley near the little
village of Alcelde. "It was the shapes of the hills there thet fes=
cineted me," she said, "The reddish ssnd hills with the derk meses

behind thems It seemed ss though no metter how far you welked you could

never get into those derk hills, although I welked great distoncess I've
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always liked to welks I think I've takem @ both in every brook from
Abiquiu to Lspenole. Irrigstion ditches sre fine for bathing, toos
‘hey're just wikde enough to lie down in. I found I could work in o
place for two deys before enyone bothered me. After two deys people
would turn up and be curious, end then I'd move on somewhere else; ond
if I hedn't finished I would come bacl in » week snd spend two more
deyse I was peinting whet I sav, s best I could., Sometimes I succeeded,
sometimes not."

it mey be surmised thst O'Keeffe 2lso wanted to keep & certein
distance between herself and the Teos art coleonyes She rather liked
lMabel Dodge Luhen == wes amused by herf even when Mabel wes at her
bullying worste lNabel end Dorothy Bre.t, the peinter, and Friede
Lawrencey who had settled near Teos efter DeHs Lawrence died in 1930,
carried on @ running, three-cornered feud, They had oll idolized
Lawrence, #nd each considered herself in some way his true muse, @
situation thet reached lunatic heights during their protrscted squabble
over Lawrence's sshess To prevent lMsbel from stesling snd scattering
the ashes (es she cleimed Lewrence hed wished), Friede finally had them
sunk inside a 3*#?“3 block of concrete, "Friede was very special,”
0'Keeffe receslls. "I con remember kmx very clesrly the first time I
ever sew her, stending in e doorwey, with h r heir sll friszzed out,
wesring @ chesp re  calico dress thet looked as though she'd just
wiped out the frying psn with it. She wes not thin, and not young,
but there wees somethin  redisn® and wonderful sbout her.}/

W'hey were & funny crew over in Tasos," O'Kecffe went on. "They'd
heve terrible fights, ond not spesk to one snother for doyse DBut there
weren't thet meny interesting people sround, so sooner or later they

would meke up. Msbel could be pretty mesan, of course. he had the
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8bility to perslysze @ whole rooms G5he would invite a lot of people to
her big house, snd sest them sround in & circle, end they would be so
intimidated by her theat nobody would say o words, And then the next day
label would go on sbout how everyone in Teos wes so stupide Habel and
Tony Luhen reslly met their mstch in each other, I alweays thought. Tony
stayed top of the heap, and he did it through silence. GSometimes he'd
get med at lMebel, and wrap his blenket sround himy; ond sey he wes going
to go to the pueblos Hsbel slweys werried that he'd decide not to come
backe But then, when Mabel went esst one summer to have sn operation,
Tony lay like & log scross her bed for deys, missing her. They needed
each other, no doubt sbout it,

"One summer Msbel wes going swey on & trip, and she invited me to
come ;;7§nd use her studios I thought it might be nice to be up there
for s few days, so I went, but I only stayod one nights I smelled troublg,
end after the first night I left ond went over to the Sage Brush Inn in
Teoss Well, Mebel did come back early from her trip, end demonded that
I come ‘::; end stey with her. I expleined that I couldn't work all
dey end then be with people in the evening, it just wasn't possible,
but I seid thet if I had a dey when I wesn't working I would call snd
come over. I did eell one dey, ond Mabel seid, '"Oh, no, you cen't come.
Tony's invited the peyote singers here and we heve too meny people al=-
readys' Later thet afternoon, Tomy come to the Inn to pick me ups I
told him whet Mebel hed seid, and Tony ceme into my room and sat down
in e rocking cheir in the corner, 'I go to lot of trouble, get peyote
singers,' he salds 'She no invite my friends I not goe' And he didn't,.
lle sat there 2ll evening, rocking in thet cheir. label was furious.,"

O'lgeffe and Ton; Luhan were grest friends. They went on cemping

tripe together, to the Mese Verde end the Canyon de Chelly and other
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places (Mabel hed periods of minding snd periods of not minding, sccording
to O'Keeffe)s Tony even confided to her on occesion his deep feelings
sbout his wife. Mabel, for her pert, wes & grest but rather frustrsted
edmirer of Stieglitz, "She hed known Stieglitz long before I did,"
Otheeffe soys, "ond she sluays wented to got him out theres ﬁe never
ceme, I wouldn't let hims He wes such e worrying person -- he had the
sort of mind thet wouldn't h?va let me drive five miles to merket without
worrying." (Hia enxioeties s heve been un.erstandable -@! =
eround Teos, O'Keeffe's difficulties in leerning to drive a cer were
1ogendar$.

“very fell she returned to lew York, snd te -t%ﬁ#l%ﬁ;;-u%3~30lfﬁmu%1
Ughe cenber' of her lile. Ifter Stieglitz's desth in 1946, she spent
thr-e more wianters %P!feﬁ“%P*fg settling his estate snd dividing his
extensive art collection smong the letropolitsn lMuseum, the Chicago Art
Institute, snd Fisk University in Neshville ( & choice influenced in
large pert by the fact thet O'Keeffe's friend Cerl Ven Vechten had given
Fisk his collection of musicsl menuscripts)., Stieglitz hed wented his
scollection to be kept together in lNew York, but she had slweys told him
that she thought it should be divided, and he left it to her to do with

8s she thought right. In 1949 she moved to llew Mexico for good.

BLACK ROCK WITH BLULs III, 19704 Oil on cenves., == The smooth,
rounded rocit form fills the canvas, nesrly touching the edges ot either
widee Blsck rock, white ground, blue sky == three simple colored shepes.

The peinting hangs on the end well of ('Kéeffe's studio in Abiquiue She
' 41
| i
bought it beck ot suction recentlybecouse, os she says, I felt I'd done

what I wented to do in it, I don't always get whet I try for, you kmowe"
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The Abiquiu house wes in ruins when C'Keeffe bought it in 1945,

She hed hod her eye on the plsc for yesrs, ever since she drove by
in @ car one dey and sew, through s bresk in the adobe well, an en-
closed garden and some tumbled=down farm buildingses The men who owned
it seid he planned to put up @ motel there, but that he would sell for

six thousand dollars. Too muchs A few years later the ownerf died
end left Eﬂi property to the Cetholic church, anc O'Keeffe wes told she
could At for lessy but by this time she was in the proccss of buying
the house at Ghost Renchs Then the wer cesme, and ges rationing, end
only one trip into town & week to buy fresh vegetsbles, and she begen
to think again sbout the welled-in gerdén st /biquiue She bought it,
ond spent the next three yeers trying to mske kt livable. The form
buildings were roofless anﬁ crumbling to dust. All aveilable building
supplies in the sres werévgoing up to the stomic foeility st Los Alamos,
snd it wes almost impossible, #s she says, to buy & nail, By 1949,
thoughy when she moved west for good, the Abiquiu house wos ready.

"l'ye never wanted to make it look Spanish, or Indian, or snything
like thaty" she told me, "I wented it to be my house." There is more
furniture then at the rench, but not much, O'Keeffe lives meinly in
the studio, @ long, white room that used to be the stoblef, with hﬁg-Lndk.
windows overlooking the Rio Cheme welley., The best of her innumerable
hi-fi systems is in the studiofu and the lion's share of her huge record
collection, which runs to instrumentel music before Begh (llonteverdi is
a favorite)es Two of her own peintings heng here -- an early abmtraction

@10 " Rlele Pref. ™
in blue, black, end white and the ‘recsnt canves in-the—lbieck—reski-senias,
The only other work of srt in the room is @ piint by Hiroshige, @ snow

scene in three penels, which she keeps covered with a cloth apgeinst fading.
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Large work taebles toke up one end of the room, with metters of current
interest in neat piles 211 over them =-- magazines and books, repro=-
ductions, correspondence, 2 photogrsph clipped from » newspeper of &
Viking ship with an prow that rises te en extrsordinery, curling pesk.
T 5300k IR 82 Re et Bl IE SR s oy xat sk ahamaaky

In Abiquiu, O'Keeffe bocomes mensgerisl. (he confers et length
with the cook and with the gerdener (the well-irrigeted gerden pro=
vides o1l the fruit, vegetables, omnd corn for the toble here), answers
the telephone (until & few years ago there wss no 'phone st the ranch),
ettends lLe¢ correspondences Since her big 1970 retrospective exhibition
et the Whitney luseum there has been en increase in correspondence with
museums @gnd gelleries that want her to lend psintings, which she does
rarely end only under the strictest conditions, Iler reputetion now is
es high or higher then it hes ever been, and her prices have slways
been impressive (in 1927, Stieglitz sold an 0'Keeffe flower painting
for ihree thousend dallers end & lendscere for Bix thousend)s Doris
Bry, who scts as her liew Iork agent, sees to it that 0'Keeffe's wishes
are cerried out in sll metters involving sales or losnsy and O'Keeffe's
wishes ore never unclesr. AJAccording to John Bsur, who as director of
the Whitney luseum wes responsible for the 1970 retrospective, "Deeling
with Georgie is very easy provided you do exactly what she wents."

She hes contributed generously to her adopted villsge, Some years
ago she 546Lh; 2 foundstion to help needy children get through high
school, 5She has built a gymnasium for the locel school, and hes given

funds to improve the water system. Except for O€Keeffe and the Catholic

priest, the populstion of Abiquiu is Spenish-Americen and very poors
t.hen I first moved here," she said, "the childroen hed nowhere to go

hen it got dark, They'd plsy out in the street until sundown, end then

N o
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sometimes they would come in here to see me. After o time I took to
sending them in my cer to their gemes with other schools. Once a week
I sent them to the movies in ispenolss The buys used to telk & lot
about having a gymnasium, end eventually L hod o gymnosium builts Now
those seme boys ere grown up end hsve five or six children of their
owne S0 you see, without knowing I wes doing it I reslly bought my
w'y into this villeges" A men who knows and likes ('Keeffe and who
ives in snother Spenish-Americen villege some distonce sway insisted
years ago on giving her two large and egressive chous for ppotection,
She ceme to adore the dogs bul hes never felt any need for their pro=-
tective qualitiess "I find the Spenish=-Amerocen people very gentle
and immensecly polite," she says. "Not at 211 like the Germens in Wis=
consin where I grew upe"
The sitting room st Abiquiu is fairly luxurious by O'Keeffe's
stonderds, There sre three comfortable chsirsy, & built-in adobe
bench with cushions, snd & gless-topped tsble that she likes because,
as she saysy it "looks as though it elmost didn't exists" The end
window feces the gerden, and its wide sill holds some of the choicest
rocks from her collection. On @ low teble sgeinst the well are art
books that people have sent her, end & smsll oil by Arthur Love, en
abstraction celled "Golden Sunlight,” ﬁggxg l;§% 43%%5;9%%% 3tgt3§§x
S;B£9§h2§§%§§x3§i§z§gsg out of her trasvels by jet plene, fills the wall
ot the for end. A delicete, black Cslder mobile hengs hear the fireplece.
It 4ic @ cool night in lote September, cool enough for & fire in the
rounded, hivelike little fireplece where the pinon loges stend up on
end end ore ignited by pinon shevings, ﬁka““d"
¥e
"I think Dove came to sbstraction quite naturelly," C'Keeffe says,

"It wes his wey of thinking, Kendinsky wes very showy about it, but
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Dove hed en earthy, simple quelity that led directly to sbstrection,

I loved his things. I olweys wished I'd bought more of thems And
2ll the people Dove influenced, who are better known now then he is.
The luseum of Hodern Art never geve him & show -- I don't know whye
Dove used to peint @ lot of smell pictures, little lendscapes, thot
didn't look particulerly distinguished at first, but in them he would
get the feel of a2 perticulsr plece so completely thet _od'd know you'd
been there."

O'Keeffe hes often seid thet she does not much like pictures.
When she travels, as she hes done extensively since Stieglitz's death,
she spends little time in museums or geslleries, The heights of Macchu
Picchu, the Lippizen horses of the Spenish Riding School in Vienna,
the ruins of Angkor Wet -- these are the sort of things she goes to
see, ond she is never disappointed, "But I destroy pictures for myself,"
she seid, with an emused cmiles "I'm very criticals I don't seem to
hove the kind of plessure I know & lot of other people heve im pic=
turess Thot's why I think moybe something wes“SUSwBRGEEK with me when
I went to the Fradeo in 1953, becsuse everything there wes so exciting
to mee Maybe the foctx thet the pictures hed not been cleened had
somet:,inc to do with dit.

“It's funny &km to me thet I enjoy Goys so much," she went on,
after ® momente "One of the first things I ever bought wes & repro-
duction of & Goys in the lMetropoliten == I hope it's still considered
a8 Goye == @ porireit of & men in knee britches. Goye seems so foreign

to mo, 2nd yet I enjoy him ss much s eny occidental artist., His
prints, & lot of them snyway, show some pretty terrible things, end
I'm usuelly sque;uishagﬁakauﬁghabout that, but not the way Goye does it,

Of course," rhe sdded, "my fevorite is Chinese peinting. I'd still say

e R
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it's the best thet's been done."

She got up to put some more wood on the fire., When she wes in her
thirties, she seid, she wes troubled with srthritis, but it hed dis-
eppeared years sgog she thoupght the secret wee in keeping warm enoughe
"low I hoven't o ereek, I suppose thet's remerkeble," Ser=mpmeeowbieo
SR - O s elve e

The conversstion turned to the number @f letters she gets these
days from young srtists snd would=be artists who went to see her and
shoatheir worke O'Keeffe does not believe in giving edvice. "Go home
and work," she spids "Thet's a1l I could tell snyone. You con't help
people thet wayég;) I think one of my best times wes when nobody was
interested in me, Exb may have come from not being the fovorite
child in the femily end not mindiﬂg thet I wasn't -- it left me very

: free. !lly S;::;;; older brother wes s favorite, end I cen remember
compering myself to him and feeling I could do betters In my cese I
never cered anything st 8ll what other people thoughte I olways knew
I could earn o living doing something e}se besides peinting, so 1
wasn't worried. I could just do what I wented to doy snd I didn't
have to care whet people thought, Oh, if I'd followed people's advice,
4+ would hsve becn hopelessa Thet men Doment geve me some very good
advices He@ told me things to see and do, ond he was ‘iﬂ—-;very
helpful, DBut if I'd reslly done in peinting what he wented me to doy
nobody would ever have thought enything about me.

"The truth is I've been very lucky. Stieglitz was the most in-
teresting center of energy in the srt world, when I wes trying to find
my weys ‘o heve him get interested in me was a very good thing. My

going to Texss wes lucky, &n of course my finding this pleces. 4A.d
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then somehow, what I ¢id heppened to fit into the emotionel 1life of
my time =- does thaet sound right to you? Often I've had the feoling
thet I could have been 2 much better psinter and had fer less recog-
nitions It's just thet whet I do seems to move people, sometimes,
in & wsey thet I don't understsnd ot sll, Now end then when I get
sn idea for e picture, I think, 'How ordinery. Why psint thet old
rock? Why not o for a welk instesd?' DBut then I reslize that to
someone else it mey not seem ordinary."

O'Keeffe wos silent for e time, gezing ot the bere adobe well
beyond the firepleces "I just think," she seid, "that some people

are very lucky."

= Calvin Tomkins
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Expenses - O'Keeffe profile

!btll, Santa F.. 2 nightl esnse 1}0015
O'Keeffe Catalog , Whitney shoWw eesee 8.00
10/10/73 trip to New Haven, 162 miles plus tolls 18.00

m’mt’ book ssees 7.50
$ 73.65
Calvin Tomkins
ke ts B .
_"'N?;. _ i, . kel I f !
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100 SAN FRANCISCO STREET
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e AR
<“We were never a close family,” Klenert
once said.

Also affected by the settlement were
eight major museums 0’Keeffe had named
as beneficiaries. Four of those museums
had requested to be kept abreast of devel-
opments in the case. In another settlement,
between Hamilton and New Mexico state
officials, Hamilton agreed to give $750,000
worth of artworks to the Museum of New
Mexico/Museum of Fine Arts and the Uni-
versity of New Mexico in lieu of state estate
taxes. Both institutions had been benefici-

120/ ARTNEWS

will ;equire court approval—it is *‘enforce-
able,”’ according to an attorney represent-
ing one of the family members.

Under the agreement, just over 40 major
O’Keeffe works—including five paintings
from the **Jack in the Pulpit’” series—will
be distributed to the eight museums. The
bulk of the remaining estate, including art-
works and real estate (or the proceeds from
their sale), will be distributed to nonprofit
institutions. A foundation will be estab-
lished to oversee the distribution; its board
of trustees will consist of Hamilton, Se-

i lelly, at a standard flat
hourly rate.

Prior to the settlement, Klenert and Se-
bring had charged that Hamilton was an
opportunist who took advantage of
O'Keeffe’s dependency in her old age to
the point that his will and needs predomi-
nated over hers. He unduly influenced
O'Keeffe, the relatives’ court papers
claimed. Hamilton, on the other hand, says
that his friendship with O'Keeffe was “‘the
most important thing in my life.”” He be-
lieves that Sebring was motivated by greed
and says that the driving force behind Kle-

-
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““We were never a close family,” Klenert
once said.

Also affected by the settlement were
eight major museums O’Keeffe had named
as beneficiaries. Four of those museums
had requested to be kept abreast of devel-
opments in the case. In another settlement,
between Hamilton and New Mexico state
officials, Hamilton agreed to give $750,000
worth of artworks to the Museum of New
Mexico/Museum of Fine Arts and the Uni-
versity of New Mexico in licu of state estate
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will require court approval—it is *‘enforce-
able,”’ according to an attorney represent-
ing one of the family members.

Under the agreement, just over 40 major
O’Keeffe works—including five paintings
from the **Jack in the Pulpit’ series—will
be distributed to the eight museums. The
bulk of the remaining estate, including art-
works and real estate (or the proceeds from
their sale), will be distributed to nonprofit
institutions. A foundation will be estab-
lished to oversee the distribution: its board
of trustees will consist of Hamilton, Se-

4 lelly, at a standard flat
hourly rate.

Prior to the settlement, Klenert and Se-
bring had charged that Hamilton was an
opportunist who took advantage of
O’Keeffe's dependency in her old age to
the point that his will and needs predomi-
nated over hers. He unduly influenced
O'Keeffe, the relatives’ court papers
claimed. Hamilton, on the other hand, says
that his friendship with O'Keeffe was *‘the
most important thing in my life.”” He be-
lieves that Sebring was motivated by greed
and says that the driving force behind Kle-
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“We were never a close family,’" Klenert
once said.

Also affected by the settlement were
eight major museums O’Keeffe had named
as beneficiaries. Four of those museums
had requested to be kept abreast of devel-
opments in the case. In another settlement,
between Hamilton and New Mexico state
officials, Hamilton agreed to give $750,000
worth of artworks to the Museum of New
Mexico/Museum of Fine Arts and the Uni-
versity of New Mexico in lieu of state estate
taxes. Both institutions had been benefici-
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Under the agreement, just over 40 major
O’Keeffe works—including five paintings
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be distributed to the eight museums. The
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nated over hers. He unduly influenced
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claimed. Hamilton, on the other hand, says
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most important thing in my life.”” He be-
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once said.

Also affected by the settlement were
eight major museums O’Keeffe had named
as beneficiaries. Four of those museums
had requested to be kept abreast of devel-
opments in the case. In another settlement,
between Hamilton and New Mexico state
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will require court approval—it is *‘enforce-
able,’’ according to an attorney represent-
ing one of the family members.

Under the agreement, just over 40 major
O’Keeffe works—including five paintings
from the **Jack in the Pulpit’” series—will
be distributed to the eight museums. The
bulk of the remaining estate, including art-
works and real estate (or the proceeds from
their sale). will be distributed to nonprofit
institutions. A foundation will be estab-
lished to oversee the distribution; its board
of trustees will consist of Hamilton, Se-
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welly, at a standard flat
hourly rate.

Prior to the settlement, Klenert and Se-
bring had charged that Hamilton was an
opportunist who took advantage of
O’Keeffe’s dependency in her old age to
the point that his will and needs predomi-
nated over hers. He unduly influenced
O’Keeffe, the relatives” court papers
claimed. Hamilton, on the other hand, says
that his friendship with O'Keeffe was *‘the
most important thing in my life.”” He be-
lieves that Sebring was motivated by greed
and says that the driving force behind Kle-
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Also affected by the settlement were
eight major museums O’Keeffe had named
as beneficiaries. Four of those museums
had requested to be kept abreast of devel-
opments in the case. In another settlement,
between Hamilton and New Mexico state
officials, Hamilton agreed to give $750,000
worth of artworks to the Museum of New
Mexico/Museum of Fine Arts and the Uni-
versity of New Mexico in lieu of state estate
taxes. Both institutions had been benefici-
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bring had charged that Hamilton was an
opportunist who took advantage of
O’Keeffe's dependency in her old age to
the point that his will and needs predomi-
nated over hers. He unduly influenced
O’Keeffe, the relatives’ court papers
claimed. Hamilton, on the other hand, says
that his friendship with O’ Keeffe was *“‘the
most important thing in my life.”* He be-
lieves that Sebring was motivated by greed
and says that the driving force behind Kle-
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BY ANDREW DECKER

TheBattle over Georgia OKeeftes
Multimillion-Dollar Legacy

After a ten-month legal conflict involving charges of greed and undue influence, two of the artist’s
relatives and her longtime aide and companion have agreed to rewrite O’ Keeffe's will

EORGIA O’KEEFFE
devoted her life to distilling

in form and color the es-
sence of the world she saw. It is
hard to imagine the forms she
would have given the battle over
her estate, which was valued by
one of the contestant’s lawyers at
between $45 million and $60 mil-
lion. Another appraiser, a promi-
nent dealer, says the works by
O’Keeffe alone in the estate have
a market value of $65 million.
The dispute, which never went
to trial, began in April 1986, a
month after O’Keeffe died in Santa
Fe at age 98, and ended in late
January, when the contestants
reached a binding preliminary
agreement over how the estate
would be disbursed. It pitted
O’Keeffe’s relatives, who had not
been named in her will or the two
codicils to it, against her compan-
jon and aide, Juan Hamilton,
whom she had designated as ex-
ecutor of her estate and its principal

Georgia O’Keeffe, painted in 1908 by Eugene Speicher,
acl dents League in New York.

te at the Art 5t

bring, Klenert's grandson Ray-
mond Krueger and two people with
museum or foundation experience
who have yet to be selected.

The artworks not distributed will
be divided between Hamilton, Kle-
nert and Sebring. Hamilton will re-
ceive several million dollars’ worth
of art plus an executor’s fee of
$70,000, as well as real estate and
literary property, according to one
source who added that the two rel-
atives will each receive $1 million
in art or money—a remarkable
amount considering that through-
out the dispute they, or their law-
yers, had claimed they did not want
anything for themselves.

The laywers will be handsomely
compensated. According to one
source, the four firms representing
the family will receive $1.8 million
if the judge approves the settle-
ment. One of the lawyers is Krue-
ger, who, through his Milwaukee
firm, acted as co-counsel on Kle-
nert’s behalf. The four firms took

3NOVIAT SINIANLS 18V

beneficiary. The family members

on the case on a contingency basis,

are Catherine Klenert, O'Keeffe's 92-year-
old sister, and a niece, June O’Keeffe Se-
bring, the daughter of O’Keeffe’s late
brother Alexius. Sebring stated in a depo-
sition that she had met the artist only twice.
““We were never a close family,’" Klenert
once said.

Also affected by the settlement were
eight major museums O’Keeffe had named
as beneficiaries. Four of those museums
had requested to be kept abreast of devel-
opments in the case. In another settlement,
between Hamilton and New Mexico state
officials, Hamilton agreed to give $750,000
worth of artworks to the Museum of New
Mexico/Museum of Fine Arts and the Uni-
versity of New Mexico in licu of state estate
taxes. Both institutions had been benefici-
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aries under the original will. The state also
agreed not to contest the second codicil,
which had excluded it from the estate.

Although the agreement is not final, or
complete in all details—the final agreement
will require court approval—it is “‘enforce-
able,”’ according to an attorney represent-
ing one of the family members.

Under the agreement, just over 40 major
O'Keeffe works—including five paintings
from the *‘Jack in the Pulpit’’ series—will
be distributed to the eight museums. The
bulk of the remaining estate, including art-
works and real estate (or the proceeds from
their sale), will be distributed to nonprofit
institutions, A foundation will be estab-
lished to oversee the distribution; its board
of trustees will consist of Hamilton, Se-

under which they were to calculate their
fees at a high hourly rate if they were suc-
cessful but would get nothing if the claims
were dismissed by the court. Hamilton paid
his lawyer, Paul Kelly, at a standard flat
hourly rate.

Prior to the settlement, Klenert and Se-
bring had charged that Hamilton was an
opportunist who took advantage of
O’Keeffe's dependency in her old age to
the point that his will and needs predomi-
nated over hers. He unduly influenced
O’Keeffe, the relatives’ court papers
claimed. Hamilton, on the other hand, says
that his friendship with O’Keeffe was *‘the
most important thing in my life.”” He be-
lieves that Sebring was motivated by greed
and says that the driving force behind Kle-
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Georgia O’Keeffe and Juan Hamilton in 1983. Their 14-year friendship, says Hamilton, “seemed to be the most important
thing in my life, certainly the most influential.”

€861 14170 WYITIMs

nert is Krueger. In a telephone interview,
Klenert was vague about why she was con-
testing the will and codicils: she said first
that her sister knew her own mind in 1985
and then questioned whether she was sane
in 1984 when she named Hamilton prin-
cipal beneficiary of her estate.

HE KEY PAPERS IN THE CON-

test over the estate are a 1978 power
of attorney, the 1979 will and the 1983 and
1984 codicils, which amended the will. In
the power of attorney, O’Keeffe made
Hamilton responsible for virtually all her
business affairs—negotiating agreements.
collecting debts, filing suits, managing her
accounts, buying and selling real and per-
sonal property. hiring and firing attorneys
and handling charitable donations. The last
sentence reads, ‘‘This power of attorney
shall not be affected by my subsequent dis-
ability or incompetence.’

O’Keeffe's last will, dated August 22,
1979, provided for the distribution of her
estate, which then included over 100 oil
paintings and over 100 works on paper. real
estate, literary property. cash and liquid in-
vestments, works by her late husband.
Alfred Stieglitz, and personal effects

O’Keeffe provided guidelines for dis-
tributing much of the estate, but she left
many of the decisions to her executor. She
named Hamilton executor, if he qualified.
His fee was 21 works of art by O’Keeffe:
five oil paintings that he could choose from
over 50 that were not committed to specific
institutions and 16 works in other mediums.
If Hamilton did not qualify as executor,
then Gerald Dickler, O’Keeffe's longtime
New York attorney, would act as executor
and receive $200,000 as his fee.

The remaining property was to go to
three sources: Hamilton, institutions to be
named by the executor, and museums
O’Keeffe had specified. Hamilton says that
O’Keeffe wanted her important works to
wind up in major institutions. The will des-
ignates eight museums to receive 52 of her
better known, or ‘‘poster-image,’” works,
as National Gallery of Art 20th-century cu-
rator Jack Cowart terms them. The National
Gallery itself was to receive ten (until now,
the gallery has had only one work by
O’Keeffe). The Art Institute of Chicago and
the Boston Museum of Fine Arts would
receive nine each, the Brooklyn Museum
six, the Cleveland Museum of Art and the
Museum of Modern Art five each, and the

Metropolitan Museum of Art and the Phil-
adelphia Museum of Art four each. All of
the works were oils except for two pastels.
By her death in 1986, however, she had
sold about ten of those works, leaving just
over 40 to be distributed. The executor was
to have the right of redirection: he or she
could give any of the works named as going
to specific institutions to any other chari-
table organization.

A number of Stieglitz’s photographs of
O’Keeffe had been on loan to the National
Gallery, and those were left in Washington.
She donated all her “‘letters, personal cor-
respondence and clippings’ to Yale Uni-
versity, to which she had previously given
papers from the Stieglitz estate.

O’Keeffe's own works that were not
named in the will were to be distributed to
various institutions at the executor’s dis-
cretion, The only stipulation was that the
University of New Mexico and the Museum
of New Mexico/Museum of Fine Arts
should receive unspecified property.

The property in the remaining estate, in-
cluding works by artists other than herself,
was to go to charities named by the exec-
utor. Any of it could be sold and the pro-
ceeds donated to charitable institutions.

ApriL 19877121
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The Abiquiu home was bequeathed to the
National Parks Service or to the National
Trust for Historic Preservation.

Hamilton was also named a beneficiary.
He received her house on land adjoining
the Ghost Ranch Conference Center, a
Presbyterian retreat. Along with the prop-
erty came all the furnishings and the kiln,
as well as all personal property, including
her books, dogs and cars. Further, she gave
Hamilton the remainder of her writings and
papers—those that did not go to Yale Uni-
versity—""together with all copyrights
thereon and rights of publication thereto.’
She also left him the copyright and royalties
from her book, Georgia O'Keeffe, which
was published by Viking Press in 1976,

Nearly four and a half years
later, on November 2, 1983,
O’Keeffe modified her will for
the first time. The adjustments
were minor. First, she no longer
left her Abiquiu home to a na-
tional group for designation as
a monument. Hamilton says
that O'Keeffe realized people in
Abiquiu felt that an influx of
sightseers would change the
quality of the small village. The
second change gave to Hamil-
ton outright the 21 works he
would have received as execu-
tor’s fee and also provided that
as executor he would receive
$200,000 in fees.

The second codicil, dated
November 8, 1984, changed
the shape of O’Keeffe’'s be-
quests drastically and increased
Hamilton’s share in the estate
from about ten to about 70 per-
cent, according to Charles
Olmsted, co-counsel for Kle-
nert. The bequests to the eight
named museums were made un-
alterable: the executor no
longer had the right to redesig-
nate the gifts. However, Ham-
ilton now received not only the
Ghost Ranch property, the 21
works, the $200,000 executor’s

over 20 sculptures—was appraised by New
York dealer Eugene V. Thaw at
$16,275,825 after a blockage discount, a
reduction allowed by the Internal Revenue
Service on the assumption that if a large
number of an artist’s works are placed on
the market simultaneously, their value will
decline. The landmark case that established
the discount involved sculptor David
Smith’s estate, and in that case the IRS
allowed a discount of 37 percent. Thaw's
appraisal provided a discount of 75 percent,
from a retail figure of $65,130,300.

HE DAY AFTER O'KEEFFE DIED
—March 7, 1986, a Friday—Robert
P. Worcester, a lawyer with O'Keeffe's

0O’Keeffe in 1918, in one of the many photographs of her
taken by her husband, Alfred Stieglitz.

sole surviving sibling—Klenert's daughter
Denise Catherine Krueger and Krueger’'s
son, attorney Raymond Krueger, all noti-
fied the court that they would contest the
two codicils. On the same day, the state-
run Museum of New Mexico/Museum of
Fine Arts and the University of New Mex-
ico came to an agreement with Hamilton
concerning artworks the state would re-
ceive, According to an affidavit filed by
New Mexico assistant attorney general Car-
olyn Wolf, the agreement provided that
Hamilton, as executor, would give the state
$1.5 million worth of O'Keeffe's works.
In return, the state accepted the works in
lieu of state estate taxes (New Mexico is
one of the few states that allow this) and
agreed not to contest the 1984
codicil, in which it was written
out of the will. Although the
1979 will specified that both the
museum and the university
should receive artworks, it did
not specify which artworks they
should receive or what their ag-
gregate value should be. Ham-
ilton made the agreement with
representatives of the state, in-
cluding Toney Anaya, then
governor of New Mexico, and
Paul Bardacke, then attorney
general. Both Jerry Wertheim,
Sebring’s attorney, and Charles
Olmsted later criticized the set-
tlement. Wertheim said that the
state was foolish to accept so
little art, and Olmsted faulted
the state for not contesting the
codicil. Bardacke defended the
agreement, saying it repre-
sented the state’s best interests.

Unlike the state, O'Keeffe's
family was developing its case
against Hamilton. Santa Fe at-
torney Curtis W. Schwartz also
filed on behalf of Sebring,
claiming that O’Keeffe had
come to rely so heavily on
Hamilton—whom she sup-
ported financially—that he was
able to exercise ‘‘such undue
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fee, O'Keeffe’s personal prop-
erty and rights from her Viking book, but
the entire residuary estate as well. Apart
from the specific bequests to the eight mu-
seums, only the gifts of the Stieglitz pho-
tographs of O’Keeffe to the National
Gallery and of her papers to Yale remained
intact. Hamilton's share of the estate would
have come to over $40 million.

At O’Keeffe’s death, her cash and in-
vestments totaled close to $2 million, ac-
cording to one source; other assets included
her two houses, appraised at about
$675,000, personal property (including her
two chow dogs) valued at $500,000, three
cars (all Mercedeses) valued at $63,000 and
her collection of works by other artists.
O’Keeffe's own art—over 100 oils and over
100 works in other mediums. including

122/ARTNEWS
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Santa Fe firm, Montgomery & Andrews,
signed a petition for formal probate of her
1979 will. It was filed with the court the
following Monday, March 10. The case
was heard by New Mexico District Court
Judge Patricio Serna—an artist himself—
who gave interviews to the press during the
preliminary proceedings, revealed that a
settlement was being sought and at one
point told ARTnews that the estate was
worth perhaps “‘as much as a billion dol-
lars’" if television, film and literary rights
were considered. Three weeks after the pe-
tition was filed, Serna named Hamilton the
“*informally appointed Personal Represen-
tative of the Estate of Georgia O'Keeffe
. in an unsupervised administration. '
That day, Sebring, Klenert—O Keeffe’s

influence on the decedent’
when the 1979 will was signed that the will
expressed  Hamilton's  intent,  not
O’Keeffe’s. Further, he claimed that Ham-
ilton had *‘participated in procuring the
purported will dated August 22, 1979,"
and the two codicils. O'Keeffe's *‘mental
capacity . . . began to deteriorate approx-
imately three to four years prior to her
death,” he wrote, and he added that Ham-
ilton was aware of that fact and abused her
trust.

Schwartz proceeded to ask for a jury trial
and, in the event his client won, for rulings
that O’Keeffe had died intestate, that the
codicils were bogus and that Hamilton was
“‘unsuitable’’ to act as executor.

Beginning with their initial April 30 fil-
ing, the Klenert and Krueger family con-
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sistently objected to the codicils, claiming,
as Sebring had, that O'Keeffe *was unduly
influenced and subject to duress prior to and
at the time she executed”” them, They also
claimed that O’Keeffe may have *‘lacked
testamentary intent or capacity”” when she
signed the codicils, and they charged that
Q‘Keeffe wanted her works to go to char-
ities, not to Hamilton, Although Serna later
!'uled that neither of the Kruegers had stand-
ing in the case, their claims continued to
be presented by Klenert.

The family also sought the appointment
of an independent guardian to review Ham-
ilton’s handling of O'Keeffe's affairs, as
well as legal costs and a postponement of
any court decision on the estate until a
guardian had been appointed. They also
asked that another personal representative
be appointed to administer the estate along
with Hamilton.

At one point, Wertheim questioned
whether O’Keeffe, who by 1979 had lost
her central vision and was unable to read,
had even read or known of the contents of
the will and the codicils. An associate of
Wertheim’s, John Wentworth, went so far
as to imply that Hamilton may have had a
motive—ongoing financial need—to in-
crease his share in the estate. During a dep-
osition of psychiatrist Donald Fineberg,
who, Wentworth suggested, had acted as
Hamilton’s counselor, Wentworth asked
whether Dr. Fineberg had ever ““treated or
diagnosed any type of mental or emotional
condition, including drug addiction,” for
Hamilton or his wife; the psychiatrist re-
peatedly declined to say whether Hamilton
was or ever had been a patient of his, much
less whether any treatment involved drug
addiction.

Hamilton's attorney at the time, Seth D.
Montgomery (whose firm subsequently
withdrew from the case, since some of its
members who were involved in preparing
the 1984 codicil might be called to testify),
denied the charges of undue influence and
asked that the request for appointment of a

guardian and a trustee be rejected. He
claimed that O’Keeffe gave Hamilton the
1978 power of attorney and the property
from her estate because ‘‘she loved and
respected him.”’ He noted that the late
Claudia O’Keeffe, O'Keeffe's youngest
sister and the family member to whom she
was closest, had written in a letter that
Hamilton not only provided invaluable ser-
vices for O'Keeffe but also helped enli\{en
the artist’s last years. Montgomery contin-
ued, ‘‘Juan Hamilton was not some Sven-
gali or Rasputin in handyman’s clothes but
one of the closest and most helpful and
important persons in Georgia O'Keeffe's
98 years of life.”

Hamilton himself dismisses all of the al-
legations brought against him. He says that
he could never have gotten O'Keeffe to do
anything she didn’t want to do and adds,
**She wanted me to develop. She wanted
my career to develop. She was interested

in my family. Miss O’Keeffe got excellent
and superb care and she was very com-
fortable and very happy.”’

Concerning her inability to read the will
and codicils she signed, Hamilton says,
“You could say therefore that a blind per-
son doesn't have a right to execute a will."
He says that he was not present at the sign-
ing of any of the documents, but that the
will and first codicil were witnessed by
Oliver Seth, a lawyer of O'Keeffe's for
over 20 years who is now a federal district
Judge in New Mexico. (Seth would not
comment on the procedures.) Hamilton
says, ‘I find it hard to believe that the
family would feel that [Seth] would partake
in a conspiracy against Miss O'Keeffe, It
was my understanding that he read the will
to her at length."

Hamilton also challenges Klenert's and
Sebring’s assertion that O'Keeffe wanted
to give her property to charitable institu-
tions. **There's an attempt now to canonize
Miss O'Keeffe as a selfless person who
lived to give to charities. She was very
generous with the Stieglitz estate and his
photographs,”” he says, but ‘“‘if Miss
O’Keeffe had been so interested in leaving
her estate to institutions she could have
done so during her lifetime.”” Hamilton
added that not all the works in the estate
are great works, and that O'Keeffe had
been interested in having her better paint-
ings before the public. *‘It may sound ego-
centric of me to say this, but Miss O’Keeffe
trusted me in the distribution of her work,
and I believe very strongly that she trusted
me to continue to do that after her death.”

Before the settlement, Charles Olmsted,

co-counsel for Klenert, said that greed was
the least factor in Klenert’s suit, pointing
out that she had not asked for anything from
the estate for herself. Sebring’s lawyer,
Jerry Wertheim, said that Sebring was also
not asking for anything of substance, al-
though she did claim that OKeeffe wanted
her relatives *‘to have something”’—an as-
sertion Wertheim describes as simply a le-
gal maneuver. In an early motion, however,
Sebring had asked that the court reject the
1979 will and codicils and rule that
O’Keeffe died intestate. If the judge had
approved her motion, Sebring, with Kle-
nert, would have become heirto O’Keeffe's
assets, although, Wertheim said, they never
intended *‘to ask the judge to set aside the
entire will.”" As for Sebring’s not being
close to O’Keeffe, Wertheim said, *‘If you
haven't seen her in years, should you let
someone make off with the property and
not participate when you're sure something
is wrong?"’

AMILTON, 42, LIVES IN SANTA

Fe and Abiquiu; he married Anna Marie
Prohoroff. an artist, in 1979 and has two
children. He claims he is being vilified and
that his life is no longer his own. In a series
of interviews with ARTnews in Santa Fe
and in New York, he said that O'Keeffe's

relatives had demanded information about
his assets dating back several years, about
how he cared for O’Keeffe, about what ser-
vices he provided her and about his per-
sonal life. *‘I think you can imagine,”” he
says, “‘how you'd feel if someone were
prying into everything about your life.”

More than that, he says, he is distressed
that relatives for whom he claims O'Keeffe
had more tolerance than affection are now
asserting that the will and codicils do not
represent her true intentions. He speaks of
them alternately with perplexity and anger,
wondering why they would bring an action
he feels is indefensible. *‘I was trained by
Miss O'Keeffe for 14 years to understand
what she wanted and how she wanted her
business handled,” he says.

Hamilton's first meeting with O'Keeffe
was not auspicious. **I started working with
Miss O'Keeffe in August of *73,"" he says.
**Iwas at the Ghost Ranch Conference Cen-
ter for about seven months doing odd jobs,
and [ was interested in meeting Miss
O’Keeffe. One of the heads of maintenance
was doing some work on Miss O'Keeffe’s
plumbing and asked if I'd help him. She
said hello to him and acknowledged him
and totally ignored me. Later, Miss
O’Keeffe called Jim Hall |director of the
Ghost Ranch] and asked him to help her
install a Franklin stove. He knew I was
interested in meeting her and I went with
him. He said, ‘This is Juan Hamilton. He's
from Vermont and had an antique wood-
burning stove,” and Miss O’Keeffe turned
around and said, “This isn't an antique
wood stove.’

‘I was about to give up, and someone
suggested I just go over early one morning.
I went over at seven in the morning and
knocked on the door. The cook, Candelaria
Lopez, answered, and Miss O'Keeffe came
to the screen door and I asked her if she
had any work. She said she didn’t, and I
thanked her and turned to walk away and
she said, *Can you help me pack a shipping
crate? I said I thought I could. I ended up
being there for 14 years.™

Hamilton is about six feet tall, with a
medium build. His given name is John, but
he uses the name Juan. His parents taught
English in South America before moving
to New York City in 1960, and he says he
was called **Juan’’ until the family returned
to the United States. He began to use the
name again in 1969, His manner blends
carnestness and sincerity with what one
friend calls arrogance. He can be mercurial,
at one moment talking seriously and in-
tently about O’Keeffe and at the next slid-
ing into harsh comments about her
relatives, who, in his opinion, contested her
will and codicils out of greed. He expresses
his anger through irony, questioning the
relatives’ seemingly pure motives and in-
terest in the estate and wondering why, if
they were so concerned about O'Keeffe's
state of mind, health and well-being, they
had only distant relationships with her when
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she was alive. Most of all, he is disgusted
that they are trying to debase a profound
friendship.

Hamilton describes this friendship as
progressing in stages. At first, he did odd
jobs for O'Keeffe. A few weeks after he
had begun helping around the house, she
asked him if he had gone to high school.
He answered that he had graduated from
college with a degree in studio art, had
studied art on the graduate level for one
semester at Claremont College in California
and had lived in Vermont, where he had
worked as a potter. O’Keeffe then asked if
he could type. While he says that his typing
was, and is, execrable, he gave her a qual-
ified *‘yes.”” He then became her man Fri-
day.

Early in this period, he would read her
mail to her and she would dictate responses.
He also read her articles from magazines—
he says she was particularly interested in
the Watergate investigation—and began
learning about her life and work, as well
as Stieglitz's. His time was also taken up
by ‘‘the logistics of basically running two
households in a rural area. I think that’s
where | was able to be of assistance to her
on a practical level, but it was just as im-
portant as the Stieglitz correspondence or
museum correspondence.’”

Hamilton lived in the area, in a rented
house. He spent between eight and 12 hours
at O’'Keeffe’s house each day, six days a
week. After he had been there several
months, he says, O'Keeffe suggested he
work on his pottery. *‘She said, “Well, if
you're going to stay around here, you'd
better start making pots.” She felt that if 1
didn’t have something of my own I would
only last a short while with her.”” He began
working with clay, and O"Keeffe bought a
kiln. With Hamilton’s encouragement,
O’Keeffe herself became interested in pot-
tery. Hamilton says that she wasn’t espe-
cially good with clay but that she persisted
and eventually made 30 or 40 pots.

A year or so after he started working for
her, Hamilton accompanied O’Keeffe on a
trip to Africa—the first of several trips. Her
sight was failing—he says she suffered
from macular degeneration of the retina,
which affected her central vision—but she
could see peripherally and still liked to
travel. More important, he says, she liked
being active.

At the time Hamilton met O’Keeffe, she
was working on Georgia O'Keeffe, an
oversize book of her works, with Virginia
Robinson, a writer in New Mexico. Ham-
ilton started to become involved in this
project on Christmas day, 1973. I apol-
ogized to Miss O'Keeffe. I said, ‘I haven’t
gotten you a Christmas present,” and she
said, ‘As a Christmas present, I want you
to read my manuscript.” "’

O'Keeffe alternated between reading the
manuscript herself with a magnifying glass
and having Hamilton read her sections.
““We would go over what she had written,
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work on it, rework it, and Mrs. Robinson,
even though she was old, would come up
and work on it too. [The question of] who
would be involved with the publisher was
a sore point.”’ Hamilton became increas-
ingly involved, to the growing exclusion of
Robinson. *‘My role gradually expanded to
the point that when there was a contract to
be drafted between Miss O Keeffe and Vi-
king, Miss O’Keeffe had me go to New
York and participate in the meetings with
Viking Press.’”” By 1975 he was working
on the book’s production along with
O’Keeffe.

*“Miss O'Keeffe trusted me to slowly be-
come her eyes from the work I did with the
photographer—getting to know the paint-
ings and the original proofs that she sent
out and that I had worked on,”" he says.
“It was the first of many steps that ex-
panded my world, my knowledge, and that
was really like an apprenticeship—but even
more so in that Miss O’Keeffe would ex-
press to me what her interests were and |
would act as her emissary, I would act as
her liaison and I would be her eyes, so to
speak.”’

Hamilton became even more involved
with O’Keeffe after her falling-out with
Doris Bry, who had lived in New York but
had worked for O’Keeffe for 30 years and,
since the 1960s, had been her dealer.
O’Keeffe ended the relationship in 1977,
and the rupture led to two lawsuits, one
filed by O’Keeffe against Bry that year and
another filed by Bry against Hamilton in
1978. Both suits were settled out of court,
the latter in 1982 and the former in 1985.
None of the parties would comment on the
suits.

In her suit against Hamilton, Bry charged
him with undue influence. In her November
3, 1978, summons to Hamilton—served on
him during the opening of his first solo
show in New York, at the Robert Miller
Gallery—Bry accused him of malicious in-
terference in her relationship with
O’Keeffe. She also alleged that O’Keeffe,
*‘dependent upon Hamilton because of her
poor vision and advanced age, came under
Hamilton’s influence and control”* and that
Hamilton used that control to ‘‘poison’’
Bry’s relationship with both O’Keeffe and
the art community. She asked for compen-
sation and damages amounting to $13.25
million.

By the time the case ended with a finan-
cial settlement, Hamilton had assumed
Bry’s responsibilities. In 1979 he started
working with O’Keeffe on the 1983 exhi-
bition of Stieglitz works at the National
Gallery. They worked primarily with cu-
rator Sarah Greenough, who recalls that she
had started cataloguing and indexing the
1,600 photographs at the gallery and had
proposed that the gallery exhibit the works.
It was really Juan and I who did most of
the work. O’Keeffe was in the background
making suggestions.”’

Greenough says that O'Keeffe came to

the gallery several times between 1979 and
1982, when the exhibition was being pre-
pared. Although O’Keeffe’s sight deterio-
rated during that period and she had
increasingly less energy (in 1982 she turned
95), she was still spirited and alert. Green-
ough adds that she didn’t notice that
O’Keeffe's sight was especially poor when
they first met in 1976 or 1977, before she
was working on the exhibition, but that * ‘by
the "80s she couldn’t see very well. But she
would sometimes see when she wanted to
see. She could look at a photograph and
without either Juan or I saying which image
of the hundreds it was, she would know
which one it was.™

Hamilton also worked with O'Keeffe on
other projects, including casting bronze
sculptures from plaster molds that she had
made years earlier. He encouraged her to
give permission for the Metropolitan Mu-
seum of Art to exhibit Stieglitz’s photo-
graphs of her and urged her to grant
interviews and to promote her book.

O’Keeffe not only started making pottery
after Hamilton arrived, she also started
painting and drawing again, after having
abandoned both in 1972. In the late *70s,
she started working in watercolor and, fol-
lowing a trip to Washington, D.C., decided
to do a painting of the Washington Mon-
ument against the sky. This work, entitled
From a Dav with Juan No. IIl, is still in
the estate. It shows a section of the mon-
ument against a sky of graded colors.
O’Keeffe made some pastel sketches of the
subject but, Hamilton says, was having
trouble with the edges of the monument;
unable to complete the work as she wanted,
Hamilton says, she *“‘started having other
people paint for her.”” One of those who
helped O’Keeffe with the painting, John
Poling, told the Santa Fe Reporter that he
had actually created some of O’'Keeffe's
paintings. “*There was a great controversy
about that,”” Hamilton recalls. “‘For Miss
O’Keeffe to be berated for making a daring
effort in her later years to continue to paint,
even with her limitations, is very much like
saying Matisse's cutout figures, which he
supervised from his bed, pointing with a
stick and telling people what to do, are not
his work. These are not Miss O'Keeffe's
greatest works, but certainly they were her
greatest effort.’” He adds, ‘*Miss O'Keeffe
was quoted exactly on how she felt about
it. And her comment about Poling, which
is a classic, is that *he was nothing but a
palette knife.”

Much of his time with O'Keeffe, Ham-
ilton says, was spent taking care of the two
New Mexico houses and, often, talking
about her life. “*She’d tell me about the
difficulties she had growing up, not being
accepted—she said her mother thought she
was an ugly baby and would hide her when
people came over. ... And she talked
about her friendships in school and the fact
that she was called Patsy O'Keeffe, she
wasn’t Georgia—and finally, being able to
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please her art teacher and being able to
p_Iease everyone but herself, coming to the
time where just before 1910 she decided to
stop painting.

*‘So I became acquainted with her world,
and T was free,”” Hamilton continues. ‘I
was single. T was starting my life over
again. I had time and she had work. We
began a friendship that seemed to be the
most important thing in my life, certainly
the most influential.”” He terms the rela-
tionship a “‘kind of a strange reversal.
Stieglitz was 25 years older than she was,
and when she came into Stieglitz's world
there were a lot of people that got their
feathers ruffled, a lot of artists to whom
Stieglitz was like a father."

After Hamilton had been working for
O’Keeffe for a while, there began to be

rumors that they were married, Neither

Hamilton nor O’Keeffe denied the
rumors initially, though they both
did later. Hamilton says that the
rumors were upsetting, but that she
was reassuring, telling him, **Just
don’t pay any attention to it. What
do you care?'’ He adds, *‘She her-
self was able to focus on her in-
terest, and she wouldn’t get caught
up in what other people were say-
ing. She’d say there’s always a lot
of talk.

It was a mutually beneficial re-
lationship,”” Hamilton continues.
““We had a lot of mutual interests
and worked as a team. Any good
relationship is based on mutual
benefit.”” He says that O'Keeffe
often praised his pottery, rarely
being critical. ‘“And then I men-
tioned an exhibition and she
laughed at me. She said, “You have
some very nice things. but you
don’t have a body of work." She
could be extremely encouraging,
but she could also deflate you, cut
the legs right out from under you.™

Virginia Adams, Ansel Adams’
widow, whom O'Keeffe and the
Hamiltons visited in the early

her behalf in such a way that the museums
were able to afford her works and arranging
for exhibitions of her and Stieglitz's works
so that the art would be well presented to
the public.

AMILTON’S STORY CAN, HOW-

ever, be told another way and, like the
case brought against him and his relation-
ship with O’Keeffe, it is multilayered. He
recalled to ARTnews just prior to the set-
tlement, as he did for newspapers in the
late *70s, that he had once had a fantasy
about meeting O'Keeffe while driving near
Lake George, where Stieglitz and O'Keeffe
had spent many summers. At that time,
which he describes as the low point in his
life, Hamilton was recently divorced and
living with his parents in New York. He
says he imagined going to New Mexico and

June O’Keeffe Sebring, the artist’s niece, was one of
two relatives who contested her will.

O’Keeffe told Newsom she was welcome
to stay, but that she wasn’t going to fire
Hamilton. Newsom quit. ARTnews was un-
able to locate Newsom. Hamilton says she
was unhappy about his increasingly prom-
inent position in the household.

Hamilton grew rich working for
O’Keeffe. Aside from his salary, he re-
ceived commissions on sales. He handled
the sale of Sky Above Clouds 1V, bought
by the Art Institute of Chicago in the early
1980s for $1 million, and of Summer Days,
which he sold to Calvin Klein, also in the
early 1980s, for $1 million. (O'Keeffe
made one of the conditions of the sale that
Klein make the work available to the Whit-
ney, which had expressed an interest in it,
for part of each year, and that Klein even-
tually either give or leave the painting to
the museum.) Hamilton sold The Lawrence
Tree (1929) to the Wadsworth Ath-
eneum for between $325,000 and
$350,000, according to Atkinson,
and Abstraction, Flower (1924)
and Black and White (1930) to the
Whitney; while Patterson Sims, the
director of paintings at the Whit-
ney, says that O'Keeffe made the
works ‘‘affordable,” O'Keeffe
never sold her paintings cheaply.

The market in O'Keeffe's works
has always been strong, and since
her 1970 retrospective at the Whit-
ney, her works have done well at
auction. Between 1970 and 1980,
only 27 of her oils were sold at
auction, according to Richard His-
lop’s Art Sales Index. In 1974 Pop-
pies sold for $120,000, then an
auction record for an American art-
ist's work. Jeffrey Bergen, vice
president of A.C.A. Galleries in
New York, says that he recently
sold Blue Hills of Pedernal, a work
roughly 20 by 24 inches, for a little
over $600,000, and that good
O’Keeffe oils that are larger than
20 by 24 sell for $400,000 to
$750,000. Exceptional works have
sold for over $1 million: White
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1980s, said that Hamilton seemed
to care very much for O’Keeffe and treated
her very well. Several people, including
longtime friends of O'Keeffe's, say that
Hamilton served O'Keeffe not only as a
companion and business manager: after he
married and had children, he provided her
with the family that she had never had. All
say that O’Keeffe was devoted to Hamilton,
and that he cared for her enormously.
With regard to their business relation-
ship, several museum directors and cura-
tors, among them Thomas Armstrong and
Patterson Sims of the Whitney Museum of
American Art, Tracy Atkinson of the
Wadsworth Atheneum, Jack Cowart of the
National Gallery of Art and James Wood
of the Art Institute of Chicago, say that
Hamilton seemed to act consistently in
O’Keeffe's best interests, pricing sales on

becoming friends with O’Keeffe; he imag-
ined giving her one of his pots. As it turned
out, his parents soon arranged for him to
get work at the Ghost Ranch, and he moved
to New Mexico.

Although Hamilton says his move was
primarily a ‘sabbatical,” his admission
that he moved there in the hope of meeting
O’Keeffe could be seen as calculated, and
such an admission—naive, given its tim-
ing—could have been damaging in a trial.

After the trip to Africa, O’Keeffe's
housekeeper and cook, Jerrie Newsom,
presented the artist with an ultimatum:
either Hamilton would leave or she would.
Newsom had been with O'Keeffe for some
time, and in 1973 O’Keeffe had told Calvin
Tomkins of The New Yorker that Newsom
“keeps me alive.”” Hamilton says that

Rose, New Mexico, which was sold
in 1985, brought $1,265,000, an auction
record for the artist. Bergen added that wa-
tercolors sell for $35,000 to over $100,000.
and small oils for as little as $50,000.
Hamilton’s creative career also bene-
fited. He had his first New York solo show
at the Robert Miller Gallery in November
1978; Miller, who acknowledges that he
started handling O'Keeffe's works on com-
mission at about the same time, says that
the timing came about because he first met
O’Keeffe in 1976 and met Hamilton shortly
after. While he is aware of allegations that
he would not have shown Hamilton’s works
but for the promise of handling O'Keeffe's,
he says, “'I couldn’t show art in my gal-
lery—and we don’t show art in this gal-
lery—that we don’t find interesting.”” He
says that not only do Hamilton’s works sell,
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O‘Kse.fl'e first visited New Mexico in 1929 and was

o s

ptivated by its majesti

terrain. “I never feel at home in the East like | do here,” she wrote.

but that some of his works are in the col-
lection of the Metropolitan Museum of Art.

Hamilton also started showing at the
Gerald Peters Gallery in Santa Fe at about
the same time that Peters started handling
O’Keeffe’'s works. And there were other
material benefits from the relationship.
There was the Santa Fe property she ac-
quired in 1984, which Hamilton says he
purchased at her instructions from Gerald
Peters” company, the Peters Corporation,
for an undisclosed sum, when her health
became so frail that she needed to be near
her Santa Fe doctors. Under an agreement
O'Keeffe signed that year, Hamilton be-

126/ ARTNEWS

came the owner of the 20-acre property
while O’Keeffe retained lifetime use. Nei-
ther Gerald Peters nor Hamilton would
comment on the price.

As for charges of undue influence, Ham-
ilton himself openly discusses a rumor that
went around the Santa Fe houschold con-
cerning her August 1984 signing of the sec-
ond codicil. He says that some members of
the household staff believed for a brief pe-
riod that O'Keeffe had thought she was
signing a marriage contract with him (he
had married in 1979) instead of a document
that would give him two thirds of her estate.
Hamilton attributes the idea to a series of
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circumstances that were interpreted by a
member of the staff—who, he says, had an
overactive imagination and was nursing a
grudge—as a ceremony: O’Keeffe had been
dressed in white, as she usually was in sum-
mer, and Anna Marie Hamilton, Hamil-
ton’s wife, had put fresh-cut flowers around
the house, as she often did.

One source who knew O’Keeffe at the
time recalls that O'Keeffe had visited her
sister Anita (who has since died) in Florida
in the spring of 1984. While there,
O’Keeffe suffered heart problems that her
cardiologist, Dr. Brad Stamm, says re-
quired hospitalization but were easily
treated. The source says that O’Keeffe, on
her return, ‘‘was like a different person—
she became very quiet, very complacent. It
could have been age, it could have been
illness, it could have been that she was no
longer in Abiquiu.”” Oliver Seth, who
Hamilton says visited O'Keeffe the day she
signed the second codicil, says that
O’Keeffe at the time tired more easily than
she had but that she was still alert and vital,
and Stamm says that at the time O'Keeffe
“‘was asking why she was taking certain
medications and what she could and
couldn’t do while on them.”’

The source also contends that Hamilton
at that point was paying far less attention
to O’Keeffe than he had earlier. Hamilton
says that at that point he was spending as
much as eight hours a day, five days a
week, attending to her, though his own
work and family, as well as O’Keeffe’s
affairs, also made demands on his time.

If there are two versions of Juan Ham-
ilton’s attachment to Georgia O’Keeffe,
there is also another dimension to the whole
story: O’Keeffe herself, a notoriously
strong-willed person. Aline Porter and her
husband, the photographer and writer Eliot
Porter, were old friends of both O’Keeffe
and Stieglitz; Aline remarks that *‘Georgia
could be pretty tough on people. She was
a person who liked to get her own way,
and if you were a friend of hers you ac-
cepted that. I think it would have been
pretty hard to push her around.””

Klenert recalls that at one time she her-
self started painting in a style similar to
O’Keeffe's. She says that O'Keeffe wrote
to her (in the 1920s, according to Doris
Bry) and asked her to stop painting because
O’Keeffe felt that Klenert's work *‘was get-
ting to look too much like hers.’” Asked if
her work was good, Klenert says, ‘It was
good enough for rhar.’’ She adds that the
paintings were selling. Asked if Stieglitz
might have put O'Keeffe up to asking her
to stop painting, Klenert says, *‘Oh, you
couldn’t put Georgie up to anything. She
had very strong ideas about everything."

Klenert says she did stop painting in def-
erence to her sister, and that the incident
led to a four-year break in their relation-
ship—the only serious fight they ever had.
Although she now talks about it good-na-
turedly, she says that at the time she was
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extremely angry. *“I thought she might help
me a little, but no go."” Many years later,
d‘unng a visit with O’Keeffe, she says her
sister said, ** *Well, Catherine, don’t you
want to start to paint now? I'll give you the
paint, the equipment, and you go out and
paint where you want to.” I said, ‘No, you
spoiled my painting." "

O’Keeffe broke off her relationships with
people close to her throughout her life, Her
rupture with Bry was preceded by a break
with dealer Edith Halpert, who had repre-
sented her from Stieglitz’s death through
the 1960s. A friend of Halpert’s, who asked
not to be identified, says O’Keeffe **fought
very bitterly with Edith Halpert. They split
up in the "60s when O’Keeffe accused her
of not getting enough for the pictures. It
was true that she got less money selling
them to museums than if she had sold them
to individuals, but the works were being
placed in museums here and abroad.’’ He
says that at that point O’Keeffe was more
concerned about the prices obtained for her
works than about where they went.

Hamilton says, ‘‘People that are very
creative are often also very destructive. I
think it was true for Stieglitz, I think it was
true for Miss O'Keeffe, and in more mun-
dane ways, it’s true for people in general.”

A friend of O'Keeffe's who witnessed
the disintegration of some of the artist’s
friendships over the years says, ‘‘She could
be vindictive, diabolical, mean and petty,”
although that was only a part of her. *‘She
was willing to deal with people, but she
wanted to deal with them on her own
terms.”” So far as these terms concerned
Hamilton, he may have been getting a great
deal from O’Keeffe in personal and artistic
development, salary and commissions, but
she, in turn, was receiving the attention of
an interesting and complex man. (O'Keeffe
once said she liked ““difficult men."’) Start-
ing with the Kiln, another source says,
O’Keeffe presented enticements that would
have made it difficult for Hamilton to leave,
even if he had wanted to.

URTHER QUESTIONS HAVE ARIS-

en about the sale before the artist’s
death of some of the works O'Keeffe had
named in her will as destined for various
museums. Three of the nine paintings the
Art Institute of Chicago was to receive were
sold: the museum itself bought her 8-by-
24-foot Sky Above Clouds IV. James Wood,
director of the institute, says that he and
former curator James Speyer (now de-
ceased) pursued the acquisition themselves.
He says that he was aware that O'Keeffe
was selling some of her works and both he
and Speyer were keenly interested in ac-
quiring this one. Hamilton says that
O’Keeffe valued the picture at $2 million
but sold it to them for $1 million; he adds
that O’'Keeffe wanted the work in a mu-
seum, and that if it was to be so placed
during her lifetime she was determined to
see that the institute pay for the work.

COURTESY SOTHEBY'S NEW YORK

White Rose, New Mexico, 1930, oil on canvas, 30 by 36 inches, was sold at

Sotheby’s in 1985 for $1,265,000, an

record for the artist.

The Lawrence Tree, which O'Keeffe had
designated as going to the Boston Museum
of Fine Arts, was sold to the Wadsworth
Atheneum in 1981. Cowart says that two
of the ten works the National Gallery was
to receive were sold before O'Keeffe's
death, but he notes that even after she wrote
her will she retained the right to dispose of
any of her works as she saw fit.

Although the sales were questioned be-
fore the settlement, they are now accepted.
More of O’Keeffe's works will be distrib-
uted to museums and institutions, and they
will be doled out by three people who have
been exchanging vitriolic charges for nearly
a year. It is hardly an arrangement anyone
would have thought likely two years ago.
Krueger, who is 39 years old and lives in
Whitefish Bay, Wisconsin, declined to
comment on the proposed foundation. Be-
fore the settlement Hamilton said that if he
became heir to the better part of her estate,
he “‘would proceed with Miss O'Keeffe's
work the way I did during her lifetime—
distribute it in an orderly fashion, make
loans to institutions, work on publications,
as she did with the Stieglitz estate.”” First,
however, the details of the agreement must
be worked out and estate taxes must be paid
on the property that will go to the contest-
ants.

The settlement came about, according to
sources, for several reasons. Klenert's
Sante Fe lawyer, Olmsted, said Hamilton
agreed to settle to avoid the airing of **dirty
linen."” Olmsted declined to elaborate.
Another source familiar with the legal pro-
ceedings, however, says the family made
a tactical mistake in asking for an inde-
pendent guardian for the estate. The source

says that the guardian could have decided
to exclude the family from the estate; there-
fore once Hamilton had made substantial
offers of money or O'Keeffe's works to the
family, as well as agreeing to a foundation
that would distribute the residuary estate to
nonprofit institutions, Sebring and Klenert
were happy to drop their case.

The settlement left unanswered both the
question of what constitutes undue influ-
ence and the question of what O’Keeffe
wanted. In New Mexico, case law favors
contestants to wills when undue influence
is alleged. In a landmark case, Jim Thorp
v. Don Cash, the state’s appeals court
ruled, *‘Generally undue influence is not
proven directly, but is inferred from the
circumstances,”” including whether a fi-
duciary relationship existed between the de-
ceased and the beneficiary and whether the
deceased was **old and ina weakened phys-
ical or mental condition.”” Hamilton held
power of attorney and O’Keeffe was un-
questionably old, but unlike Thorp, who
was bequeathed a $1 million ranch after
working for an elderly woman for a mere
eight months and who lost his case, Ham-
ilton had worked for O'Keeffe for nearly
14 years. Dr. Stamm says, **Sure there was
influence. There was bound to be influence.
Hamilton was a longtime confidant.”” He
says, however, that the influence was based
on trust that was never betrayed. As for the
question of whether an aged person can
change his or her will and be assured that
it will be held valid after his or her death,
that was answered in a settlement that
O’Keeffe never called for. u
Andrew Decker is a contributing editor of ART-
news

ApriL 1987/127
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Friend of O’Ke_éffe Y
lad Fight’'s Over

i

P )

Juan Hamilton, the potter who was

~the longtime friend and companion of
Georgia O’Keeffe, - said yesterday
A thzgihe was relieved at the settlement
~ of the court battle over the painter’s

~ $70 million estate. “‘We're in the pro-
cess of doing a centennial O’'Keeffe
‘exhibition, to open at the National
Gallery in Washington this Novem-
ber,” he said. ‘It would be disheart-

" ening to celebrate her work and her
‘contributions to American culture
- while at the sal?';e{;ne this sideshow

. was going on in the courts.”
- Two suits, brought se rately by
_ two O’Keeffe refatives, charged that
f %ﬂ‘, Hamilton had exerted “undue in-
* fluence” over the ailing artist, who
-d on March.6, 1986, at the age of 98.
_settlement last week replaces
{ ent of her residuary
orth

for $2.6 million and

ilton.'He had assumed the ‘mott-
! ts on it and sold it last
2.1 million. Miss O'Keeffe

~ But Mr. Hamilton will keep such
' legacies

dozen works of art by her
er artists; her papers and the
rights she held, along with much

f her personal property. Her corre-
‘spondence will go to Yale University.
'm very glad it’s been. accom-
lished after only a year and a half of
gation,” said the 4l-year-old Mr.

73 and settled into her home as
retaker, confidant, aide and busi-
, manager until her death. “Many
rtists’ estates have been tied up for
g?% “the courts, and while Miss
‘OlKeeffe was alive we spent a good
al of time in litigation ourselves.”

. The artist and Mr. Hamilion were
" sued in 1978 by her longtime agent,
‘Doris Bry, who challenged Miss O’-
eeffe’s dismissal of her and charged
t it was a result of Mr. Hamilton's
nalicious interference.” The suits
ere resolved by confidential agree-

i By GRACE GLUECK

other by the O’Keeffe relatives.

as. Miss O’Keeffe’s own |
‘Ghost Ranch, N.M,; more -

imilton, who met Miss O'Keeffe in .

135,

TR
Lty

e zsl

artist’s 1979 will and two, codicils

nearly $20 million, will be divided
among eight major American
seums, including the Art Instituté
Chicago, the Brooklyn Museum,
Metropolitan Museum of Art and th
Museum of Modern Art.

Foundation to Distribute Art
Miss O'Keeffe's winter home,
her sy

Abiquiu, 16 miles south of
mer residence at Ghost 'Ranch,
become headquarters for the fo

Hamilton, and two outside me
to be chosen by o

Lawyers for both of the relatifés*?

 said they and their clients weré

pleased with the settlement. “We felf o2

“that Miss O'Keeffe was unduly inflaz.z

enced and that her testamentary £a=:>
pacity was diminished when shesq
made a 1984 codicil to her will, g 11
Hamilton the residuary estate,”
Jerry Wertheim of Santa Fe, who reprd
resented Mrs. Sebring. *‘June’s pri:
mary objective was to see that the-art s
in the estate went to public institu; «
tions. That purpose has been accomw~is
plished, and we feel good about it.”> o -
Mr. Hamilton, who was givenis
power of attorney by Miss O'Keeffelifi.»
1978, said charges that he had exer-
cised “undue influence” on her were
“completely untrue.” 5 {l
- Among the accomplishments #Hei'!
counted in working with the artisti-
were his help with a monograph: ént/s

“her art that was published in 1976 aid/>

in the preparation of shows and cata3.
logues on the work of her husbarid &t/
the Metropolitan Museum of Art and
the National Gallery. He also said.he.
felt his efforts had contributed to the ~
rise in prices for her paintings Q\

the last decade. “No one can 1
credit for controlling the market,” he
said, “‘but we raised prices as much
as we could and we were very suc-
cessful, 1 think.”

—_—
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98, painter of
‘Western forms

* SANTA FE, NM. (AP)— Georgia
0’Keeffe, 98, whose colorful
‘abstracts and clearly defined
paintings of flowers and bones made
“her a leading figure in

: ent Hospital.
3 fe’s art *

‘seum of American Art, when
‘museum organized a retrospective
. of Miss O’Keeffe’s work in 1970.
~ Miss O’Keeffe received the Medal
of Freedom, the nation’s highest ci-
vilian honor, in 1977, and was one of .
the first recipients of the National
of the Arts. ;
Meicltgli'best-known paintings wereof
flowers and skyscapes or land-
scapes. She often used natural ob-
jects as her subjects: a pelvic bone
-outlined against the sky; rocks or
bleached animal skulls against the
blues, purples, reds and flesh tones
of the desert. 4

F friend, telling-her to

“I have picked flowers where I
| found them — have picked up sea
’| shells and rocks and pieces of wood.
| - When I found the beautiful white

bones on the desert I picked them up
.and took them home too. I have used
| these things to say what is to me the
-wideness and wonder of the world as

| ‘8he also did many abstracts, “a
' kind of counterpoint to the precise,
- stripped-down realism of her more
| familiar work,” Calvin Tomkins.
- witite, ina 1974 New Yorker profile.
She was borriin Sun Prairie, Wis.,

| children. Her family moved to
| Williamsburg, Va., in 1902 and she
| was sent to b

nextentered the Art Institute of Chix

of 1906. In 1907, she entered the Art
| Students League in New York City,
She did not paint for four years
‘and went to Chicago to work as a
commercial designer. Deciding to
try teaching, she enrolled in 1912 in
an art class taught by Alon Bement
at the University of Virginia. Mr.
Bement was a disciple of Arthur
Wesley Dow, the head of the fine arts
faculty at Columbia University, with
| whom Miss O'Keeffe subsequently
studied. -
In the fall of 1912, Miss O’Keeffe
became an art teacher in the Ama-
rillo, Texas, public schools, and later
was head of the art department at
- the predecessor of West Texas State
| University in Canyon.
She wrote in her autobiography
that in the fall of 1915, while
teaching at Columbia (S.C.) College,
“I first had the idea that what I had
been taught was of little value to me
except for the use of my materials as
a language — c , pencil, pen
and ink, watercolor, pastel and oil”
After careful thought, she said, “I
decided that I wasn’t going to spend '
- my life doing what already had been
done. T decided to start anew — to
strip away what T had been taught,
to accept as true my own thinking.
That was one of the best times of my
life” . " :

iz 0
keep them
private. The friend promptly took
them to famed photographer Alfred
Stieglitz, who hung them in his New

York gallery without her permis-
sion.

| Llive in it she wrote in her 1976
“aufo y “Georgia O'Keeffe” 7

the second of seven farm-family .

school at Chat-
Immw‘ﬂgw

cago but withdrew after becoming
ill with typhoid fever in the summer -

[ Miss O'Keeffe went to see him,
determined to make him take them
. down.

He persuaded her to let them re-
main, and the next year, 1917, he
gave Miss O’Keeffe her first one-
woman show. He also offered to pay
her living expenses for a year so she
would devote herself to painting.

‘She resigned her teaching job in
Texas in 1918 and moved to New
York, where she became a member
of Mr. Stieglitz’ inner circle of art-
ists and the subject of hundreds of
his photographs. She and the 61-
year-old photographer were married
in 1924; he died in 1946.

Miss O’Keeffe’s long love affair
with New Mexico began in 1929.

In 1936, she established her home
at Ghost Ranch in the Chama River
Valley and in 1945 bought property
in the nearby village of Abiquiu.

She continued to work well into

old age, rising at dawn and growing
much of her own food. ]
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Hewllexico."; ug.
Miss O'Keeffe ved the Med&‘l
of Freedo:n. the gon s highest ci-
vilianhonior, 141977 and was one of
the first recipients of the National

Medalof the Arts.

Her best-known paintings were '

of flowers and skyscapes or
landscapes. She often used natural
objects as her subjects: a pelvic
‘bone outlined against the sky, rocks
or bléachéd white animal skulls

against the blues, purples, reds and’

flesh tones of the desert.

“l have picked flowers where I
them — have picked up sea
and rocks and pieces of wood.

...2When I found the beautiful
w. bones on the desert I picked
thefn up and took them home, too. I

‘e used these things to say what
19 me the wideness and wonder of

eeffe wrote in Georgia O’Keeffe,
lished by Viking Press in 1976.
so did many abstracts.

owns seven works by Miss
Keeffe, the most of any Texas mu-
m. The McNay Art Museum in

“ um of Artone Area collectors
* Ruth Carter Stevenson of Fort
Vorth, Dallas' Margaret (Mrs, Eu-
ie) McDermott and Mr. and Mrs.

loocknun‘ ﬂlo aqq‘ﬁlug!
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Associated Press

it her . of Art §1070, ACTAN 1 Chiks By 12id Spa it
‘Museum right, Daer’s Skull with Pedemal

. strip away what I had been taught,
‘to accept as true my own thinking.
That was one of the best times of my
life":
- She sent some of her drawings to
- a friend, telling her to keep them
.+ private. The friend promptly took
. them to Stieglitz, the famed photo-

Georgia O’Keeffe stands neaf t
paintings at New York’s Whi f

“It was Arthur Dow who .rrecwd: j
my start, who helped me find some-
thing of my own. The man had one
dominating idea: to fill a space ltirl
beautiful way,” she uld in llter
years, A
In the fall of 1912, Mlss O'Koeffe
took a job a8 an art teacher in

‘ ‘ln her amobipgrlphy
 fall of 1915, *I first had:
that what I hndbeen’ tlught :

s . ; L, rapher; who hung them in his New
Amaﬁiﬂé‘!ﬂéﬂcﬂ,ﬂubllc e 1e that I 'wasn't going %1’ ung 'hurm.lg-

gallery withy out

dies at 98 -

old age, rising at dawn and growing
much of her own food, and in later
years tried to master the art of pot-
tery. Those years were marred by
charges that a relative of Stieglitz
illegally authorized the manufac-
ture of O'Keeffe lithographs, and'a
handyman's claims that he actuafly
executed three paintings under her’
direction.
In 1980, Miss O'Keeffe agreéd t6
an arrangement for her Abiquiu
home to be donated upon her death
to the National Park Service. Con:
gress subsequently gave the house'a
historic designation which author:
ized the Park Service to turn the
property into a national historic
site after her death.
A report to the Senate subcom*
mittee said “the buildings, their im-
mediate surroundings and the view
they command of the Chama Valleéy
all combine to provide a dramatic
insight into the physical environ-
ment of an artist deemed one of the
most original talents America has
ever possessed in painting.”
In 1983, Miss O'Keeffe changed
her mind about making the house &
gift to the government, basically be:
cause of the fear of her neighbors
in Abiquiu that they would be imm~
dated by tourists. At her requ
Sen. Pete V. Domenici introduced’a
bill to rescind congressional AP*‘
proval of the gift. .
rbm an ancient ruin that was part Staff writer Mary Catherine Bounds,”
! art critic Janet Kutner and The As-

it w;rnmwhgmba house. uctmd Press. “gdnnwu o

f f s
He persuaded her to let them re-
tain, and the next year, 1917, he
ve Miss O'Keeffe her first one-
man show. He also offered to-pay

r living expenses for a year so
e would devote herself to paint-

éhe resigned her teaching job in
as in 1918 and moved to New

M.lSS 01(eeﬂ‘es long love affair
with New Mexico began in 1929,
hen she visited Mabel Dodge
han, a wealthy Taos woman who
S a prominent patron of the arts.

" i A S e s s

er Valley and in 1945 bought
roperty in the nearby village of

moved permanently to New Mexlco
¢r home in Abiquiu was restored

iy

31\ ginaeq,uuworkw;ll into story. >

e
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O'Keeffe's companion,

t;Pthat point s

lind af-

atjthe end she was legally b
ter a lifetime of seeing so-well.

d was bedrid-

he had been
“You heard

n, in Santa Fe last fall.
an
ewart safgl
off and on that she was quite

~ {IE and T always thought it sad that

;i'_A. _
; :ged%;t‘l Santa Fe ¢
word

{
!

{1 tried to think of anyone left of
the generation that came to artistic
maturity when she did — that he-

ic Stieglitz (Miss O'Keeffe’s hus-
ﬂwﬂn was photographer Alfred
Stjeglitz) period —and I can't think

Miss O'Keeffe's will should deter-
mine the disposition of her paint-
ngs, Stewart said.

~ “Miss O'Keeffe was'

b% Rorh Nov 13

ww.- ¢ 96 e

v

sent to boarding school at Chatham
Episcopal Institute in Chatham, Va.
i After graduation, she entered

tiie Art Institute of Chicago but
thdrew after she contracted

hoid fever in the summer of
1906. In 1907, she entered the Art
Students League in New York City.

v “There was never any question

| about her talent. But the slick, aca-

demic imitations of European styles

/ mﬂn being taught at the League by

e

| William M. Chase, Kenyon Cox and
} others soon lost all interest for
wnw.._.. wrote Calvin, Tomkins in a
New Yorker profile in 1974, :
¢ She did not paint for four years
nw..a went to Chicago to work as a
mercial designer. Deciding to
ry“teaching, she enrolled in 1912 in
an art class taught by Alon Bement
at the University of Virginia.
Bement was a disciple of Arthur
‘Wesley Dow, the head of the fine
arts faculty at Columbia University.
Miss O'Keeffe subsequently studied
with Dow.
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Pioneering artist p
BY AMEI WALLACH
Newsday

. @ N eorgia O'Keeffe was 12 when she first
rasserted adamantly and out of the blue

3 that she was going to be an artist. Even
then there was that crystal clarity about this
child of the prairie. It was a kind of purity. The
photographer Alfred Stieglitz, whom she mar-
ried in 1924 when she was 37 and he was 60,
‘called it a “whiteness.” Georgia O'Keeffe al-
ways seemed to do exactly what she wanted to
do. Exactly what she needed to do. No compro-

mises.
~In school, it was taking long walks alone and
art, it was throwing over all the old
mnrky rules and starting all over again in her
Iate 20s, with charcoal and a single line,
. As a woman, it was living without shame or
question for six years with Stieglitz before they
| were married, and then, when it seemed neces-
sary 14 years later, leaving him every sum-
mmer because she needed her New Mexico to

aint.

3 She looked the part, this spare, upright
woman with the structural face, the less-is-
more figure. the sailor's far-seeing eyes, and
her clothes, which were always black or white
until the last years, when a very young man
introduced color into her life. O'Keeffe died
Thursday in Santa Fe at the age of 98.

In her 90th year, she said that m the next
life she would be reincarnated as a blonde with
a high seprano voice. “I would sing very high,
very clear notes,” she said, “without fear.”

“She is unafraid’

If she was fearful in the life she lived, she
seldom showed it. “The outstanding fact is that
she is unafraid,” the critic Henry McBride
wrote of one of her first shows of paintings in

1922, 3
The result is that Georgia O'Keeffe was one
of the most eloquent and original painters that
this country has ever produced.
_She painted what she saw and as she lived,

—

refusin i io repeat her French lesson three:
times.

O'Keefte at 31, by Altred Stieglitz.

of an Artist, Laurie Lisie summed it up: “As
she matured, her healthy ego-—necessary to
her early attempts to draw in her own way—
was exaggerated into a brand of narcissism that
is not unusual in an artist, and perhaps is even
essential,” And then she quoted a friend of
O'Keeffe's: “Considering that she is a genius,
she is 4 remarkably fine and honest person with
shortcomings as we all have.”

She was born on Tuesday, Nov. 15, 1887, to
Ida and Francis O'Keeffe in their farmhouse in
Sun Prairie, Wis. Her first memory was of the
brightness of light, she recounted in her much-
heralded autobiogr of painting, Georgia

O’Keeffe in 1976. She would listen to her
mother read brother stories of Kit Carson
and dream of the desert.
Dismayed by academicism

Mnee AW Wanbba hansn sinduing art (first at

the infant technique. At hi

introducing avant-garde

Shamnaing & shold af.

include, in addition to O'Keeffe, John Marin,

Arthur Dove, Marsden Hartley, Charles De-

muth and the photographer Paul Strand.
O’Keeffe had visited his gallery before, but

their first i meeting took place after

P

§ Imed, q / a was exhibit-
her drawings without 8o much as asking

mmhﬁh
mesmerizing, volcanic way. The ings
B olc: ¥ drawings
_ From the first, people saw a sexual content
in the drawings, '

_“Even many advanced art lovers felt a
distinct moral shiver,” wrote critic McBride
later, “And, incidentally, it was one of the first
great triumphs for abstract art, since every-
bodsy gg} i!:."'be

ticglitz began photographing O'Keeffe-—

her face, her hands, her neck, her entire bady,
nude, clothed, and some of each. The erotic
force of the pictures—like a caress—was whol-
ly 2pparent when Stieglitz showed the
graphs in 1921, i T

Big, bright flowers X

After a time, O'Keeffe be inting flow-
ers—huge closeups c:owedy; mﬂw
young photngnghexs were. cropgl.g‘ 'I'bey
were brightly colored flowers at a time when it
was fashionable to paint with a muted palette.
They were commanding and enveloping. When
they were first shown in 1925, reviewer Ed-
mund Wilson wrote that she had outshone the
male artists around her.

Both she and Stieglitz hated to part with her
paintings, selling them only when they abso-
lutely had to have the money, and then only to
purchasers who met with Stieglitz’ 100~
wtie annroval. One wav to avoid

=

down. He did most of the talking, i

was (o
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; ywattheArtStudmt'sha e in New
academic

something—

anyﬂunglhad done—than anyone else I know

. . . " And Poliitzer took the drawings to
Stieghtz’ yllery, 291, at 291 Fifth Ave., and

OKeeife, fat from angry at the breach,
wrote Sti asking why he had liked her
drawings. t was the first of the 3,400. been a
letters and telegrams the two were to ex- havehad&rlessmmf?‘
change in their lives. e Idoseemstomwepmgh

By the time they met, Stieglitz had revolu- don’t understand at
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Georg1a O’Keeffe, Doyenne of American Painting, Dead at 98 -

Continued From Page Al

at the famous “291” gallery of Alfred
Stieglitz, the world-renowned pioneer
in photography and sponsor of newly
emerging modern art.

From then on, Miss 0’Keeffe was in
the spotlight, shifting from one auda-
cious way of presenting a subject to an-
other, and usually succeeding with
each new experiment. Her colors daz-
zled, her erotic implications provoked
and stimuiated, her subjects aston-
ished and amused.

She painted the skull of a horse with a
bright pink Mexican artificial flower’
stuck in the eye socket. She painted
other animal skulls, homns, pelvises
and leg bones that gleamed white'
against brilliant skies, spanned valleys
and touched mountain tops, all with se-

rene disdain for conventional notions of |

perspective. She also painted New
York skyscrapers, Canadian barns and
crosses and oversized flowers and
rocks.

The artist painted as she pleased,

students, artists and aficionados made
an _astonishing discovery. The artist
who had been joyously painting as she
pleased had been a step ahead of every-
one, all the time.

Strolling through the Whitney show,
one could think Miss O’Keeffe had
made some ‘‘very neat adaptations of
various successful styles of the 1950°s
and 1960°s in her own highly refined and
slightly removed manner,”” wrote John
Canaday, art critic of The New York
Times. He described apparent simi-
larities to Clyfford Still, Helen Frank-
enthaler, Barnett Newman, Ad Rein-
hardt and Andrew Wyeth.

But the paintings that seemed to re-
flect those styles were done by Miss 0~
Keeffe in 1920 or earlier, Mr. Canaday
pointed out, ‘“‘when her seeming
‘models were either not yet born or
‘were delighting their mothers with
their first childish scrawls.”

- With no thought of resting on her lau-
rels, the indomitable octogenarian
went right on working. She painted new
pictures, wrote an autobiography illus-
trated with her tings that sold out
immediately at a copy and cooper-
ated in the production of a film about

and sold vmuallyasonmassheliked

l:vmumyuﬂngwmpmdwmﬂw

‘herself and her work that won an
award from the Directors Guild of
‘America for Perry Miller Adato, who
produced it for WNET-TV in 1977.

Little European Influence
Despite the affinity of Miss’
O’Keeffe's work to paintings of other
modern American artists, her paint-

the European
American art. “‘She escaped the fate of
remaining thrall to a European model
by taking possession of her American -

and making that the core of
her artistic vision,” Hilton Kramer
wrote in The Times in 1976 in his reWew
u!herbook Nevertheless he declared, !
filled with vivid'
ol the places where she has

. !
|
i

dark hair drawn severely back and
knotted into a bun in those years, No
makeup softened the angularity of her
face with its high cheekbones, but her
large, luminous eyes betrayed inner
fires. Her clothes were usually black,
loose-fitting and shapeless, functional
rather than fashionable.

Miss O’Keeffe’s paintings hang in
museums all over the United States —
including, in New York, the Metropoli-
tan, the Whitney and the Museum of
Modern Art — and in most major pri-
vate collections. But she retained a
great deal of her prolific production.

Received Many Honors

Miss O'Keeffe was elected to mem-
bership in the National Institute of Arts
and Letters, the American Academy of
Arts and Letters and the American
Academy of Arts and Sciences. She was
awarded honorary degrees by several
colleges and universities, including
Mount Holyoke and Columbia in 1971
and Harvard in 1973.

Miss O’Keeffe interrupted the cher-
iished tranquility of her life in Abiquiu
ito come East to receive the honors

«{from Mount Holyoke, Columbia and]

Harvard. She donned the required cap
and gown, marched with the faculty!
{members and sat with them on the

| |platform hearing herself extolled as a

tkind of artistic monument.
‘ Back in Abiquiu, the “‘monument"|
iresumed a daily routine of work, now
iwith the help of a young protégé, Juan|
Hamilton, a potter. He had knocked at
her kitchen door asking for work and |
‘made his way up from man Friday to
isecretary. He supervised production of |
her book, and assisted with and ap-
ipeared in the television film about her!
‘in 1977. He traveled with her to New
York and California and managed her]
business affairs. Their cumpamonshlp
was so close there were rumors of mar- |
Ti

age.

In 1978 Mr. Hamilion, then 33 years
old, came to New York alone on two
misstons One was to plltrth hmshmg
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- ' ¥ i s
; : tion of Stieglitz 0g of Miss
Mgl Aot seberbi it ol ; ’ Coc Besm prcoraphtrvoge . O'Keete. Mir. Hamilton had helped her
)58 e il ‘ select the pictures and had assisted in-
the history of modern art in America.”’ GeargIaO'xeeﬂeatmemmmmhemhmm,ﬂ.u.smmhadaranchlnthevtclnlty. &e;mgum ot T b::k conthiing :
It embraced virtually the whole history ac reproductions published I_Jy_ the mu- |
of modern art,fromﬂ:eearlyy_eﬂrsof{‘ at the Art Institute witt ij-‘c lumbia Coll in “South Carolina { the unknown Miss 0'Keeffe i:régted'an sm;::n conjunc:yonpwlth Vlksl:g Press. |
shock its | Vanderpoel. Both of her grandmothers | and the U v of Virginia. In 1916 | immediate stir in the art world. : errupted by Process Server
mtg:mn:: :‘Zse: :.oakofm:: had dabbled at painting, two of her four | she became headtgf,the artdepartment| “Mabel Dodge Luhan brought| . Hamilton’s other mission was 1o
culture, according to Mr. Kramer. At sisters painted and one taught art. The | of West Texas Normal College. strings of psychiatrists to 1ook atingunt his own exhibition of the sensu-
the age'ol 89, when her book was pub- elder of her two brothers was an archi-| Miss O’Keeffe’s early pictures were | them,” Stieglitz recalled later. ““The | gusly sculptured pots, evocative of the
lished, Miss O’Keeffe remained “a |'6ct- ‘ imitative, but as she developed her|critics guue. herc e 21k, talk. |dosert, that Miss 0Keeffe had prodded
vital figure first of all asa painterof re- |  Miss O’Keeffe had decided in Sun. _jadmiqnl)le. a WMW uﬂt}’h’— ."* Some of, €rotic |him into producing. Af%hala t;p;my cel}c}aé
markable orgimality and pover but | raire that she was going 19 be a0 at| GOt iy wih th popular aste and “’m"“’“’"’“smg-kmdgms e up trom R L PELE o e itr,
Insticution . general American modernists,” | wrote book, ** ﬁm accepted style of the early 1800’s, but | Texasand upbral tieglitz for show- hyqs interrupted by a process server
gk : e T her to concentrate|ing her work without her permission. fwith notice that Mr. Hamilton was

Miss O'Keeffe in a 1920 photograph D¢ WrOte. make anything like the pictures 1 had “mnm i i i d i “malicious in
) A ; y on expressing her own ideas. His answer was to persuade her to poing to be sued for ‘“malicious intes
made by her husband, Alired Stie- . _Nmﬂw Farm __1seen nfﬂ-_ﬂd 5"9“:" not h“““"g clear | “One day,” Miss 0" recalied {move to New York, abandon her teach- {forence” with the business relation-
glitz, the idea of what an artist would be, i i;ﬁ u ; ay ‘.mgapddevoteherseluopalnmlg.se ps of Doris Bry. !
mwmo:dm&nmnm ‘I can’t live L _one-woman Shows olu:gru Miss Bry, theflmgume New York
encourag career.  say W it to." 1 thereafter representative of Miss O’Keeffe, had
a very stupid fool not to at| 1946, the year of his death. He and Miss |heen dismissed about the time Mr

ton had come on the scene, and
Bry tried to fight that dismissal

g
i
H
i
g
g

Fhfd de, B O’Keeffe er ; with a Federal Court suit for §13.25 mil-
q‘!:;._m garde, inner circl | New York City and Lake George, N.Y. ljjon against Mr. Hamilton charging

After 1929, she also spent a great deal fyna¢ he induced Miss O'Keeffe to oust

| whom she married in 1924. Stieglitz
: too.khmmthlnﬁmphmngmph ot 'Mﬂmeigﬂrguenm' .Shemadcflgr:he,_
“He photographed me until I was : dence at Abiquiu after | X ¢ g e
crazy.” Miss O’Keeffe said in later “m?,wm,mnd_ j ldoon_g( mwga?&s sgggnmx;nﬁe.
Stieglitz’s vigilant and canny man-lieamed of jt. “‘I don't know of anything

gu!s. Others have called the pictures
tieglitz took of her the greatest love
poem in the history of photography. |
Her beauty aged well to another kind
-~ weather-beaten, leathery skin wrin-*'
kled over high cheekbones and around
a firm mouth that spoke fearlessly and
tolerated no bores. And long after
Stieglitz had died, in 1946, after Miss
O'Keeffe forsook New York for the
mountains and deserts of New Mexico,
she was discovered all over again and
proclaimed a pioneering artist of great
individuality, power and historic sig-
nificance.

agement was a major factor in her rise " e
=il of it Columbia. B o # snd fortine . Mi O’Kedte‘%hﬁ,*{“ﬁfdﬂf,’tm“" as later

*ALlast, 3 Waman s papaﬂﬂ_‘:'eieg- continued to wear the clothes she | ghe traveled to New York to visit
litz exclaimed when he saw m pleased and to paint as she pleased. ltionds and see art exhibitions until re-
tures. He hung them in his gallery, and | Spare and dark-skinned, she hadlent years, when poor eyesight and
. s ailing health kept her at home.

Miss O'Keeffe won numerous
awards, including the Medal of Free-
dom, the nation’s highest civilian
award, in 1977; an award from Rad-
cliffe College for lifetime achieve-
ments by women, in 1983, and the Na-
tional Medal of Arts in 1985.

She is survived by a sister, Catherine
Klenert.

‘verse, 50 ly her own and so unre-
lated to or schools that they had| |
mot attracted much close attention
from New York critics. j
m,mlm,whm;heﬁmsag;eam
; e bition of her
wﬂmmatthewmmeme
of American Art. The New York critics
and collectors and a new generation of

| Abstract landscapes, bleached
animal skulls and stylized _
cityscapes were among the g

jeet,snﬂ_nuo_:_xndte’sbes't- 7
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Abstract landscapes, bleached

animal skulls and stylized

el were among the

subjects of Miss 0’Keeffe’s best-

known paintings. Three examples:
tor Building S

4

New York,” also known as 5.4
“American Building,”
.m m 3 P e g "
i:gt right, “ﬁ#sm The Phillips Collection, Washington
White and Blue,” 1831, M i e . | A 1925 O’Keeffe oil painting,
e, BT 5 B Metropolitan Museum of Art, the Alfred Stieglitz Collection “Dar_k Red Leaves on White.”

7 SR o gk v, el 'S ;) 5

R nspired by New Mexico'’s Landscape
R e B A TEN :
g | world of our century seemed to stretch | known and most influential for the re-| fresh and vital as when she first per-!

gas to . with one small and | workings of natural form that lent |fected it.

& : 3 ore! A thex:uselves—-m&ch agtixtmwil;, Her work was dominated in later

C s without the presen df{ helped. (It | 0 manner psychological years by the landscape and the archi-
RanExu | i : m e g band, ﬁ;g:!ag symbolic interpretations. If what tecture of New Mexico, where she lived

t WSaBNRNE ; i i . itz made one of | seemed to her a perfectly straightfor-'| for so long and with such an evident de-
T ; P o it . ps. 1t was to his ward exploration of botanical form got | light. That there should be light of such

: i | the great partnershi

FRENEL ¥R J tth AT - _ nce that § her interpreters tied in knots, she ig-l| clarity, architectural forms of such

B i memorable experience ﬁ tist nored the contortions of debate and'| simple nobility and such a largess of
Y ; | shake with went on exactly the same as before. | lion-colored space was a continual as-

i i : n she| . As the American publi B e tonishment to her, and one that irradi-

|| ated painting after painting.
At this distance in time, however, it
B | i ic a does sometimes seem that the voluptu- Posters for Music Festival
e @ e 1 comment, ous presences that she could distill| It was characteristic of her feeling
J ting and ren cably ) . Ll y hvmqunem-dmaryﬂowersdidlndeed for New Mexico that when the Santa Fe
TR iRt i - But it was also a happy Sti : transcendental quality. it-| Music Festival was founded she de-
i e for A s O'Keeffe rele: a ! signed a poster for it, year by year.
I _tenderness in | Much as she treasured New Mexico
over a period of more than 50 years,
| New Yorkers are entitled to remember,
that there was also a time, in the early,
heyday of the high-rise building, when
she excelled as an interpreter of Man-
of Max|hattan. But, in the end, she is likely to
warrant, or | be remembered above all for the quite. .
small but immensely potent evocations
of landscape and natural form *yat still
have some of their secrets iniact.
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Continued from l'nle 1
into a painter who defied definition
or categorization. The quests for
cosmic meaning she sought
through her palette had taken her
to the stark isolation of her beloved
Néw Mexico with its bleached
animal skulls and exotic flowers
that grew in the desert that was
her front yard. And at her death
she had become, if not a national
treasure, one of America’s most

mredm\weumpxecea
“In essence, there were two Geor-
gia O'Keeffes, the one the sensu-
, ous, nude lover that Stieglitz ro-
ticized in a series of more than
photographs of every inch of
her body. That sexual being,
deemed scandalous in the early
years of this century in all but
avant garde circles, has since been
. viewed in -most of the world's
better modern museums. The
second Georgia e was the
private if not reclusive widow who
prowled the desert, capturing
‘ death on canvas via the pelvic
: of | : : H‘g:lly

J Bathﬁ:enemplerbeinga
 as one in Sun Prairie, Wis,, on Nov.
15, 1887, where Georgia O'Keeffe

was born the second of seven
_children in a mﬁortabhe if not
affluent farming family. She at-
,tendﬂﬂ the rural school near her
and, reflecting the gentility
'oﬂmﬁmﬂy with two sisters went
into town one day a week for
pd;t‘l‘x;s ve pmﬂle publ!ahed
in 1974 %Y@rker, she
recalled telling a girlhood friend
when she was only 10 that she was
.gomgmbeanarust.lnyetamther
“interview she said she had made
that. choice because “that was the
only 1 could do that was
nobody else’s business. . . .1could
doaalchosebecausenobody wauld
Her father’s health began to fail
and the family moved o Virginia
when she was 14 to_escape the
Wisconsin winters, In Virginia the
teen-age farm girl aitended a
school and then enrolled

in the Art Institute of C(liﬁcagt;: But
she contracted typhoid and was
forced to withdraw from school for
an entire year. She resumed her art

teacher and moved to Amarillo,

Tex., where she taught art. She also

umght at Columbia College in
South Carolina and in. 1915 re-
turned to New York to study under
Arthur Dow and Alon Bement.

Those two men, pamcularly‘

Dow, revived her dormant interest

in painting.

“It was Arthur Dow who .
'helped me to find something of my
own,” she said. “He taught me the
importance of design, of filling
space in a beautiful way.”

“She returned to Texas, to teach
and also to sketch. A few of those

._early charcoal drawings soon

changed her entire life.

Miss O'Keeife had sent them,.

wrapped in brown paper, toa friend
in New York—just to keep the
former college roommate aware of
what she was doing. The friend,
Anita Pollitzer, was an admirer and
casual aequaintance of Stieglitz,
then at the height of his reputation
as not just a photographer but the
keeper of a gallery where Matisses
and Picassos and the other curious
modernists of the day could be
purchased.

The year was 1916 and the
charcoal drawings of a 29-year-old
Texas teacher impressed the 53-
year-old aesthetic entrepreneur.
“Finally, a woman on paper,” he
said in what has become a famous,
if apocryphal, remark.

Felt Betrayed

But Miss O'Keeffe felt betrayed
by her friend, complaining that the
drawings were too facile for public
examination. On her next visit to
New York she insisted that Stieg-
litz remove them from his gallery.

She argued but her future hus-‘

i Geﬁr‘é':ia O;Kééff_a al,rid one of the aﬁul_ls prominent in her work.

_+ could ha

efforts was “The Shelton With Sun
Spots,” a 1926 examination of the

New York skyline. She and Stieg-
taken

litz had married in 1924 and
apartment high atop the Sheiton

They went on vacation to Lake
Genrge and she returned with
“Lake George Window.” Now she
was beginning to reinvent nature,
painting giant flowers from minia-
ture blossoms. Two of her early
efforts, “Tulip” and “Poppies,” re-
main among her best-remembered
paintings.

Her travels expanded and some-
time in the late 1920s she discov-

ered New Mexico (although she
had passed through on a train years
earlier). “Gate of Adobe Chureh”
{1929) is a permanent recollection
of one of those first visits in which
she discovered that life’s meanings
could be expressed by using the
skulls of horses and cows or via a
full moon that shone unimpeded
through a pristine desert night.
Little by little she was exchanging
the creations of man for the works
of nature.

From then on, Stieglitz contin-
ued to vacation at Lake George.
But alone. His wife was spending
every free moment discovering
that an artificial flower stuck into
the eye of a horse’s skull can depict
both life and its' alternative
(“Horse’s Skull With Pink Rose”
1931).

“Lake George is not really paint-
ing country,” she said. ** . . Half
your work is already done for you."

She settled first in Taos in a
house that D.H. and Frieda Law-
renice had occupied briefly. Later,
after Stieglitz’s death when the
move West was made permanent,

. -phetm,
of his work in near.{y 50 years. She

EFFE: Creator of Desert Still-Lifes Dies

she found a rambling, devastated’

adobe in Abiquiu that she restored
and that gave her a direct view of

the mountains. The only .

between the artist and her subject

were the flowers and vegetables

she had planted.

The hair, once dark, was now
graying, but it was always worn
drawn back severely from her face.
Nothing interrupted her view,

Her paintings, which sold for a

now were bringing considerably
more and her expenses were mini-
mal. She maintained a couple of
servanm.gavegenemwytpueedy
Mexican- Americans and In¢
who composed the nnypowlaeeo! ;
her adopted village and even
helped modernize the Ablqutu wa-
ter system.

lull!'.townomndm

She built 2 town gymnasium s0
the children that she never had

someplace - Jﬂa{w

~

‘Hamilton,
friend nearly w “years her junior
and a potter whoge designs strong-
Iy reflect the desert they shared.
She employed him originally as a
handyman, but for the last few
years he had been in charge of |
arranging her new shows.

In 1983 she made a rare public
appearance {wearing the white and
black dresses that had become her
trademarl:) mdtraveled!aWaah- !

for an
Wuva

left town as quietly as she had
arrived.

Although she was a uymhol of
liberation to women of the latter
20th Century, she steadfastly re-
fused to serve their causes. “They
never helped me,"” she 8aid of them.
“The men helped me.”

In 1974 she had told the New
Yorker interviewer she considered
herae “very lucky.”

. Somehow what 1 painted
happened to fit into the emotional
life of my time. . Often I've had
the feeling that l could have been a
much better painter and had far
less recognition. It's just that what I
do seems to move people today in a
way that 1 don't understand at
all.

"Ncw and then when I get an
idea for a picture, I think, how |
ordinary. Why paint that old rock?
Why not go for a walk instead?

“But then I realize that to some-
one else it may not seem ordmary

{

\
|
P
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She called him “impossible””; he cast her as Eve,

Georgia O’Keeffe and Alfred Stieglitz were

evenly matched-both driven, consumed by

their work, and gifted at self~promotion—and

their tabloid marriage made them the most

intriguing couple in

American art. The truth is

they were both impossible—devoted to creating a

myth that almost obscured their genius. Here, a

sneak preview of Benita Eisler’'s An American

Romance: Georgia O’Keeffe and Alfred Stieglitz

which Doubleday will be publishing next year.

New Year's Day, 1916, Alfred Sticelicz, the great photographer, pub

lisher, and impresario of modern ant, had spent the cold, rain

alone in fus gallery, “291," samed for its address on lower Fifih Ave-

awe.. The gallery was u legend: here, w two small rooms on the tog
of a brownstone, Stivelitz had given Picasso and Doudanier Roussec
their first one-man shows, and Americans their firs look ar works by
Cezanne, Matisse, Rodin, and Toulouse-Lautrec

At twilight, a young ar student come to the gallery carrying a roll of
drawings by a friend named Georgia O'Keeffe. For a long while, Sticg-
litz looked at the abstract workes in charcoal

“Finally," he said, *'a woman on paper.”

A lfred Stieglitz's words on sceing the drawings of a twen-
ty-nime-year-old art teacher from the provinces have
passed into that nebulous realm between gospel and apocrypha.
At fifty-two his wait had come to an end. He recognized in
Georgia O'Keeffe's art his Eve

Not a woman. but the woman,

Skeprical scrutiny has all but erased Stieghtz's words: no man
could have uttered an exclamation so freighted with foreshadow-

1

ng; a prophecy of expectation fulfilled, with a woman he had yet
to mect. Bur, in fact, Alfred Stieglitz wrote these exact words
ibout O'Keeffe’s drawings and there is every reason to believe he
was quotng himself—his favorite source. In 4 letter to the pho-
tographer Annic Brigman, an old friend and companion-at-
irms, Stieglitz described the last days of 291, which had closed in
the spring of 1917. One event had. miraculously, redeemed his
teelings of bitterness and loss:

“The little room was never more glorious than during its

last exhibition—the work of Miss O'Keeffe—a Woman on

Paper. Fearless. Pure self<expression.”

Together, the man waiting in the room on a bleak New Year's
Day and the woman he was expecting became a couple encrusted
i myth. But the raw material of myth was there from the begin-
ning, in the reality of two larger-than-lite people.

Georgia O’Keeffe and Alfred Stiegltz became the most dy-
namic, productive, and celebrated couple in American art. They
were evenly marched in force of character, devotion to work.
and .:mhm(m——mcludmg a shared gemus tor selt-promotion. In-
deed, their collaborative role in generating and perpetuanng >

SUMMER LOVE: GEORGIA AND ALFRED AT LAKE GEORGE
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O’Keeffe was independent py nature, feminist by conviction.
But she was siill her lover's creation and knew it. . .

provi
enorme
/ uracterstic honesty
he o
ed her to: Alfre
There wer
1924, they

legalize th

and O'K
That same summer

fred’s daughter, Kitty, ¢

ay of this traged
s 1o his contession. The prospect ot
d and his own r
nd gult
Arrested in role of adore

cent, Sueghez endlessly reenacted the q
his sisters and. by his own admussion, f
manhood. The niseries of his first marr.ag
with his refusal to assume the r 1bilitic
and provider. His wite, a brewery heiress, Supf
his family had done and would contnue to do, Wher
died and his first marriage was dissolved. younger brother
Leopold took over the paternal role, housing Alired
tor four years, (In 1925 O'Keeffe managed to move S g
over his moans of poverty, into two small rooms in the Shelton
Hotel— hostelry originally built as a men's residence. where

STIEGLITZ —EVER THE EUROPEAN ROMANT|C —
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O’KEEFFE
guests soll dined i a caterena
Remamng a child i hus private ht
his public persona. He plaved Big Daddy to the arnsts and writ-
ers in his circle. all of whom. including O'Keeffe, had been aban-
doned, actually or svmbolically, by their own fathers. Besides
exhibiting his artists” work. he advanced them money and ar-
ranged salés and auctions: he helped writers get published—espe-
gially if they could be persuaded 1o wrte abour O'Keeffe or
Sneghez. Most cruaal of all. he lavished support. encourage-
* along with hber-

Stieglitz l’(lmpcn\km'd m

ment. and even love on his adopted “children
al helpings of advice. chasusement. and attempts to control their
lives.

In contrast, O'Keette distanced herselt e trom her troubled

familv; her relations with her three sisters were friendly—as long

1s they “knew their

place™. 'helping her care
for an ailling Alfred; work-
mg in her Abiquiu. New
Mexico garden; or mn the
case of Anmta O'Keetfe
Young, wife of a railroad
magnate, buving Geor-
gia’s pamtmgs. She threat-
ened termble vengeance
upon Ida and Cathenne
who tentanvely tried to
claim carcers as painters
She severed relations en-

urely with one brother,

explaining that when she

|y was timished with
J

someone she “just trned

A second brother disappeared on his own > did not

the page.”
return o Virginia at the time of either parent’s death
Hardy and ever more adventurous, O'Keetle first explored

Nova Scona, Maine, and the Southwest in a peniod when that
stll meant roughing it. Meanwhile, Steglirz's world continued
to shrink. His summer tnips abroad ended in 1911: thereatter, he

left New York City only for the annual hegira to Lake George

Here. m carly summer.

the entire Sticglitz tribe—children. ser-
vants, pets, and mountains of possessions— would settle unul
October; and this routme conanued after his marrnage to
Georgua.

O'Keefte grew to hate summers ac the Lake: the endless and

bland communal meals; the lack of privacy or solitude for work:
the presence of numerous children, reminders of batdes lost. The

landscapes

nd still-lives she pamted there reflect her feelings: a

narrow, stormy lake ringed wath suffocating low hills; leaves of
sere tobacco-brown or vibrating poisonous green threaten to
choke a small vertical canvas. Eventually she made her own stu-
dio, “the Shanty." from an abandoned outbuilding. They im-
ported their own friends, staying later into the fall each year for
their most productve periods of work and happiest wecks of
pleasure.

The break between them began, ronically, with their mar-
rage, and continued to widen. To work—and to breathe—
Georgla needed to ger away, In the summer of 1929, Georga,
accompanied by Rebecca Strand. wife of the photographer, set
out for Taos, New Mexico, In the four months she spent at Ma-
bel Dodge Luhan's ranch. Las Palomas, ¢ seorgia became part of
the vartex of spinwal. creative, and sexual experiment that

HOT SHOT: YOUNG ALFRED WiTH

HIS FATHER. BELOW LEFT anp, BELow
_—

RIGHT, WITH HIS CAmegy

swirled around Mabel. At the same nme Georgia found the napy.
ral world she had always wanted to paint. along with the archi.
recture and arafacts of colonal Chrsnanity tused with Indigy
ntual which would fascinate her until the end of her [ife. e
spent longer months every summer thereatter in New Mexico,
first in rented houses, then inher own. Her hife apart from Stieg-
litz had begun. =

In the winters they were reunited i New York City. But
there were new areas of strain between them. A precursor of
today’s young artists, Georgia eagerly embraced commercialism,
She gloried in both the money and the publicity of commissions
trom Elizabeth Arden, Dole Pineapple. and especlly the Radio
City Music Hall n 1932. When the mural she executed for the

powder room” of that great theater fell off the walls because of
w unstable preparation. Georgia succumbed to the breakdown
that had been building for some tme.

With the years, the disparity in their ages became more obvi-
ous as different sexual needs emerged. From accounts of those
who knew her in her twenties, as well as compamons of her later
vears, O'Keefle seems always to have been bisexual. A tracing of
her attachments conforms to Margaret Mead's theory of the nar-
ural evcle of female sexuality: lesbian or bisexual in the younger

vears, heterosexual in the childbeanng perniod, retuming to ho-

nosexuality in late middle age. Complex in every aspect of her

emg, the term “bisexual™ seems reducuve when applied to
O'Keeffe. Gender was ummportant in her powerful and urgent
sexuality. At forty-six she had a passionate relanonship with the
black novelist Jean Toomer, seven vears her junior; she was at-
tracted to older gay men, young Hispanic studs (especially those
vith a record of violence), and submissive young women of any
cthme ongmn: these she referred to as her “slaves.”

During the famous Taos summer of 1929, evidence strongly
suggests that Georgla was sexually involved with Rebecca
Strand, Mabel Dodge Luhan and her husband Tony Luhan, a
tull-blooded Navajo

Whether Stieglitz was aware of O'Keette's polymorphous sex-

tabty 1s a quesdon that, for the present, must remain unan-
swered. In his very first photographs ot her. Georgia's masculine
qualities emerge strongly.
Stieglitz needed and found ever-younger
d seduce. and they in tum, worshipped
him. Three years after his marriage, Dorothy Norman, dark,
rhappily married to the heir of a retailing fortune,
became the acolyte Georgia never was. With her husband’s mon-
ey and her gifts as hostess, ediror, and publicist, Dorothy Nor-
man subsidized the suceessors to 291, founding a journal devoted
to praise of the Master.

Mrs. Norman was the least troubled chapter in Stieglitz's sex-
ual history.

In his relations with his daughter, Kitty, Alfred exploited
ncest scenario all the more destructive as it hovered berwe
fantasy and actuality. Following her carly breakdown and per-
manent commitment, Sticglirz’s pedophilia became an open se-
olesters, s

As he grew olde

women to Instruct

adorning, and

cret. Like most child
“romances” with pubescent girls
seemed to have remained in the family:
at Lake George, the more suspicious oF
sophisticated of his female relanons
worred about the safety of young
daughters left alone with Uncle Al
Stieglitz's grandniece and biographer
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STIEGLITZ'S PEDOPHILIA CAME TO LIGHT AFTER HIS
DAUGHTER, KITTY—WITH HER FATHER. RIGHT, IN A
STEICHEN PHOTO—WAS INSTITUTIONALIZED.

makes an anxious case that his fondling and sexual mterrogation
of adolescent relatives proved a harmless prelude to adult sexual-
ity. Given what we know about the sexual exploitation of chil-
dren by male relatives and the wavs in which families collude 1o
protect the offender. this defense leaves many questions
unanswered.

As a human being, Sticghtz was “impossible.” O'Keeffe
would later say in her charactenistically blunt style. It was his
devotion to work—not only to art. but to the sanctity of every
menial task—that she found inspiring: “There 1s nothing more
beautiful than the eye on the object look.™ wrote W.H. Auden
No accident that the most beauntul photographs of Stieglitz
show him working—""on deck”™ as he would have said

“A real worker” was the way Steghtz proudly descnbed
O'Keefte

Long after the end of sexual passion. of the possibility of a life
together, they were still there tor cach other. Bound by ties of

affection, loyalty, and respect., by the presence of each in the oth-

er's art, thew devonon survived the crosion of time; the eclipse of
the mentor by the disciple; Alfred's efforts to control and even
thwart Georgia's career (becoming more autocratic as his power
waned); her humiliation at the public role of Mrs. Norman in his

life. Their faith m one another withstood her defection to ““com-

merce.” to the museums he despised and the Southwest which he
refused ever to vasit, outlasting his final decline into old age and
illness which turned lovers and friends into nurses and carctakers

Too casily forgotten in our fascination with their lives, with
their glamour and synergy as a couple, 15 the more compelling
reason why they continue to intrigue us: the immense impor-
tance of both Stieglitz and O'Keefte as arusts

“I'was born in Hoboken. [ am an American, Photography is
my passion. The search for Truth my obsession.”

Alfred Sticglitz was an American only by virtue of his birth
certificate. By all other measures—his education, his art, and his
world view—he was a nincteenth-century European romantic

The oldest son of a German Jewish immigrant who made a
fortune in the woolen busmess. Alfred grew up surrounded by
emigrés like his own parents: cultivated wealthy bourgcois of
artistic leanings, or visitng German painters patronized by the
clder Sueglitz. In the grand

amily house. just off Fifth Avenue,
1ce water PU!“pL‘d mnto every room was the il”i\ concession to
American culture

Taken abroad at an early age. the Sticghtz children were first
taught by tutors and governesses: later. fimishing schools and

gymnasia made sure the five youngsters received a thoroughly

European education. After a vear of engineering studies at City
College in New York, Alfred returned to Germany where, fol-
lowing his discovery that photography was, indeed. his passion
he would remain for nine years.

Stieglitz’s attraction to Georgia O'Keette, born on a farm in
Sun Prairie, Wisconsin; his ardent championship of an Amenican
Modernism; his notions of an America “out there” (which he
never saw) owe everything to the romanuc’s idealization of a

torcign country and the first g t A mer
chase on his culture

In life, his relatonship to the Truth rende
the greatest of his photographs
mngly rewards us

Reviewing an exhibinon of Sucg

not a critic promiscuous witk

rentus for makis 1 1

“Steghtz [an] amazng

ment of the artist’s sensibality e
between the productions of Stieghtz and t

ablest of his rivals there seems to I ferer ! t

degree but almost of kind

m that photographic pa
chen, Sucghtz. Sheerler, and Strand
graphs attain an order of the absolute that clud |

Alone among twenticth-century portrais. Stewl

graphs of his fnends. lovers, ar

rarely used the backhighun

make period pieces of even the best

His images of Dove and Mann, Paul Strand, Sherwood Ander
son, and O'Keeffe herselt have the umelessness and im hacy
of Eakins's great portraits. We contro rown n

starc of Charles Demuth, the arust as dandy, ravaged by th
betes that would kill him. Whares iis subje

: himself. There 5 an

served, Stieghtz was always photographu

intimacy and inwardness to the gaze ot these men 3

that becomes a collective and collaborative poOrtra

can artist and mtellectual: melancholy, alone, and |

umage of himselt, stowcally “struggling

Most

a series of meditations on nature begun in 1923, was literally a

vealing of his romannc esthene, Stieghitz’s Eguivalonts

The break between them began,
ironically, with their marriage.
To work, Georgia had to get away
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smic undertaking. Spanning 1

sands of image
)‘”‘ rs most av

the name he gas
to the corresps

ilwavs favore

from sexual pa

vhen Georgla

rtic anc

the sublime c

Sueghtz that uld be photographs taken by (

In these often troubling images,
nothing stands between the photo-
grapher and his subject. More than a
collaboration, Stieglitz’s portrait

of O’Keeffe is a double portrait
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Few ever claimed to know her wel
his photographic vision of her’ that O'Keeffe discovered her miany selves

More than a collaboration, Stieghtz's portrait of O'Keette 1s 4
double portrait

Whether because of their God-like anonymity 1n an age that
t prints. from the

exalts the “signature”™ (only a fraction «
('Keeffe portraic have ever been exhibired) or because the vogu
tor photography. relatively recent, has tended to tocus on the old
ok (Mappleth-

ndy and s

and quamt (Atget’s Pans) or the t

se color 15

nrpc'\ male torsos with penis nngs), or simply U
more exatng and memorable than black and white, Altred
Stieghtz remains an obscure name to many who know Georgia
O'Keeffe as a Great Amernican Artist

O'Keette's fame. the myths that contmue o swirl around the

figure of the late artist—the beautiful wrinkled tace as celebr
as the most reproduced poster— make it difficule to see her art

From the first, the pamter's relation to these myths has t

problemanc. Starting from the role Sneghtz mvenred for her—
the “Gireac Pnnnve Woman Child.” whose mnocence ot both
1 with “Pur

arnstie trainme and European influences, combine

Intuition. o
O'Kee

rons ot

tc be

n by accepting. then denving, sexual

work, A

wests that the demals occurr after the benetits (reviews and

publicity spiced with Freudian catchphrasesi had been exhausted

eefte’s role in another Stuegliz producton myth of

the arust as Venus. 1s sull more equivocal. In 1921 Altred exhibit-

ed forty-tive prnts trom his portrait of Georgi
them. The sneis de sa

mong

ale was immediate and pre
magnet that drew hundreds of thousands to the art of Georgia
()'Keetle was the sensational publicity gencrated by unages of
the naked arnst

Fallowing her move to the Southwest, Georgia herselt perpet

uared the most tenacious myth of her long hte: the anchorit

the deserr, hvine and working m chos

using the matenals at hand m her art

In fact, well before her death in 1986, O'Keette was one of the
richest selt-made women in America, whose wav ot lite retiecred
her wealth: houses, travel, servants, fancy cars. Indeed, most ot
her friends were nch. She visited them i Bermuda, Palm Beach

Lytord Cay. and the horsier preancts of New Jersey. There 1s

fiothing shametul about an arust enjoying well-deserved success

We know now. however, that the austere O'Kectte imag

much a work of art as her transtormation of tound objects: 1
cow skulls—bleached on her pano o muke them whie—and

the black-robed figure of the artist have tused i the popular

iagmaton to become part of Santa Fe Chic

Empty of human elements or historic event, O'Keetfe land-
scapes have been clumed as an outgrowth of the carlier, tradi-
uonally defined Preasionism: the paintings of sleck skyscrapers
and vertcal urban vistas. With time, her wrinkled gray moun-
tains and vivid chifs have acquired a new significance, an accom-
panying “rext” mseparable from their meaning as art. Beginning
with the 1950s—the nme O'Keeffe moved to the Southwest—
these pristine, unpopulated, underdeveloped sites acquired the
glamour of scarcity, becoming views that only the rich could
afford—whether i nature or as owners of O'Keefte's art

Nostalgia thus has come to play a crucial role in the O'Keeffe
myth: she has become pare of the Old West made newly available
through the markeung genus of Ralph Lauren and Calvin Klem,
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whose taste we can savor n blue corn chip

In 1970 the Feminist movement rediscovered Georgia
OFKeeffe. An early femmnist herself, member of the N-‘Ul!.n.ll
Woman's party throughout its existence. she saw the only bartle

wion. Accepted, finally, by the men around

15 one of
Sneglitz, she had early come to resent the label of “Great Woman
Arnst,” She behaved no more graciously to the voung women
“Mother of Us All™ than she

orcust” counterparts who, looking at her flower

pamnters who sought her out as the

did to their 't

gan-colored abstractions, trotted out the

pantngs, or lush, o
same old Freudian readings, with new words like “gynocentric
Critical debate continues on the value of O'Keetfe's contribu-
non to Amencan art. The power. ongmahity, and beauty of
many pictures 15 mdisputable. But her long life as an artist, in-
piring 1 human terms, did little service to her art, seen as a
whole. The Sueg
vith which “Miss O'K

md complete an immaculate clean-up—all in less than a day's

cook at Lake George marveled at the speed

fe” could produce a fimshed picture

ork! Significa e was one of the rare arusts who rejected

e raisomé ot her pantings and drawings
s of O'Keeff

i to recent judgments of the painter as a “modest master™ and,

proposals for a

r of O'Keette kno have contnbut-

rare arust

more harshly, a4 seconc
More mnteresting than the verdict on O'Keefte's rank 1s the

shenomenon of her popularity. With the exception ot Andrew

other arnist reaches so deeply nto the feelings of a

yeth, n

blic who doees not typically frequent museums or buy repro-

luenons. The same nosta

1 has played a part in the adoption of

both artists by nullions of fans. The closest to **painters laureare™

of any higures visual arts, they both tap into a yearm

idennfy with an idealized collective past: of unspoiled scenery

i
ind smogless blue skies; of bones of dead animals from which the

process of death and decay has been punfied; of roadside crosses

that do not remind us of Christ in Agony; of farms that are not
irnbusinesses” dotred with barns of aged wood
o see the pleasurable annapaton on the taces ot people pa-
aently waiting in hine to see an exhibition of O'Keetle's Amenca
15 to realize that the elements of Modernism that she made so
completely her own are more than aceessible: they have become
national symbols—as recognizable as the red, white, and blue
iwckground she ¢ to her famous “joke™ paintng (made h\—
wise she got so tred, she said, of hearmg water frends
ibout the Great American Novel). With our recent elevanon ot
the regional, O'Keette's bones have become as much an emblem
of Amenica as the Bald Eagle or Old Glory itself. The artist who

created uniquely seductive icons of our collective identity also

possessed a quintessentially American form of genius: scl
creation

Few ever claimed to know her well. To each of her friends, she
presented anEitirely different séif. Steglitz claimed that it was in
his photographic portrait that O'Keeffe discovered her “many
selves.” Along with her grea talent and varied accomplish-

ments—cooking, gardening, even sewing—she was skillful at
cove

g her tracks. Retracing the steps of her gracetul move-
ments, we return to the reality of her beginnings. As she allowed
herself to be imagined by Alfred Sticglitz, the European-educat-
ed German Jew who never ventured west of the Hudson, Geor-
gla O'Keette was a “real American wrl.” HWl

LEGENDS: O'KEEFFE AND STIEGLITZ BY CECIL BEATON




10is eighty-six,
nds almost no time

thlngs wo lcf
out of sight”

“When she painted
desert flowers with:
skull (‘Summer D:
1936),she says, ther
was no symboli

. ‘ : tended. Nor
Soreswan in ‘Horse’s Skul
rnntxlg last fall, Pink Rose’ (1931
in the open N O’Keeffe explained:
tio of Georgia O'Keeffe me thatshe hada
theGhostRanch : collection of artificial|
mthe New Mexican high “Although much of the new flowers,which the Spanish |

desert, seventy miles northwest
of Santa Fe. What interested
herat the moment were the
wild purple asters that grow so
abundantly at this time of the
year,when there has been
enough rain.”’

L 1*A slight,immaculate woman

o lwith white hair tied backina

ooth knot, she is as hand-
e today as she was at
-nine,when Alfred
began his famous
rtrait of her, now

work looked wholly abstract, it
was always based on something
she had seen in the landscape.
The ‘Light Coming on the
Plains’ series had its origin in
what she often saw in the very
early morning, before the sun
rose.“The lightwould begin
to appear, and then it would
disappear and there would

be a kind of halo effect,and
then it would appear again.
The light would come and go
for quite a while before it
finally came. It was the same
with the trains. You could

see the morning train coming
a long way off,and then it
would disappeal‘s and then
you'd see it agam, closer.

peoplein herpartofthe, ¥
country used for funeral dece-
rations. ‘I was looking througl'r :
them one day when someone *
came to the kitchen door; she
said.‘As I went to answer the fj:f
door, I stuck a pink rose in the
eye socket of a horse’s skull. =
Andwhen I came back the rose.
in the eye looked pretty fine,

so I thought Iwould just go on

with that!”

From a Profile

of Georgia O'Keeffe:
by Calvin'Ti omkins
appearing in this week’s 1s
(March 4)
of The Ne
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